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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BREREE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-N\F —E-NEF —E-TF —E—F —EZCF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT BTt BT
Results E¥
Revenue Wz 252,363,498 233,566,651 186,363,525 161,124,366 133,101,149
Loss for the year ZN/NGIEZ SN
attributable to owners of B ERNEIE
the Company (34,901,161)  (77,936,393)  (80,214,996)  (99,031,460) | (180,883,917)
Assets and Liabilities ¥YER&A®E
Total assets BEE 246,504,667 225,659,982 223,770,007 288,493,608 246,421,876
Total liabilities mEE 154,188,456 209,307,135 268,959,397 300,934,586 | 374,733,994
Equity attributable ZN/NGIEZ SN
to owners of JRE {i % 2=
the Company 91,054,088 18,590,811  (48,746,456)  (14,646,808)| (124,013,879)
Loss per share BRER
Basic A 0.12) (0.27) (0.28) 0.33) (0.58)
Diluted g 0.12) 0.27) (0.28) 0.33) (0.58)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
RAEHR

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands
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BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 02, 26/F., One Harbour Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road,

Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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In Hong Kong:
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

In the PRC:

Bank of China
Bank of Hangzhou Co., Limited

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall, Cricket Square
Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
0776

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For other information relating to the Company,

please contact Corporate Communications Department
website: www.776.hk

e-mail: ir@776.hk
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the Board (“Board) of Director (“Directors”) of Imperium
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) and its audited financial results for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022.

In 2022, the economy of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
continued to recover steadily, and its economic development
and pandemic prevention and control have maintained a leading
position in the world. The GDP of the PRC grew at an annual rate
of 3.9%, outperforming market expectations.

During the year, while the pandemic continues to pose challenges
to various industries, the technological industry develops well and
the Group will invest resources in technology-related businesses to
seize market opportunities. In view of the development of current
technological industrial trend, the Group has initiated the plan to tap
into the blockchain games and the metaverse, enabling the Group
to remain competitive in the technology influenced online game and
esports business segments, which in turn will broaden the Group’s
source of revenue and maximise the return of the shareholders
of the Company. The Group created a mega meta-universe game
world for global players, “Metasens”, and released NFT (Non-
Fungible Token) game in 2022, with a view to allowing players to
enjoy the fun of “earning while playing” through the combination of
games and NFT mechanisms, so as to seize the market opportunity
of “metaverse” and maximise the return of the shareholders of the
Company.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of board, | would like to express our sincere appreciation
to all our investors, customers, partners and shareholders for their
ongoing support, | would also like to thank my colleagues for their
invaluable contributions throughout the year.

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWMEDIT

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2022, quarantine measures and anti-epidemic restrictions have
been gradually relaxed around the world. However, geopolitics and
inflation have brought uncertainties to the recovery of the global
economy from the COVID-19 epidemic. In the World Economic
QOutlook Report published by the International Monetary Fund,
the global economic growth rate was lowered to 3.6% in 2022,
and the risks to the economic outlook is expected to increase
tremendously. The report stated that the world had yet to be fully
recovered from the COVID-19 epidemic, while the commencement
of the Russia-Ukraine war put pressures on the supply chain and
intensified inflation, resulting in a significant differentiation in the
recovery process of different economies.

However, the global epidemic has brought huge home economy
opportunities to the gaming industry. According to the marketing
report issued by NewZoo, the total revenue in the global game
market is expected to reach US$203.1 billion in 2022, representing
a year-on-year growth of 5.4%, and the number of global gamers is
expected to reach 3.09 billion. NewZoo anticipated that the game
market will continue to grow in the next few years, and is expected
to reach US$222.6 billion in 2024, with a CAGR of 5.6% from 2020
to 2024. According to the report, the future growth of the game
market will be led by mobile games and console games. While PC
games will maintain its growth, its growth rate will be lower than
those of console and mobile games.

The Group considers that the long-term development prospect of
the game market is positive, especially under the metaverse trend,
“GameFi” (Game Finance) emerges and spurs the particularly
strong development momentum of blockchain games. The Group
will continue to seize market opportunities and aggressively explore
the game publishing business, especially in the blockchain games
and metaverse sector. Also, it will continue to diversify its business
by further expanding the businesses of esports, thus maximizing
the returns for shareholders of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the Group’s total revenue decreased by approximately
17.4% to approximately HK$133,101,000 (2021: HK$161,124,000),
mainly due to decrease in sales from household segment and
cloud computing and data storage segment. Loss attributable
to shareholders of the Company for the year was approximately
HK$180,884,000 (2021: HK$99,031,000), mainly due to (i) revenue
in online game segment was much lower than expectation due
to delay in launching metaverse related games and platforms; (ii)
revenue in cloud computing segment was significantly lower than
expectation due to the drop of price of cryptocurrencies over 50%;
(iii) increase in operating expenses including share-based payment
in an amount equivalent to approximately HK$56.1 million and the
expenditure on development and promotion of metaverse-related
projects; and (iv) the impairment losses of approximately HK$27.0
million arising from mining machines of Filecoin and Chia coins
and cryptocurrency deposits and receivables and write down of
cryptocurrencies of approximately HK$17.0 million held by the
Group. The Group’s Metasens project has made good progress
during the year and will continue to deploy diversified businesses,
especially in the game publishing and esports sectors.

Online Game business

In view of the current development trend of the technology industry,
the Group has tapped into the blockchain games and metaverse
sector since 2022. Benefiting from the above factors, the revenue
from online game business of the Group increased by approximately
35.8% to HK$29,083,000 (2021: HK$21,420,000); the segment loss
was approximately HK$48,148,000 (2021: HK$49,001,000).

During the year, the Group actively expedited the development of
a super-huge metaverse game world for players around the globe.
The first blockchain game “METASNAKE” was officially launched
in the first quarter of 2022. Based on the classic game “Snake”, it
featured “Free to Play” and “Play to Earn”, where NFT (Non-Fungible
Token) elements were added to allow players to enhance in-game
characters through equipping NFT ancestral equipment, so as to
compete for ranking and earn Metasens’ governance token “MSU”
and sub-token “UCG”.

The game attracted a total of 30,000 players from more than 10
countries, including the United States, Germany, Thailand, Vietnam,
etc. During the year, the Group plans to launch an additional
2,000 NFT ancestral equipment in four phases, priced in Binance
Coin. All 500 NFT have been sold in the first phase, equivalent to
approximately HK$1,495,000.

The second game, “PetaRush” is undergoing a closed beta test
with files deleted afterward, and is expected to launch officially in
the second half of 2022. It is a thrilling racing game, which allows
multiple players to engage in PVP combat by activating skills using
cards. The game incorporate “collection”, “raising” and “breeding”
elements, and will join hands with PHANTACI, a brand established
by the Asian popstar and his team, to incorporate Phanta Bear into
“PetaRush”, jointly leading the trend and setting an example in the
metaverse era. The launch date of the game has been revised in
the second half of 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

The third game, a PC based metaverse game, is also undergoing
a closed delete file test. It is a sandbox game where players and
game developers could create an open world that can be edited
in 3D model. Participants will be able to build their own virtual
world in metaverse, by (i) creating unique game characters, in-
game items, digital collections, land and equipment; (ii) owning and
decorating their virtual spaces, such as building their virtual home;
(i) communicating with other players; (iv) experiencing the scenes
or games set up by other players; and (v) breaking through levels
and interacting with each other in-game. This will further enrich the
users’ experience and increase their degree of engagement in the
game.

Currently, the Group has professional teams in place in Hong
Kong, Taiwan and Southeast Asia respectively. Other than the
development and operation of NFT games, the Group also
operates 6 mobile and tabletop games, namely “Myth of Empires”,

»oo«

“Champion Horse Racing”, “Eternal”, “Iron Conflict”, “Metasnakes”
and “Jiuyin Zhenjing”. The total number of game players amounts
to 1,648,949, of whom 100,556 are monthly active players. In
particular, the “Myth of Empires” game, the international advance
edition of which was launched on 1 March 2022, is a massive
multiplayer online war sandbox game in the background of ancient
Eastern Continent. Not only can the players experience survival,
construction, management and creation in the war-torn world, they
can also exhibit their strategic leadership in the vast battlefield
and lead their tribes to attack and capture land, building their own

empire.

Esports business

The revenue from esports business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$57,017,000 (2021:
HK$33,736,000), representing an increase of approximately 69.0%,
mainly due to increase in prize from esport game; the segment
profit was approximately HK$1,604,000 (2021:
HK$13,474,000).

segment loss of

During the year, the esports team owned by Nova eSports
International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, continued to
achieve remarkable results.

In January 2022, NV Tencent Video team won the champion of the
PUBG Mobile Global Championship 2021 (20214 € PMGC & Bk 42
RE “PMGC 20217). PMGC 2021 is the official professional esports
contest organised by Tencent Games, PUBG Corporation and
VSPN, with the prize of USD1,500,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In March 2022, NV Tencent Video team won the champion of the
weekly final of the second week of PEL 2022 spring season, with
the prize of RMB1,000,000. PEL 2022 spring season is an official
professional esport contest organised by Tencent Games and
VSPN.

In April 2022, NV Tencent Video team won the champion of the
weekly final of the sixth week of PEL 2022 spring season, with
the prize of RMB1,000,000. PEL 2022 spring season is an official
professional esport contest organised by Tencent Games and
VSPN.

In July 2022, NV esports team won the champion of Icons
Global Championship of League of Legends, with the prize of
USD640,000. Icons Global Championship of League of Legends is
an official professional esport contest organised by Riot Games.

On 28 July 2022, the Group acquired the remaining 30% equity
interest in Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (the
“Target”) at a consideration of RMB6,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,308,000). Upon Completion, the Target
become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The
Board believes that the acquisition would facilitate more effective
implementation of the business strategies and business expansion
plans of the Company’s esports business.

In September 2022, NOVAZ 7 B B2 5 22 8{BX won the champion
of League of Legends IONIA CUP with the price of RMB400,000.
League of Legends IONIA CUP is organised by Tengjing Sports.
The points from the game will directly carry into the Global
Champion Cup.

In November 2022, NOVA T & & # 22 7 & X, an esports team
owned by Hainan Wanhui Network Technology Co., Ltd, a
subsidiary of the Company, won the champion of 2022 Honor of
Kings Woman Open Finals, with the prize of RMB400,000. 2022
Honor of Kings Woman Open Finals is an official professional
esport contest organised by Tencent and China Sports Venue
Association Adds Esports Department.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWMEDIT

Cloud computing and data storage business

The revenue from cloud computing and data storage business
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$12,447,000 (2021: HK$22,233,000), representing
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 44.0%. The segment loss
was approximately HK$51,626,000 (2021: HK$10,901,000), mainly
due to impairment loss recognised on mining machines of Filecoin
and Chia coins and decrease in market value of cryptocurrencies.

During the year, the Group has to make an impairment to the mining
machines of Filecoin and Chia owned and leased by the Group in
the aggregate amount of approximately HK$20,389,000 due to the
developments in the cryptocurrencies market in May 2022 and the
recent plunge of the market price of Filecoin and Chia. The Group
will continue to negotiate with existing and potential customers
of the Group to the change in the uses of the Filecoin and Chia
mining machines. Despite the aforesaid, the Board does not expect
that such impairment will affect the other business of the Group,
including its business in the metaverse sector.

Household products business

For the year ended 31 December 2022,
household products business of the Group was approximately
HK$32,424,000 (2021: HK$80,464,000), representing a decrease
of 59.7% as compared with the corresponding period last year,

the revenue from

mainly attributable to the decrease in market demand due to the
continuing tension between China and the U.S. and the outbreak of
COVID-19. The segment loss was approximately HK$309,000 (2021:
segment profit of HK$1,385,000). The Group will take initiatives to
increase revenue and reduce costs.

Property investment business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue from
property investment business was approximately HK$1,332,000
(2021:
rental income. The segment profit was approximately HK$798,000
(2021: HK$951,000).

approximately HK$1,401,000), mainly due to decrease in
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Money lending business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue from
money lending business was approximately HK$798,000 (2021:
HK$1,870,000), mainly due to the decrease in interest income from
customers. The segment loss was approximately HK$1,684,000
(2021: HK$877,000).

The Group’s money lending business was conducted through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Best Gold Corporation Limited, to
grant loans including secured and unsecured to individuals and
enterprises. It has no specific target customer group. The source of
customers mainly past customers or referrals by third parties. Loan
are mainly large amounts of loan which is over HKD1,000,000. The
source of funds for the money lending business is funded by the
internal resources of the Group. The Group strived to adhere to
a set of comprehensive policy and procedural manual in respect
of loan approval, loan renewal, loan recovery, loan compliance,
monitoring and anti-money laundering.

The Group manages credit risk through review and credit approval
and post-transaction monitoring processes which are performed
by management. Before the loans were granted, an independent
assessment has been performed. The independent assessment
included but was not limited to background checking, such as
the identity documents (identity card, address proof, business
registration certificate, latest annual return), income or asset proof
of the borrower and guarantor, such as share certificates, bank
statements and security statements, the evaluation of the value
of collateral and verification of the authenticity of the information
provided, to ensure the recovery ability of the loan. Furthermore,
the Group will perform public search towards the borrowers to
ensure compliance with anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing ordinance. After the loan is granted, the Group
will still conduct the checks on the repayment history and results
of public search towards the borrower periodically to assess the
recoverability of loan, compliance with anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorist financing ordinance and possibility of loan renewal.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had loans receivable, net of
approximately HK$3.4 million (2021: HK$6.4 million). The Group
recorded interest income from loans receivable of approximately
HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$1.9
million).
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12 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE D

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was one
unsecured loan to an individual who is currently an owner of
security company in Hong Kong. To the best of the knowledge,
information and belief, he is an independent third party. The loan
was granted on 18 January 2019 with gross principal amount of
HKD15,000,000. For credit assessment, the Group performed
background checking, reviewed audited financial statements,
conducted site visit and discussion with management on the
outlook of his company. The interest rate is 24% per annum and to
be repaid by 18 January 2023 and with no collaterals. The Group is
still negotiating with the borrower for settlement of the loan. Since
2020, the Group has not granted any new loan nor renew any loan
contract due to challenging and competitive environment. The
COVID-19 epidemic has further aggravated the operating situation.
As a result, there was only one customer as disclosed above in this
business segment for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the management had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the expected credit
losses of the Group’s loans receivable (the “loans receivable ECL”).
In assessing the loans receivable ECL of the Group, a credit rating
analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing the
historical accounting information to estimate the default risk. In
determining the default risk, factors including but not limited to,
the ageing analysis of the receivables, historical and forecast
occurrence of event of default, existence and valuation of the
collaterals, the relevant regulatory framework and government
policies in Hong Kong and global economic outlook in general
and the specific economic condition of Hong Kong would be
considered. The rate of loans receivable ECL is 40.6% depending
on the nature, probability of default and loss given default of
the loans receivable. According to the assessment, there is an
impairment loss of HK$2,467,000 incurred during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Future Prospects

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to invest resources to
further explore the blockchain game and metaverse market, and
gradually build a large-scale universe park with various theme
planets — Metasens. Each planet is built with its own unique
game facilities, including real-time strategy games, role-playing
games, simulation and sports games, shooting games, action and
adventure games, by using future Web 3.0 internet technology
incorporating blockchain technology, the Internet of Things, artificial
intelligence, and 3D images. The platform will also include the NFT
market place and blockchain wallet, allowing players to have fun in
“earning while playing” by trading NFT characters and items.

Meanwhile, the Group will actively seek collaboration of IP
(Intellectual Property) licensing in different games, including but not
limited to PHANTACI, a brand established by the Asian popstar and
his team. In terms of conventional games, the Group will continue
to identify innovative games and good partners in order to expand
its business into various markets and sectors, especially the
fastgrowing game market.

In addition, the Group will regularly evaluate the allocation of
resources among business segments to promote business
diversification and drive sustainable growth of the Group.
Looking ahead, the Group will enlarge its esports team in the
PRC. Furthermore, we will continue to adopt suitable cost saving
measures and evaluate the business operations to enhance the
financial position of the Group as well as maximize returns to our
shareholders.
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14 imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWMEDIT

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group reported a
revenue of approximately HK$133,101,000 (2021: approximately
HK$161,124,000), representing a decrease of 17.4% from that of the
year 2021. The decrease in revenue is mainly due to decrease of
revenue from household products business in the PRC and cloud
computing and data storage business.

Gross profit margin increased from 11.9% in 2021 to 15.3% in 2022
due to the increase of gross profit margin of esports business and
higher profit margin of cloud computing and data storage business
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Other income increased from approximately HK$692,000 in 2021
to approximately HK$5,769,000 in 2022, mainly due to the increase
in government grant and the increase in bank interest income
and gain on disposal of esports players during the year ended 31
December 2022.

Distribution costs decreased from approximately HK$17,894,000 in
2021 to approximately HK$13,872,000 in 2022 due to the decrease
in marketing expenses for online game business during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Administrative expenses increased from approximately
HK$67,174,000 in 2021 to approximately HK$128,667,000 in 2022,
mainly due to the increase in share-based payment, staff costs and
legal and professional fee incurred.

Other operating expenses increased from approximately
HK$4,634,000 in 2021 to approximately HK$7,551,000 in 2022,
mainly due to impairment losses on write off of intangible assets
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$10,627,000 in
2021 to approximately HK$12,203,000 in 2022, attributable to the
increase in loan from related parties during the year ended 31
December 2022.

Income tax expense decreased from approximately HK$200,000
in 2021 to income tax credit approximately HK$254,000 in 2022,
mainly arising from reversal of deferred tax during the year ended
31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$42,764,000 (2021: HK$43,026,000) and
net current liabilities of approximately HK$71,296,000 (2021:
HK$166,237,000), the decrease in net current liabilities is mainly due
to the reclassification of loan from related parties to non-current
position. Excluding current portion of the loan from related parties
of approximately HK$78,270,000 (2021: HK$194,527,000), there
was resulted in net current assets of approximately HK$6,975,000
(2021: HK$28,290,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had current liabilities
of approximately HK$180,394,000 (2021: approximately
HK$292,589,000). The decrease in current liabilities was mainly due
to the reclassification of loan from related parties to non-current
position. Excluding current portion of loan from related parties of
approximately HK$78,270,000 (2021: HK$194,527,000), current
liabilities decreased to approximately HK$102,079,000 (2021:
approximately HK$98,062,000).

The Group had no bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021. The Group had loan from related parties of
approximately HK$266,624,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$194,527,000). The loan from related parties carried interest at
fixed rate and repayable within three years.

As at 31 December 2022, three of the Group’s related companies
owned by the ultimate controlling party of the Company and a
director of the Company agreed to renew and not to demand
for repayment for the borrowing amounting to approximately
HK$266,624,000 for at least the next twelve months.

As at 31 December 2022, the ultimate controlling party of the
Company committed to provide unutilised loan facilities to
approximately HK$10,000,000.

Nevertheless, the Group will further seek for other financial
resources as alternative means to meet working capital
requirement.

BANK BORROWINGS

No bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021.
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16 Imperium Technology Group Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWMEDIT

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was derived from loan from related
companies to total assets, increased from 67.4% in 2021 to 108.2%
in 2022, as a result of the increase in loan from related parties.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022 the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$2,192,000 (2021: HK$4,837,000), attributable to
acquisition of licensing right of online games.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounted approximately HK$5,339,000 (2021: HK$6,133,000) for
the economic compensation payable by a subsidiary in accordance
with the relevant labour law for the PRC.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND RELATED HEDGES

All transactions of the Group are denominated in RMB, HKD,
and USD, MYR, SGD and THB. The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk with respect to the fluctuation of RMB which may
affect the Group’s performance and assets. The Group has not
entered into any derivative contract to hedged against the risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed approximately
226 staffs. The Group’s remuneration to employees, including
Directors’ emoluments, increased by approximately HK$60,240,000
to approximately HK$125,115,000 for the fiscal year of 2022 mainly

due to amortisation of share options granted in 2022 and 2021.

The Group reviews employee remuneration annually and rewards
its employees with reference to the length of services and
performance. The Group also has the liberty to grant share options
and bonuses to employees of the Group at the discretion of the
Directors based on the financial performance of the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and
funding policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions
that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, aged 48, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of the board of directors on
21 September 2012 and 5 October 2012 respectively. Mr. Cheng
is the chairman of the board of directors and executive director of
Imperium Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8029) (“Imperium
Financial”), a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
from 5 July 2013. Mr. Cheng’s wife, Ms. Yeung So Mui is an
executive Director of the Company.

Ms. Yeung So Mui, aged 47, who has been appointed as an
executive Director and vice chairlady of the board of directors on 1
September 2016. Ms. Yeung is the founder and a director of Sparkle
Life Charity Fund Limited. Ms. Yeung was appointed as a director of
Yan Oi Tong Limited on 1 April 2013. Ms. Yeung is experienced in
corporate management. Ms. Yeung was an executive director of Let
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1383), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 5 October 2010 to 20
July 2017. Ms. Yeung was an executive director of Times Universal
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a Company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 10 October 2019 to 31
March 2022.

Mr. Lin Junwei, aged 27, obtained a Bachelor of Science
Degree in Accounting and Finance from the University of East
Anglia in 2018. Mr. Lin is currently the chief financial officer of
Imperium Green Power Limited and his primary responsibilities
includes the planning, implementation, managing and running of
all the finance activities, including business planning, budgeting,
forecasting and negotiations. Mr. Lin was an executive director
of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2310), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited from 10 October 2019 to 10 June 2022. Mr. Lin is
the nephew of Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, an executive Director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company, and Ms. Yeung So Mui, an
executive Director.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGNEEANBZFHABE

Mr. Yau Chak Fung, aged 32, holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration Degree in Managerial Statistics from the City
University of Hong Kong. He was a Vice President at China Tonghai
Securities Limited from December 2013 to November 2015 and
a Vice President at Karl-Thomas Investment Consultants Limited
from January 2016 to May 2016. He was a Senior Vice President at
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from May 2016 to May
2021. Mr. Yau has extensive experience in the asset management
and securities industries.

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry, aged 32, holds a bachelor’s degree
in Science (Business and Management Studies) from University of
Sussex, England and a master’'s degree in Science (International
Marketing) from University of Surrey, England. Mr. Yeung has been
investing in blockchain company since 2018 and has cofounded
EchoX which is an NFT related platform in early 2021, where he is
responsible for the implementation and supervision of corporate
budgeting and project operation. He has also been consulting
different blockchain projects for past few years and assisting
traditional companies to complete their digital transformation.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Tze Wa, aged 66. He is a certified public accountant
and a director of an accounting firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Fung has
various years of experience in auditing, taxation and company
secretarial practice in Hong Kong. He obtained a master degree
in professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2000. He is a member of the HKICPA, the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. From
April 2004, to September 2020, he had also been appointed as
the independent non- executive director of Citychamp Watch &
Jewellery Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Island with limited liability and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
0256), and from September 2004 to September 2013, he was an
independent non-executive director of Jiwa Bio-Pharm Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2327). From April 2004 to March
2012, he was an independent non-executive director of New
Capital International Investment Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1062). From January 2017 to September 2021, he was an
independent non-executive director of Freeman Fintech Corporation
Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 279). From May
2018 to June 2020, he was an independent non-executive director
of Shen Yuan Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the
Bermuda with limited liability and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 851).
From May 2020 to December 2020, he was an independent non-
executive director of China Wood International Holding Co., Limited,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1822). Since August 2022, he was
an independent non-executive director of Shimao Group Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 813).

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, aged 47. He holds a Master of Laws
and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from City University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a member of The Hong Kong Bar Association.
He is interested in various issues of social concerns and he has
been an active pro bono adviser in the last 10 years. In 2020, the
Chief Executive of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region has
awarded the honour of Chief Executive’s Commendation Public
Service to him in recognition of his contribution to the society. From
10 October 2019 to 31 March 2022, he was an independent non-
executive director of Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2310), a Company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGNEEANBZFHABE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, aged 47. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Business Administration. He is currently a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the HKICPA. Mr. Tse has over 10 years of experience
in auditing, finance and accounting. From December 2006 to
September 2020, he was the financial controller of Chinese People
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0681). Since
September 2015, he was an independent non-executive director
of Thelloy Development Group Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and the issued shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 1546). Since 1 June 2022, he was an independent
non-executive Director of Superactive Group Company Limited, a
company incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability and the
issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 0176).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Li Tingting, holds a bachelor’'s degree in Chinese language
studies from Shandong Normal University. Ms. Li has been serving
as the chief executive officer of & 18 & M G B AR A7 (Wanhui
Suzhou Digital Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Wanhui Suzhou”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since September 2020.
Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li was employed by it 5 15 %% b
EHERIMAERAF @M D 2AF (Beijing Changyou Space-Time
Software Technology Company Limited Fuzhou Branch®), a
company principally engaged in the operation of an online games’
platform and publishing of online games business, from 2003 to
2013 with her last position as the general manager of the sales
department. She served as the vice president of & M B % 2 & 17
478 2] 5 B2 2 7] (Guangzhou Okidea Marketing Planning Company
Limited*) from May 2014 to July 2016 and was mainly responsible
for the online game advertising agency business and media
relations. She has been serving as the chief operating officer of &
EAMBEERIE AR AR (Fujian Tianshang Network Technology
Company Limited*) since July 2016 and is mainly responsible for
media operations and advertising for virtual reality games. She is
the founder of the esports team YQLZE 5i{E 440 (YQL Esports
Club®) in July 2017. Ms. Li has extensive experience in the online
games industry, block chain technology applications and cloud
operation services.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lee Chia Hsien, who is currently serving as the chief digital
officer of the Group, obtained a bachelor’s degree in information
management from Tamkang University in 2007 and a master’s
degree in industrial engineering from National Taiwan University
in 2017. He has over 15 years of experience in the information
technology industry. Mr. Lee Chia Hsien has been a founder and
chief executive officer of LeadBest Consulting Group, which is
principally engaged in the provision of business consulting services,
since April 2018. LeadBest Consulting Group assists clients to
develop new business strategies through advanced software
technologies such as artificial intelligence, the internet, cloud
computing, blockchain technology, and information security. He
has been serving as a director of EasyCard Corporation, which is a
subsidiary of EasyCard Investment Holding Co., Ltd., since January
2019. The main shareholders of EasyCard Investment Holding Co.,
Ltd. include, among others, the Taipei City Government, Taipei
Rapid Transit Corporation, various Taipei-based bus operators and
various banks. EasyCard Corporation has launched a contactless
smartcard for the electronic transport ticket system, which
can be used for electronic payments in public transit such as
buses of Greater Taipei, the MASS Rapid Transit system, Taiwan
High Speed Rail and Taiwan Railways, and serve as a tool for
small-value payments at designated shops such as convenience
stores, supermarkets and restaurants. Mr. Lee Chia Hsien was
one of the founders and the chief technology officer of Hiiir Inc., a
company principally engaged in provision of internet services and
digital integrated marketing, from May 2008 to August 2017. He is
currently a part-time lecturer at National Taiwan University.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Luk Wai Keung, was appointed as the Chief Financial Officer
with effect from 30 April 2021. He obtained a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the Australian Graduate School of
Management of the University of New South Wales and a Bachelor
of Science in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and a Chartered Financial Analyst at
the Association for Investment Management and Research. Mr. Luk
has over 18 years of experience in the accounting and finance area.
He worked for an international accounting firm and held senior
positions in a number of listed companies in Hong Kong. He was
an executive director of the Company from 1 August 2016 to 30
April 2021.

Ip Ka Ki, was appointed as the company secretary with effect
from 31 March 2017. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Business
Administration (Honours) in Accountancy from the Lingnan
University in 2003. He is @ member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. He has over 15 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and finance. Since December 2017, he was
an independent non-executive director of Vicon Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3878).
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The Board are pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 19 January 2005 under
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 42 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of financial position of this annual report respectively.

The Board do not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and note 40 to the financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution amounted to approximately HK$42,967,000. Under
the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in
a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group during
the year are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:

REWE
AREERRENENEDFBERN Y BRI
519 -

g A<

ARARFARAMNEHFRBHAMBERRK
B 5¥36 °
FTEEFRHER

REBBFERN TB2EPRHEEFSBMEAE
EHEEMKBENEHNNT

Percentage of the Group’s
total Sales/Purchases

EREEHEE
KEBEAEEI L
The largest customer BAEF 19.9%
Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFAE 42.9%
The largest supplier SN 29.1%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AABEEES 64.2%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
of the Company (who or which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5.0% of the share capital of the Company) has any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and
five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman)

Ms. Yeung So Mui

Mr. Lin Junwei

Mr. Yau Chak Fung

Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry (appointed on 11 January 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Fung Tze Wa
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 17 to
page 20 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
ROTATION

The appointment of each Director is subject to retirement by
rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. All of the
independent non-executive Directors has entered a service contract
with the Company for a term of 3 years and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company and the Corporate Government Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Fung Tsz Wa, Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, and
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry will retire from office by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”).

Ms. Yeung So Mui, Mr. Lin Junwei and Mr. Yau Chak Fung has
entered a service contract with the Company, save as disclosed
above, none of the Directors has entered or has proposed to
enter into any service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
note 12 to financial statements.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of their independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

EERAQAREMABEZENRSD - A
BARORBESZTPHESZRKE

RZEZZHF+ZA=+—H EFRFETHK
AERERABSIEFMEEEZE(EERESRE
BEHRAIEXVE)(HEEEZBDRG - BERG X
BEHFRHERIEFE %}&Hﬂ 5B EXVEBETR 5
8o EhEME AR ST R ROA R (B1E

BEREE ﬁ&ﬁﬁfﬂwumﬁfﬁhx%ﬁi YE R
RAEEBNEERERAR)NBEESFRBEKH
%3521%%&T/,\%Tﬁzyjpaﬂﬁﬁﬁuaﬁ AR &
FHBTAESETELRRINBRESTR(EE
TFANEMEARARNRRBIMER RARIT

Percentage of
aggregate interests
to total number of

Personal Family Shares in issue
Name of Director interests interests Corporate interests Total (Note )
EEng (PN £ RikEE AR @t A
HERTRH
BYZEAL
(h1i25)
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong - - 214,428,488 (L) 214,428,488 (L) 68.94%
BTHEE (Note 2) (Note 1)
(Hii2) (Hi1)
Ms. Yeung So Mui - - 214,428,488 (L) 214,428,488 (L) 68.94%
BEELL (Note 3)
(B #t3)
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry — — 1,900,000 (L) 1,900,000 (L) 0.61%
BRREE (Note 4)
(K t4)
Notes: K iE -
1. The letter “L” represents the Director’s interests in the Shares and underlying 1. FRILIRKRESZHNAR B E BB X B MR D RAEB

Shares or, as the case may be, the equity interest of the Company or its
associated corporations.

2. This represents interests held by Mr. Cheng Ting Kong through Diamond
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), which holds 214,428,488 Shares.
As Mr. Cheng Ting Kong has 100% interest in Diamond State, he is deemed
to be interested in 214,428,488 Shares.

3. Ms. Yeung So Mui is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Ting Kong. Ms. Yeung So Mui

is deemed to be interested in all shares held by Diamond State under part XV
of the SFO.
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4, This represents interest held by Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry through
Bluemount investment Fund SPC (“Bluemount Investment”), which holds
1,900,000 Shares of the Company. As Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry has 100%
interest in Bluemount Investment, he is deemed to be interested in 1,900,000
Shares.

5" The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of Shares in
issue as at 31 December 2022 (i.e. 311,036,000 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significant to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year under review or any time during the year under review save
and except for the transactions disclosed as connected and/or
related party transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. Cheng Ting Kong, the Chairman of the Board and an executive
Director, (i) is a director and a beneficial owner of Imperium
Financial Limited (“IFL"),
Kong and a licensed money lender engaged in money lending

a company incorporated in Hong

business under the MLO; and (ii) is a director and a substantial
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of Imperium
Financial which engages in money lending business through its
subsidiary, Imperium International Credit Limited (“lICL”), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and a licensed money lender under
MLO.
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IFL and IICL competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

The Board considers that, having considered the facts that:

(i) Mr. Cheng is fully aware of his fiduciary duty to the Group
and he will abstain from voting on any matter when there is
or may be a conflict of interest;

(ii) The Group is a capable of, and does carry on its business
independently of, and on an arm’s length basis with the
competing business of IFL and IICL;

(iii) An executive committee will be informed to ensure business
opportunities and the performance of Best Gold Corporation
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will be
independently assessed and reviewed from time to time;

(iv) Mr. Cheng will abstain from voting on any matter where there
is or may be a conflict of interest in accordance with the
requirements of the articles of association of the Company;
and

(v) Mr. Cheng will allow Best Gold Corporation Limited to remain
as an independent operating entity with its own management
team and distribution network and will not involve in its daily
management.

Since (i) all the major and important corporate actions of the
Company are and will be fully deliberated and determined by the
Board; and (i) any director(s) who is/are or deemed to be interested
in any proposed transaction(s) will have his/their interest fully
disclosed and will abstain from voting at the relevant resolution(s)
in accordance with the applicable requirements of the articles of
association of the Company, the Board is of the view that each
of the Relevant Directors does not, by himself or in an individual
capacity, competes with the Company and/or the business of the
Group. The Group’s interest is adequately safeguarded.
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Except of the above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
directors, the management shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or the substantial shareholders of the Company, or any
of their respective associates, has engaged in any business that
competes or may compete with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency
of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the
Listing Rules up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands.

SHARE OPTION

On 29 June 2018, a resolution was passed in the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company to adopt a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange has granted the
listing of, and permission to deal in the shares of the Company
which may fall to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
which was granted and/or may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme subsequently.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme.

Share Option Scheme
Purpose

To provide an incentive or a reward to eligible persons for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group.
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Participants

Eligible participants include:

Any directors or employees, consultants and/or advisers, the
eligible participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, suppliers,
producers or licensors, licensees (including sub-licensee) or
distributors, of the Group or any person who, in the sole discretion

of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.

Exercise price

Determined by the Board and shall not be less than the higher of:

(@) the closing price of (1) one share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets at the offer date, which
must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of (1) one share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the (5) five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c) the nominal value of the share on the offer date, provided
that in case of fractional prices, the exercise price per share
shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cents.

Total number of shares available for issue and
the percentage of the issued share capital that it
represents as at the date of this annual report

20,877,808 shares, being approximately 6.71% of the issued shares
of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Not exceed 1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period.

Period within which the securities must be taken up
under the option

Subject to the discretion by the Board and, in the absence of
which, from the date of acceptance to the earlier of the date on

which such option lapses and 10 years from the date of offer.
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Minimum period for which an option must be held BRETEILERFREZREHR

before it can be exercised

Subject to the discretion by the Board. HEFEMBEET °

Acceptance of the option ERNERE

Acceptance of the option must be made within 30 days after the BEAR#EZBEN IR T B EIE308 AE 4 - W78 141.00
date of offer and HK$1.00 must be paid as a consideration for the ET/EAXHEREZRE -
grant of option.

Amount payable on acceptance BEREGENEEE
HK$1.00 payable upon acceptance of the offer. REMFFER1.008 T °
Remaining life of the scheme AEAZETFR

The scheme will be valid and effective until 28 June 2028, after FrEIBREZE_T-_NFARAZTN\BERKER -
which no further options will be granted but the provisions of the I8~ & &% LT ([ EERHE - BT 8 218 XA
scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects. BHM T EEHZF BRI RBER - RetEI AR
Options complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which HHAREBEE-_Z-_NF XA+ N\BADKXE
are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain fTHFEEMFALMBAEX ZERE S EER
unexercised immediately prior to 28 June 2028 shall continue to be IHEHEZ R EIERFTUITHE  BEHE ZHED
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant, notwithstanding &% °

the expiry of the scheme.

Employees and other eligible participants EERAMEEHKZHAL
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share REZE-Z-—F+-_A=+—RHILHER &
options during the periods ended 31 December 2022: AEREZESHENNT
Closing price
Number of share options of the Shares
RERHEA immediately
Lapsed/ before the date
Granted  Exercised  cancelled on which the
Exercise Outstanding  during the  during the  during the Outstanding at Share Options
Name Date of grant price Exercisable period at 1.1.2022 period period period 31.12.2022  were granted
RZBzZ% Rz ZEERER
-A-H BRX%/ +=A=t-8 HAHARG
i REBH TRE &S LR i BRE BRTE BUH AT R W g
HKS
BT
Executive director
HTES
Yau Chak Fung 28.9.2021 11.04 1,555,180 options 3,110,360 - - - 3,110,360 11.04
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
)22 ke Sk 1,555,180( i 1 1
NBZ+N\B (ZZZZ%#nA=TN\BZE
ZR=-$nAZttA)

1,555,180 options
(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2081)
1,555,18017 i [k &
(ZE=Z=f#=R=tN\HE
ZE=-%AAZttA)
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Name Date of grant

] RHAH

Exercise
price

TEE
HKS
BT

Exercisable period

TEH
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Number of share options

BREHE

Closing price
of the Shares
immediately

Outstanding
at 1.1.2022
R-ZBZZf
-A-H

R AT

Exercised
during the
period

Granted
during the
period

Hakh  AATE

Lapsed/
cancelled
during the Outstanding at
period 31.12.2022
R-B-Z§
Ba%%/ +=R=t-R
BB i RAT

before the date
on which the
Share Options
were granted
ZRBRER
o B E AR 6
W&

Lin Junwei 28.9.2021

W& E —B--F
AA=ZtN\E

Yeung Tong Seng Terry 18.1.2022
BRK it k2
—AtNH

Senior management

EHREEE

Li Ting Ting 28.9.2021

£ —EZ-EhA
Zt/\H

Luk Wai Keung 28.9.2021

B g —E--%

NAZ+NE

11.04

17.14

11.04

11.04

155,518 options
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
155,51817 i Rt 12
(ZEZZFNRZtNH
ZZE=-FAAZ1+tAH)
155,518 options
(28.3.2023 to 27.9.2031)
155,518 B I 4
(CE-=F=ZF-tN\HE
“EZ-FAAZt+A)

1,555,180 options
(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
1,555,18017 8 % 12
(ZBZZFNRZTNAH
ZF=-¥AA-1+tA)
1,555,180 options
(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
1,555,1801% 88 i 78
(ZB-=f£=F-tN\BE
“E=-FAAZT+A)

500,000 options

(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
500,000 % i 78

(ZZZZFNAZtNHE

ZE=-EAAZT+A)
500,000 options

(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
500,00017 & B #

(ZB-=f£=f-tN\BE

“E=-FAAZT+LA)
155,518 options

(28.9.2022 t0 27.9.2031)
155,51817 B I 4

(ZEZZ#nBZ+N\BZE

“E=-FAAZF+A)
165,518 options

(28.3.2023 t0 27.9.2031)
155,51817 B k12

(CE-=fF=F-tN\BE

ZE=-FNAZT+A)

311,036

3,110,360 =

= 311,036

= 3,110,360

11.04

17.02

1,000,000

311,036

S 1,000,000

= 311,036

4,732,432

3,110,360 =

= 7,842,792
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BREZAREBIERA-EAER((HEEDFE -
BRN2HWMT:

The fair value of the share options were calculated using the
Binomial Model (the “Model”). The inputs into the Model were as

follows:

Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZTESHH
“E__FAA=ZTNEE
—E=—fFhA=++tH

Share options with an
exercisable period from
28.9.2022 to 27.9.2031
BREZITESRS
—E-__FhA=+NHE
—E=—FhA=++tH

Share price at date of grant R BB E
Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility (per annum) & Hf S5 18 (5 &)
Expected life of share options & % # 78 Hi 4F Hf

BHRE X
= b A X
BREZANE

Expected dividend yield
Risk-free rate
Fair value of share option

HK$17.027% 7T
HK$17.147% 7T
81.16%

10 years4F

0.00%

1.61%
HK$35,360,8215 7T

HK$11.047% 7T
HK$11.047% 7T
78.61%

10 years4F

0.00%

1.43%
HK$34,456,2547% 7T

34 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Fair values of the share options were with reference to the valuation
carried out by an independent firm of professional valuers.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of the Company’s share price. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The risk free interest rate was estimated based on the yield of
5-year exchange fund note issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority as of the grant date.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value
of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group maintains a mandatory provident fund (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s and
employee’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on 5%
of the relevant income of the relevant employee (up to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000) and in accordance with the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
and related regulations.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (“Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in Yuyao, the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Schemes at the rate of 26% of the
eligible employees’ salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

The Group has defined benefit obligations arising from one of its
subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Details of which are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statement.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has the following continuing connected
transactions (the “Connected Transactions”) and the Company
has fully complied with the announcement, reporting and/or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules (where applicable):

1 On 23 July 2021, an indirect subsidiary of the Company,
Seven Elements Interactive Digital Technology Limited (“Seven
Elements”) entered into the First Lease Agreement with Best
Master Limited (“Best Master”), pursuant to which Seven
Elements agreed to lease the certain Filecoin equipment,
storage facilities and auxiliary parts, which can generate 3
pebibytes of effective storage mining power, under the First
Lease Agreement to Best Master for the provision of cloud
computing and data storage services and mining of Filecoin
for a term of three years commencing from 1 August 2021.
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Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (“Mr. Cheng”), an executive Director,
holds 34.74% of the entire issued shares in Times Universal
Group Holdings Limited (“Times Universal”) through Rich
Vision Developments Limited. Times Universal in turn indirectly
owns the entire issued shares in Best Master. Hence, Best
Master is an associate of Mr. Cheng and a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Lease Agreement constitutes a continuing
connected transaction on the part of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MITEEH T BEE(E % %] HE BRich
Vision Developments Limited # & B £ I8 Bk
EEZERAERAR(RRIRIR]) 2HBEET
B& 17 B934.74% -+ i BF X IR BKk [ ¥ % & Best
Master ) 2 2 170 © BLUL M 5 * Best
Master 2 8 e A VB & A RARNA R BEE A
ToRE  BRBELTRAUBUAE HER
ZETRETORSBRARAIK T ERE

Financial year/period Caps
MREE /HH ZELR
From 1 August 2021 to 31 December 2021 —E -/ \A-HEZZ_—F+=ZA=+—H HK$6,500,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 —E-__f¥-fA-HBEZZE-__F+-A=+-H HK$8,600,0007% 7T
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 2= —-A—RAEZE==%+=ZA=+—H HK$6,000,0007% 7T

From 1 January 2024 to 31 July 2024

On 24 December 2021, Rich Vision Developments Limited
signed a bought and sold notes with Great Match International
Limited, pursuant to which Rich Vision Developments
Limited agreed to sell and Great Match International Limited
agreed to purchase 379,683,837 shares of Times Universal.
Following the above arrangement, Mr. Cheng no longer being
a substantial shareholder of Times Universal. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement no
longer constitutes a continuing connected transaction on the
part of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 10 August 2021, Seven Elements entered into the Second
Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng pursuant to which Seven
Elements agreed to lease the certain Filecoin equipment,
storage facilities and auxiliary parts, which can generate up
to 8 pebibytes of effective storage mining power, under the
Second Lease Agreement to Mr. Cheng for the provision of
cloud computing and data storage services and mining of
Filecoin from 1 October 2021 to 30 September 2024.

As Mr. Cheng is an executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Cheng is a connected
person of the Company. Accordingly, the Second Lease
Agreement constitute a continuing connected transaction on
the part of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Financial year/period Second Caps

HREE /#H SR
From 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021 —E_—F+A-BEE-_—F+R=t— HK$6,000,0005% 7T
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 ~E- - f-HEZE-__F+-A=t-— HK$24,000,0005% 7T

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 —T-=ZF—HF—H 5_2: =F+=ZA=1+— H
From 1 January 2024 to 30 September 2024 “E-MF-A-BEE-_WFEAA=T+H

HK$16,000,0007% 7T
HK$7,000,0007% 7T

On 3 July 2020, Seven Senses Game Company Limited
(“Seven Senses”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the MOE License Agreement
with Imperium Entertainment Interactive Limited (“Imperium
Entertainment”) pursuant to which Seven Senses is authorised
to act as an exclusive agent in the designated places for the
operation and marketing of the Myth of Empires Game for the
period from 3 July 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 28 June 2021, Seven Senses Game Company Limited
entered into the MOE Supplemental Agreement with Imperium
Entertainment pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium
Entertainment agreed to amend the terms of the MOE License
Agreement to the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the
transactions under the MOE License Agreement and the IC
License Agreement for each of two years ending 31 December
2022 shall be revised to HK$9,950,000.

As Imperium Entertainment is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheng,
Imperium Entertainment is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the MOE License Agreement and
the MOE Supplemental Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions on the part of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 6 December 2019, Cubinet Interactive, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
License Agreement with Imperium Entertainment pursuant
to which Cubinet Interactive was authorised to act as an
exclusive agent in the designated places for the operation and
marketing of the Iron Conflict Game for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

RZTEZTFLA=RA ARANHEES2E
MEBARI L TEREBRERARD(TEITE]) R
Imperium Entertainment Interactive Limited
(Mmperium Entertainment]) &7 37 % B8 4% 5% &F
Az Bt T TRERBEREBEMA
WBRRE BZZT-_TFtH= Ehii_
ECCF+ZA=T—HLHEEERSEH
T B 4% 55 7 B o

RZBEZ—FSAZ+=H Enx¥EHA
IR A &) 82 Imperium Entertainment 5] 32 % B
MR E - Bt £t & Kimperium
Entertainment A E & 5] 7 B 14 5% 57 7 1 5%
1R SEREAPEERT A W s R BB R AT 1
BETRGREBE_TE__F+=-A=+—
HIEMBEFESFNFELRBEEIR
9,950,000/% 7T °

i 7 Imperium Entertainment B $4 77 & 2 & %¢
£ 2 E WA - Imperium Entertainment & A2
ﬂZF@‘@)\i o Bt - AR LR BIE14A

HEMET A E LT ER TR
%}?ZK RZHERERS -

RZE—NF+ZAANB A2 EE:2
& [ff B /A &) Cubinet Interactive £& Imperium
Entertainment] 3 #F Al 3 &% * #& It - Cubinet
Interactive E X EE B RNIEEH T & E RE
HAABEBERNBRRE  BH=F " 8
T E_EF-A-BHRE_E__F+_A
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On 21 August, 2020, Imperium Entertainment, Cubinet
Interactive Int’l Co., Itd and Seven Senses entered into the
novation agreement pursuant to which (i) Seven Senses
undertook to observe, perform, discharge and be bound
by the terms, conditions and covenants of the IC License
Agreement as if Seven Senses were, and had originally been,
a party to the IC License Agreement in place of Cubinet
Interactive; and (ii) Cubinet Interactive agreed to assign to
Seven Senses all it rights, title and interests in the IC License
Agreement.

On 23 June 2021, Seven Senses entered into the IC
Supplemental Agreement with Imperium Entertainment
pursuant to which Seven Senses and Imperium Entertainment
agreed to amend the terms of the IC License Agreement to
the effect that the aggregate annual cap for the transactions
under the IC License Agreement and the MOE License
Agreement for each of the two years ending 31 December
2022 shall be revised to HK$9,950,000.

As Imperium Entertainment is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheng,
Imperium Entertainment is a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the IC License Agreement and the IC
Supplemental Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions on the part of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Details of item 1 of the Connected Transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 July 2021. Details of item
2 of the Connected Transactions are set out in the announcement
and circular of the Company dated 10 August 2021 and 17
September 2021 respectively. Details of item 3 and 4 of the
Connected Transactions are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 June 2021.
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The transaction amount and cap amount of the Connected MEXFREE T -_—_F+_A=+—HItHF
Transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows: ENXZBERLEBRESBHOAT:

Maximum
Cap of the
Connected
Transactions for Actual Amount
Status of Connected Transactions 2022 Incurred in 2022
BEXS
N-—ZE—-— N-—E—-C
BEX S MR E WEELR EENERSHE
HKD HKD
T & T
1 First Lease Agreement with Best Master Limited N/A
8,600,000 33 A
EiBest Master Limited5] L B 5E —H A & &
2 Second Lease Agreement with Mr. Cheng 24,000,000 1,132,268

HEEEEITUNFE _NHEHEHZ

3 MOE License Agreement and MOE Supplemental Agreement with Imperium 9,950,000 (include
Entertainment Connected
transaction no. 4)
(BREEERXSH
EA5R) 298,086
Ed Imperium Entertainment 8] 32 8 75 B 1% 5 57 Al 1 52 I 75 B 18 35 1 A 1 ik

4 IC License Agreement and IC Supplemental Agreement with Imperium 9,950,000 (include
Entertainment Connected
transaction no. 3)
(BHEBERS
E35%) 13,557
B2 Imperium Entertainment ] &2 B9 2L A BB Er Al e R 2L AN B S i =

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EEEXN

No contracts concerning the management and administration of FRPEFT T FETAERARAELE S
the whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company TREZLH 2 EE RITHAH °
were entered into or existed during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the Year.

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor of the Company
on 18 October 2022 following the resignation of RSM Hong Kong
on 10 October 2022. Apart from this, RSM was no change in
auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited will rehire as the Company’s auditor at the
end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment, the
resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Cheng Ting Kong
Chairman

31 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Group is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and business practices. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”), amended from time to time, contained in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules. As far as the CG Code is concerned, during
the year and up to the date of this announcement, the Company
complies with all aspect of the Code Provisions except disclosed
below:

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The role of chief executive officer
was shared among the members of the Board during the reporting
period. There is no time schedule to change this structure, as
the Directors consider that this structure provides the Group with
consistent leadership in the Company’s decision making process
and operational efficiency. The Board shall review this arrangement
from time to time to ensure appropriate and timely action is taken
to meet changing circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have fully
complied with the required standard set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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THE BOARD

The Board has a balance of skill and experience and a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors and is
responsible for oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive Directors and senior management of
the Company. The Board does not delegate matters to Executive
Directors or management team to an extent that would significantly
hinder or reduce the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its
functions. The Company formalises the functions reserved to the
Board and those delegated to management, and management are
aware of the matters needed to report back and obtain prior Board
approval before making decisions or entering into any commitments
on the Group’s behalf. The Board would review those arrangements
from time to time to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
Group’s needs.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised of eight members,
namely the Chairman and four other executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (the biographical details and
relationships between the Directors are set out on page 17 to page
20).

The Board considers that its diversity, including gender diversity, is
a vital asset to the business. The Board adopted a Board diversity
policy for better transparency and governance. Board appointments
are based on merit and candidates are considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and the
overall management of the Group. The Board also monitors the
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The
Board members have a broad access to business documents and
information about the Group. Three Board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee have been established to oversee particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs. The Board meets regularly to review the
financial and operating performance of the Group and to approve
future plans and development.
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All the Directors have actively participated in the review and
monitoring of the Company’s business. The Board meets regularly
and at least 4 times a year. Between scheduled meetings,
the senior management of the Group provides information to
the Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities and
development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors have full
access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will
be given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance
and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than 3 days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, the Directors are given as
much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting. All minutes
of Board and Board committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary to record in sufficient details the matters considered and
decisions reached by the Board or Board committee, including any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by any Director.
These minutes are available for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a total number of
eight (8) Board meetings, four (4) Audit Committee meetings, four
(4) Remuneration Committee meeting and three (3) Nomination
Committee meeting were held. Minutes of these meetings are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

The Directors are able, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide
separate appropriate independent professional advice to the
Directors to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all existing independent non-executive Directors and considers
them independent.
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The Directors except for the independent non-executive Directors,
have no fixed terms of appointment but are subject to re- election
at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
article of association. All of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered a service contract with the Company for a term of 3
years and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company and
the Corporate Government Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this
report, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by attending training course or
reading materials on the topics related to corporate governance
and regulations or the Company’s business or their duties and
responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is summarised below:

Name of Directors

EFEUATEFRINVTEBREREFH -
HARARBZABERZMURANARBRRBE
REBESEE - MEBLUFATESFHEERALAR
AR AHBFEMNRBEHN A AREBEARAN
A A 2 A0 R R B X P RE 25 T AR BT R+ P A
FNEEEATRGFE SR REE-

EEHA

REBETAGEXFACSK MEEER2ERBESR
XBER G BRUTHEMBLZRE  ARFREHE
BEABEEEARYAMBEZERATHESS
FHEBM BEEAREAHL FAEEHEBL
HEERITEREEE ARMBARINEZIRE
SHBEBARAEB W ERERBERBERD
TAMSEGENREZXEREY -

REBEE-_FT-__HF+_A=1+ - BHLFERZE
ERESZEI 2@ SR IT

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/reading
relevant materials in
relation to the business
or directors’ duties

HEEEEREESREEABEZ
EEgE BERE HEMEBEER
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong BT LA Yes &
Ms. Yeung So Mui BEBRZT Yes &
Mr. Lin Junwei BB L E Yes &
Mr. Yau Chak Fung Ef 2kt Yes =&
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry BR KT E Yes &
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BT ELE Yes &
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TRRELE Yes =&
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan HEHIE Yes &
Board Diversity Policy EEeZ b E

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity

ARREEMEFTEETEBRRTEZTIEBER]) -

Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board. The Company embraces the benefits of having a diverse

ZBRATABRESTEZ LN TIE - KRRK
REXZRIELEFTSERAEFEAME T AN
J}EO

Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
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Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
Board diversity through the consideration of a number of aspects,
including, but not limited to, gender, age, culture and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry and regional experience.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a
director of the Company, the nomination committee would consider
the above criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendations to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.

The Board currently has one female Directors out of 8 Directors,
and is committed to improving gender diversity as and when
suitable candidates are identified. As at 31 December 2022, the
gender ratio of the Group’s workforce was approximately 73%
male to 27% female. The Company’s hiring is merit-based and
non-discriminatory. The Board is satisfied that the Company has
achieved gender diversity in its workforce.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, through the Nomination
Committee, has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Diversity Policy and confirm that the Board has an appropriate
mix of skills and experience to deliver the Company’s strategy.

The nomination committee will review the Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods under
applicable statutory and regulatory requirements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of operations and
cash flows of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, suitable accounting policies
have been adopted and applied consistently. Save as disclosed in
the section “Material Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern” in
the Independent Auditor’'s Report, the Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below:

ESHUBHRRNEMT

EEREREERANEEREEERREAEH
REBSFTHENMBERE BEEQATFTHERA
SENEBMRR 2EXEERRERE - RER
HE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—BILEFENHHER
=R E-BHMKARERGENSIEER - ®
EFENVBRRDVEFECEEERR - RB
VEHAMMEP FRABFELENERTHET ]
—fATEBEEN  EETUANBEBTMEEK
BRZERTHEEN SR ASENFER
BRENBRERER -

RBEZE-_T-__F+_A=+-HIEFE BE=F
ARt FRESTE BERZES FHZEGRE
HEBEMERLEARHIIWMT

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

LR/ AREREENAE
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Name of Director Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting!
ESpg ES® ENZE® FMZEE® REZEE RREFAY
Number of Meetings EEYS 8 4 4 3 1
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Cheng Ting Kong (Chairman) BTRLE(ZE) 8/8 - - - 17
Ms. Yeung So Mui (Vice Chairtacl) BEERL(EE) 8/8 - = = 17
Mr. Lin Junwei HEELE 8/8 - - - i
Mr. Yau Chak Fung BEERE 8/8 - - -~ 17
Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry BRREEMRZT=Z
(appointed on 11 January 2022) —At-REZH) 8/8 - - - 1/1
Indepencient Non-executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Fung Tze Wa BTE%E 8/8 4/4 4/4 3/3 11
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TEXE 8/8 4/4 4/4 33 11
Mr. Tse Ting Kwan HEGEE 8/8 44 44 33 11
Note: B 5 -
1. 2022 Annual General Meeting held on 30 June 2022. 1. TE - FRERAFASGR T - _FA=tHET -
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring that the
Company has formal and transparent procedures for developing
and overseeing its policies on the remuneration of the Directors and
senior management. The committee’s authorities and duties are
set out in written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee
comprises the following three members, all independent non-
executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee, Chairman of Remuneration Committee

(if) Mr. Fung Tze Wa

(ifi) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Given below are main
duties of the Remuneration Committee:

(i) to make recommendations on the Company’s policies and
structure for all the remuneration of Directors;

(if) to propose the specific remuneration packages of the
executive Directors, and to make recommendations on the
remuneration of the non-executive Directors for the Board’s
approval;

(iii) to review and propose performance-based remuneration
for executive Directors by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and

(iv) to administer and make determinations with regard to the
Company’s share option scheme.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Review the remuneration package of the Executive Director
and senior management for year ended 31 December 2022;

° Review and approval of the grant of an aggregate of
3,110,360 option under share option scheme; and

° Recommend the remuneration package of Mr. Yeung

Tong Seng Terry as an Executive Director to the Board for

approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee comprises the following three
members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Fung Tze Wa, Chairman of Audit Committee
(if) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

(iii) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan

Given below are the main duties of the Audit Committee:

(i) to make recommendations with respect to the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external
auditor, and to evaluate their independence, objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process;

(if) to review and monitor the interim and annual financial
statements, reports and accounts of the Company, and to
review significant and judgemental financial reporting issues
contained therein;

(ifi) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems; and

(iv) to discuss with the management the system of internal
controls, and to ensure that the management has discharged
its duties and responsibilities in implementing an effective
internal control system.
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During the financial year, the Audit Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

Considering the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 for the approval by the Board;

Considering the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2022 for the approval by the Board;

Approval of external auditor’s scope, plan and fees of the
annual audit and the interim review;

Meeting with the external auditor and discussing their major
findings in the annual audit and the interim review;

Review the reports prepared by the external auditor relating
to the annual audit and the interim review;

Considering the effectiveness the external auditor, giving due
consideration to the quality and contents of their reports to
the committee, feedback from management and compliance
with relevant regulatory, professional requirements and their
independence;

Considering the safeguard of external auditor’s objectivity
and independence in proposed engagement in respect of

audit-related and permissible non-audit services; and

Recommendation of the replacement of external auditor.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises the following three
members, all independent non-executive Directors:

(i) Mr. Tse Ting Kwan, Chairman of Nomination Committee
(ii) Mr. Fung Tze Wa

(iii) Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Given below are main duties of the Nomination Committee:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (by taking into
account the criteria as set out in the Board diversity policy
adopted by the Company from time to time) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(if) to review the Board diversity policy regularly (including
any measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing the Board diversity policy and the progress
on achieving those objectives); and make disclosure of its
review results in the corporate governance report of the
Company annually;

(iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(iv) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(v) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors in particular the
chairman and the president (chief executive officer).
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REBREER REEZEEQERET EERS

During the financial year, the Nomination Committee performed,
considered and/or resolved the following matters:

° Annual review on structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° Review the existing nomination policy and Board diversity
policy, and the implementations;

° Assessment on the independence of Independent
Non-Executive Directors and review of the annual
confirmation on the independence;

° Review of re-appointment of Directors who retired from
office by rotation at the past AGM and offered themselves
for re-election; and

° Recommendation of the appointment of Mr. Yeung Tong
Seng Terry as an Executive Director to the Board for
approval.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid/payable to
auditor of the Company, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, for the provision
of audit services and non-audit services as follows:

i

RIATEIR:

HEFZSWEK BB RERZTLE

TEER:

R RETREBRLEFEREZ TR
REEEBERBR:

HEBUFRTESTNBIELBHNAESF
EBIMHERE:

EMRERRAAFAR LB HELEREY
AEMERELI Y EENEFEL: R

MEESHEBZIBRAACEETATE

EAHHE -

AT B =

EE-_HF+-A=+t—HILEE  ziE
HEARGEIFFARBEN BN AR XK
BEEEEB eHMEEMz2EBANOT

b

2022 2021
—E-C_F —EF=-—
Nature of services HK$ HK$
REME BT BT
Audit BT 1,550,000 1,650,000
Others EHih - —
1,550,000 1,650,000
FENEERERA 2022 F% 51
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the Corporate Governance Functions:

(@ to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the issuer’'s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain and oversee an
effective risk management and internal control system on
an ongoing basis in order to protect the Group’s assets and
shareholder’s interests. The risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are implemented to minimize risks to which
the Group is exposed. The systems can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The internal control system includes a well established
corporate structure and organisation with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Each department is responsible
for its daily operations, and is also required to implement and
monitor the strategies and polices adopted by the Board and
effective employment of the resources of the Company, in order
to avoid misappropriation of resources and damages made to the
Company’s assets, and prevent against errors and fraud.
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The risk management framework includes identify significant risk
in the Group’s operation environment and evaluate the impact of
those risks on the Group’s business, develop necessary measure
to manage those risks and monitor and review the effectiveness of
such measures.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Board and management, with the assistance of the external
consultants, are responsible for designing, implementing and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

Risk identification

° Identifies the risk through discussion with the management
and directors of subsidiaries of the Company. Risk
identification and management questionnaire are used
to document the risks identified by the management and
directors of subsidiaries of the Company.

Risk Response

° Categories the risks into low risk, medium and high risk;
° Determines the strategy to handle the risk; and
° Develops the risk register and internal control audit plan and

determines the frequency of review and control testing on
key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° On-going communication of monitoring results to the Board
which enables it to assess control the Group and the
effectiveness of risk management during the Year;

° risk questionnaires completed by the management, risk
register and internal control audit plan; and

° fact finding report with recommendations on the review and
testing of internal control on certain operating cycles and
areas.
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Internal Audit Function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the
management of the Company, including analyzing and appraising
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. For the enhancement of the quality of
the internal audit, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to execute a certain scope of internal audit function to:

° facilitate the management’s process to perform the risk
assessment and evaluation; and

° conduct various agreed upon reviews on certain selected
operating cycles and areas in accordance with the
Company’s internal control audit plan.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board concluded that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company were adequate and
effective during the year.

INSIDER INFORMATION

The Company is fully aware of its obligations under the new Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 and
the Listing Rules. The Board has adopted procedure and internal
control policy which contains the guideline to the Directors and
officers of the Company to ensure that the inside information of the
Company is to be disseminated to public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
Such policy provides guidance on the Company conducting its
affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirements under the
Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong in June 2012.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Ip has received no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to refresh his
skills and knowledge.
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WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

A Whistle-blowing Policy was put into effect for all levels and
operations in the Group to show zero tolerance towards corruption
and assist individual employees to disclosed malpractice or
impropriety within the Group. All employees must fully comply
with relevant local laws and regulations as well as the Group’s
own policies on the prevention of corruption. All employees have
a responsibility to raise concerns, confidence, about possible
improprieties such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter
related to the Group and report any suspected violations to
a supervisor or senior management. Such policy also aims at
protecting whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation and
unwarranted disciplinary actions.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company has in place an anti-corruption policy within all its
employees, which forms part of the Company’s employees staff
manual. Employees are required to act with integrity and to report
any suspected bribery, corruptions and money laundering cases to
management or the Audit Committee.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going
dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Details of the Last General Meetings

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders. Under Revised Code
Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the shareholders.
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Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, a special general meeting may be convened by the
Board upon requisition by any shareholder holding not less than
one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company, specifying the transaction of any business in such
requisition.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two
(2) months after the receipt of such written requisition. Pursuant
to the Article 59 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Company shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting,
including the time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions
to be considered at the meeting and the general nature of the
business.

If within twenty one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such special
general meeting, the requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner,
and; all the reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office address
of the Company, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Annual Report 2022
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s head office in Hong Kong
at Room 02, 26/F., One Harbour Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is
made for its business and financial performance through a
variety of formal communication channels. Information regarding
the Company will be published in its website: www.776.hk.
Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the Group
will be despatched to Shareholders in due course. The website
of the Company provides information such as e-mail address,
correspondence address, telephone numbers etc. for inquiries, and
provides information on business activities of the Company.

The Company’s AGM of Shareholders is a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Notice of
AGM and related documents will be sent to Shareholders pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules, and will be published on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Company will also meet with the investment community and
respond to their inquiries about the status of the Company from
time to time, so as to strengthen the contacts and communication
between the Company and its investors.

Constitutional Documents

During the financial year, there were no changes in any of the
Company’s constitutional documents. The constitutional document
of the Company was published on the Company’s investor relations
website (www.776.hk) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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1.2.

B8 Imperium Technology Group Limited

wE

OUR REPORT
OVERVIEW

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(hereinafter referred to as “the report”) is the 2022 Report
published by Imperium Technology Group Limited (the
“Company”,

It systematically reviews the Group’s performance and

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”).

inadequacies in fulfilling its social responsibilities and
formulating a sustainable development strategy. We
strongly believe that offering a summary of the sustainable
development disclosure of the Group to stakeholders is
conducive to enhancing our sustainable development
performance.

This Report provides information on the corporate social
responsibility performance of the Group in terms of the
environment, society and governance during the year from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022. This Report complies
with the “comply or explain” provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide and contains all
disclosures as recommended in the Guide.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The scope of this Report includes all areas of the Group’s
business over which the Group has financial significance
and operational influence and those of ESG significance to
the Group and its stakeholders. This environmental, social
and governance Report mainly covers our core business,

including:

° household furnishings business: JF A.C.R. Equipment
Supplies Co., Ltd.

° Game publishing business: Cubinet Interactive
(Thailand) Co., Ltd. Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn.
Bhd., Phoenix Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd. (/B 2
il 1R 24 5 BR /2 A)) and Seven Senses Game Company
Limited

o Esports business: Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Science
Investment Co., Ltd.

° Cloud computing and data storage business: Fujian
Qiyuan Interactive Information Technology Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The above business operations account for over 90% of the
Group’s earnings.

Unless otherwise indicated, all key performance indicators
herein only cover the data of our household furnishings
business and online game business.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

We have considered the following reporting principles in
preparing this Report:

° Materiality: the Group determines the impact of
environmental, social and governance issues on the
Group’s operations through management interviews
and surveys of internal and external stakeholders.
For more information, please refer to the Materiality
Assessment section.

° Quantification: the data in the Report is collected and
analysed in accordance with relevant guidelines and
standards, and the relevant standards, approaches,
assumptions and/or calculation methods are set out
where appropriate.

° Balance: our Report is based on the actual operations
of the Group without any false or biased information,
and gives an objective view of the Group’s overall
sustainability performance for stakeholders.

° Consistency: we have followed the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) for reporting since 2017. Where
there are any changes that may affect the comparison
with previous reports, the Group has added notes to
the corresponding content of this Report.

FEEDBACK MECHANISM

This Report is prepared mainly in accordance with the
Group’s internal statistics, various archive documents and
estimations. Should you have any feedback on this Report,
please send an email to ir@776.nk so that we can further
improve our policies in relation to sustainable development.
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R HERERRE

2. ESG STATEMENT OF THE BOARD 2. EEgNRBUEREREWH
The Board of Directors of the Group (the "Board”) is Zl»‘%%%@@%%ﬁbﬁﬁ%?ﬂﬁ_g::
pleased to release the 2022 ESG Report, which sets out the FEESGHE Ml AEBER_T=-—
Group's institutional building and performance in fulfilling TExBREFDE J@ TREESSELFE
its environmental and social responsibilities in 2022 (the MEIEERMERKE  UEESENSE
"Reporting Year”) to address stakeholders' concerns and HRAEBENBERREEREEREREN
expectations regarding the Group's sustainable development RA EELHRZE
management and information disclosure.
2.1. SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 21. AHFEREERRE
The management of the Group firmly believes that effective SEEEERGCARRARLENER 1
and excellent environmental, social and governance (ESG) LEREE BPHRACEREESE L
management can help enhance its corporate brand image DR RBRE  EMBREEEK AR o I
and reduce energy consumption, thereby reducing operating NEHEETESBARRAREEREME
costs. We are committed to incorporating the concept of THiEE R ?‘ET#TI BECE-E:3-8 ok
social responsibility into the Company’s decision-making i e
management and business operations, and seizing every
opportunity for sustainable development.
The Group’s sustainability strategy is based on four SENAREEERBENNEFELE
core areas of sustainable development, which are the RiZLEE BERE BT KMt
environment, employees, business and community. These @ BEERLERBEZERTRMAREMHEA
core areas underpin our commitment to creating value BEEENEAR  UHRELEABITBRS
for our stakeholders and enable us to deliver on our 3R o
commitment systematically.
Our Sustainable Development Goals:
EMNTHERRAR:
Business Ethics and Governance — Comply with the policies and codes developed by Imperium Technology Group. Conduct
transparent reporting and take remedial measures if necessary
— Operate in good faith and comply with all applicable laws and regulations within the
operational framework
— Maintain a high standard of corporate governance, a superior board of directors, sound
internal control, increased transparency and accountability to all stakeholders
% BERER — BTFEMEERRENBERTR - MEFE - BIERF A E R KRGS
- NBERRALERYE EEEERAANTEMBEERNERERT
- BRRKENGEER REZXNEZR RI2ONHNET SERENRYMERH
EFHE
Environmental Environmental — Regularly monitor environmental parameters and review production plans to reduce
Management environmental impact
RE REER - THEZZERB2HRBAN4LERR RERSHBNRETE
Climate Change Strategy ~— Review the Group’s policy on climate change and develop a sustainability plan to identify
and address related physical and transition risks and opportunities
AR B R - BASEREREE(NAH  THETHBEERE  UAFINELEBNERNE
B[l B2 A4 0B

60 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Our Sustainable Development Goals:

RIR - HERERRE

BMWuRERRER:
Employees Employee Care — Provide adequate support for employees and strengthen good relations with employees
BT BEET - REIRHRARXE MAEETIMRFHARE

Personnel Training

BEAM

Diversity and Inclusion

o}

ﬁ/@,/\

N\

Occupational Safety

Z2THE
Social Community Investment
e HERE

Product Safety

Emz®

Responsible Procurement

BEARE

— Create a continuous learning environment and encourage employees to develop their

careers within the Company

BERBEEENRE ITHBEESECENEREE

Respect the labour rights and human rights of all employees, maintain high ethical
standards, clearly define human resource management policies, and promote an inclusive
culture in the Company
EEMRAEIMSIRFRAE ARSESRE WERIHAANERERBRE Uk
RAINEEBAEMNXL

Promote a healthy and safe work environment

Achieve zero fatal accidents in the workplace

REBRZE2NIERE

EIESMERTRGEN

Work with local charities to support the underprivileged and the needy

Provide job and training opportunities for young people
EAMEERBOELREBEUBRERTEAL

AEBARBIEREIRE

Improve quality, safety and environmental/health performance through innovative product
design, so as to give users a better user experience

Comply with all applicable data protection and cybersecurity regulations and reduce the risk
of business interruption from cyber attacks
BREFHNERNRSEE T2UNRE /BESE ATRFEENFEAER
BIMAEANBBRENBRLENEANSERERBIBELETTNER
Require suppliers to comply with the Group’s environmental standards in all aspects,
covering workflows, products or services, child labour, basic human rights, working
conditions, compensation, occupational health and safety, and business ethics

The Group only cooperates with suppliers and business partners who meet our
requirements
EXHERETASEEAENRERE  BEIERE ERdRE EI EXAR.
TEGHE T BEREER:2 UARBXER

- SEREBRRTRAMABKNBEIMEHEHAE
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The Group will continue to review its internal sustainability
governance strategy and refine relevant policies and measures.
Meanwhile, the Group will continue to strengthen communication
with stakeholders to further enhance its environmental and
social performance and create value for our shareholders and
stakeholders in the long run.

2.2. GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Governance Structure

The Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) assumes the
role of leadership and supervision in the Group. The Board
reviews and manages ESG issues and risks every year,
ensures that they are incorporated into the Company’s
strategy, and leads the Group to develop and achieve long-
term strategies and goals. The management of the Group
is responsible for monitoring sustainability performance and
targets, reviewing the feedback from stakeholders, collecting
ESG data and information to prepare the Group’s annual
ESG report, and reporting to the Board for approval. This
Report was approved by the Board on 31 March 2023 after
being confirmed by the management.

AEBEREERERUMABNATREERE RS
FoRTERABBRRLER - R AKE R

B s EER

E-FRAREERRE

HHENRR BRAKEENRREFENEAER

EMEE -
22 ERAEBREBRER
EREE
E.E’]%% —BEUAREEESEBAEER
ENAC ETSFFHURERERR
iﬁ‘?\iﬁ&ﬁ/mﬁ’\]ﬁ%m%&ﬂﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ

REMARAER HTREAEEGHE K
fﬁﬁLﬁEQ&ETﬁ"ﬁﬁ.X%ﬁMﬁ
EERRERARERRRENABE
?E%@%EI’\JEEU'L&%iﬁiﬁ‘ﬁé‘&aﬁ
WEBEBEREN UREEENFERE
HekEgohs YMEFSER UM
EEft AREKLEEERRE K_F
=A==t RHEEFEZAB

!~| i}

Sustainability Governance Structure of Imperium Technology Group

FENMEEENUHERRELRE

Exg

Board of Directors

Audit Committee

The Management

EREES
e Assist the Board in overseeing financial
reporting, risk management and
internal control, and report to the Board
on the appointment of external auditors
and their audit work

- WMPEESEBUMBKER-  ERE
B NEREE - AR B EINERE
B EBRR T ERESSER

. BEREFTH

EXBNEERE

o Responsible for monitoring sustainability
performance and targets, reviewing the
feedback from stakeholders, and
collecting ESG data and information

BRERRBAMBE B8
TE%E’\J%/% CWERE - B RERHE
BERER
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Internal Control and Risk Management

To ensure that climate-related issues are integrated into our

strategy, the terms of reference of the standing committees

of the Board have been expanded to cover ESG issues. For

example, the Audit Committee regularly monitors ESG risks

and reviews our sustainability policy in public disclosures.

The Board is responsible for continuously monitoring and

reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal

control systems. In order to better support the decision-

making process, the Board will engage external independent

professionals if necessary to help identify and evaluate the

sustainability risks facing the Group through interviews.

Risk Category
g i)

Risk Description
B B #

RIR - HERERRE

BB 12 K Rl e B HE

RERRIRERZEE QAL RORE
FREBENTIHRBETBEAZBEERE
HekERHEEE - i EREEE
EEHERRE dekERAERR
VYEHBMELCHABEFARERRNT
g -

EFEeRAREEREARTAREE RN
MEZASRNARMUENEE MRTELH
WX HRARBEE EFTCERATER - I§
ZRNMBUERZEALTEBT A BIHR
IkFHEAREEAKERRNAR -

Countermeasures

FE ¥ 12 e

Labour Standards

¥
H
Nid

Quality Control
of Production

Materials
EEMBNEEE
bl

With the increasing awareness of human rights
protection in society, a sound labour standards
policy will help the Group avoid labour law and
goodwill-related risks, and facilitate in-house
discussions and planning.

BELERAGERARNRE TSWETE
ARKERERBRARBANS T ERABE
Rk AR EERNBNT RERE -

With the tightening of quality control and
legislation on production materials in many
countries globally, in the event of non-
compliance with quality requirements, the Group
may be exposed to legal and indemnification
risks.

ERZEABARECENEEMHNEEEH KX
FRRBUBEREE  —BTNAEE2K &
B AR A A ER R EERR

The Group prioritizes human rights protection
and conducts due diligence to prevent and curb
any form of child and forced labour in our daily
operations. We verify the candidates' proof of
identity in recruitment, employee enroliment
review, and onboarding in accordance with the
laws and regulations in the places where our
business operations are conducted.
SEERARNRE  ETEBALT UNS
MBIERFEETREMEANETREH ST -
BMKBEESESHNERER  EETHRE -
ABEHS ABRISEERGEREREENE
MEHMDEHR -

Our mission is to offer quality products to our
customers. The Group is committed to achieving
and maintaining the ISO9001 accreditation with
ongoing improvements to offer quality products
and services catering to the needs of our
customers. We also strictly abide by the laws
and regulations of the country and the quality
standards of the industry in the course of our
operations to improve our quality management
and protect our customers' rights and interests.

BEFRHEBEANESARMANES - EEK
HRESIAME FISO001 FEE R - L HEBE -
IR BENE SRR - RTERERNES
TEEEBRS  BREFEFERERMNT
$MEREE BEEHETEAE REES
3% o
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2.3.

With the increasing interest of regulatory institutions and
investors in sustainability issues and addressing related
risks, looking ahead, the Group will continue to refine
its sustainability governance, intensify the functions of
its ESG management, and enhance risk identification
and assessment, thus enabling the Group to deal with
sustainability issues more effectively and respond to
stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group’s overall sustainability policy is closely related
to stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.
We believe that a thorough understanding of stakeholder
concerns and the sustainability challenges we face will help
us adjust our sustainability strategy to achieve maximal
positive impact and reduce the negative impact on social
and environmental issues while fulfilling our corporate
responsibility. Accordingly, we strive to build trust with all
stakeholders through transparent and open communication
channels, including annual reports, ESG reports,
questionnaire surveys, regular dialogues and meetings, etc.

In 2022, in order to better understand the ESG awareness
and vision of stakeholders, the Group engaged an
independent consultancy firm to carry out stakeholder
communication activities and materiality assessment,
including: questionnaire surveys of the management and
internal and external stakeholders.

We take three steps to conduct a materiality assessment:

2.3.

EEEERBAREEZHAIREBERRER
REGHEBARRYO IEERBEITI BEXR
X SERBEETERBERRERTE
BHENRICRE HEREBTHEERE
b 0 oR B B R AR S M EA K EE
BEREBAFKEZREERDERHEN

HE -

BEEMFMG
AEENERAREZRTHEARTNHEN
SENBEEEFGHESEE - HMBEEE
BTBHOHENRBNRMEAFTEER
FHEEOKE  BEHAERRMOAFE
BREE  MERTOEELARETENHRE
FEUHEMRERBENEEAZE B
Eamgg - At RABNIEBEAR
ARAMBREE BEFHR ESGHE -
ResHAE THHELERE EREREN
ERMIEERRE -

“ECCF CRETEENEERE €
REBRTHHNRBENMESR AEEEZTE
VERARETHNEERT BREIRE
BN Hh e - EEE - MR AE
BRHEREAE -

BARDN=_EFXBALEBEE TG

Step 1
|dentify material issues

F—F

R F

Step 2

Determine material issues
£F-F

Step 3

Confirm and review
F=8

RREH

64 Imperium Technology Group Limited

We identify potential material issues that can reflect the economic, environmental and social impact

of the Group’s business or affect stakeholders’ assessment of and decision-making on the Group

with reference to the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide and based on factors
such as corporate development strategy, industry development trends, regulatory and capital market
requirements, etc.

SEFZBIGMCRE HERELBRERIDNGERABREKE TXERBY  EERAAD
SEREREZ  KKE RE #H8 BLNEAAFLHE ZBRRHRBASEXBEEINLHE -
BENLERE X BEAAUREETANARNELEESE -

We collect feedback from internal and external stakeholders of the Company through online surveys to
understand the priority issues concerning stakeholders, and rank the issues based on the impact on
the Group’s ESG development and the impact on stakeholders to form a materiality assessment matrix.
EMBEBE FRAERERAIABRIAKNEREER  UTREESAMBINEERE IR
BHAREESCERF ENHERAZEMBE N HETHF BUEEUFHERE -

The management and the ESG Reporting Working Group review and confirm the assessment results.

ERERESGHRETENEAEHLHRAFMHER -

Annual Report 2022
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Materiality Assessment Matrix

BB ML EEE
Moderately important issues Highly important issues
HERMAE BEZAE
e . . {2 " o
o
4
o
S
_8 Picture 1
< B
o
TE| 0 6] 6] (]
S o
£&
&
o 5
-
2
= M
8
S
©
= Q Q
Less important issues
EEEMHE
Materiality to the Imperium’s Development
HYEEEEERNERMN
Air Pollutant/GHG Emission Management 12 Employee Training and Development
EREAYN/ BRERBHRER EEHIEER
Sewage Discharge Management 13 Labour Standards
FEKHERLE 2 BT &R
Waste Management 14 Environmental and Social Risks in the Supply Chain
BENER HEENREREERAR
Energy Conservation 15 Quality Control of Production Materials
B 40 82 IR EEMHOEEE
Water Conservation 16 Customer Health and Safety
&1 40 3 7K EFHNREERZ D
Use Efficiency of Other Resources 17 Product Recall System
Hit &R0 AR & 7E i [ Y I B
Impact of Management and Operations on the Environment 18 Customer Complaint Handling and Response Mechanism
and Natural Resources
EREEURERANEREXNT E BFRAFR IR X M5 5
Strengthening Climate Adaptability and Resilience 19 Protection of Customers' and Business Partners' Interests
@it Rk EE N EF 1L REEPREBEERHONE
Employment System 20 Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and Money Laundering
ERHE BILEE R HERERE
Anti-discrimination, Equality and Diverse Employment 21 Community Needs and Interests
Environment
RER  FERNS T ERERER HEFEMNE
Occupational Safety and Health 22 Community Investment

BEZ2RERE

HtREE

FENEEEERAT 2022 3% 65
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Analyzed by the materiality assessment matrix, the Group's 22 BBEBEEMFEEMEE DT - KEEE2218

relevant issues are as follows, in descending order of importance:

Highly important issues °
BEEZERE .
L]
L]
L]
L[]
L]
[ ]
L]
Moderately important issues °
FEEZEAE .
L]
L]
L]
°
L]
L]
Less important issues °
EEEZaE .

66 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Employment System

Product Recall System

Occupational Safety and Health

Employee Training and Development
Environmental and Social Risks in the Supply
Chain

Customer Health and Safety

Protection of Customers' and Business
Partners' Interests

Prevention of Bribery, Extortion, Fraud and
Money Laundering

Energy Conservation

Water Conservation

Anti-discrimination, Equality and Diverse
Employment Environment

Labour Standards

Quality Control of Production Materials

Use Efficiency of Other Resources

Community Investment

Customer Complaint Handling and Response
Mechanism

Impact of Management and Operations on the
Environment and Natural Resources

Waste Management

Community Needs and Interests

Sewage Discharge Management
Strengthening Climate Adaptability and
Resilience

Air Pollutant/GHG Emission Management

Annual Report 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROSPERITY
Management guidelines and policies

The Group always upholds the concept of sustainable
development. We are aware of the possible environmental
impact of our business operations, identify the key
environmental risks we face, and put into practice the
concept of green operation. We review major business
processes to reduce the negative impact of business
operations on the environment, enhance environmental
protection capabilities, and improve overall environmental
performance, in an effort to create a sustainable future for
our next generation.

For emission and waste management, the Group aims to
fully comply with regulatory requirements and strictly abide
by all applicable environmental laws and regulations, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China. During the reporting period, the Group had no
violation of relevant regulations.

Directional Targets on Environmental
Protection

To take up its corporate social responsibility, the Group
takes an active role in incorporating environmental protection
concepts into its daily operations to ensure that its
operations are environmentally responsible, prevent pollution
and reduce resource consumption and has established
the following targets to mitigate the environmental impacts
caused by its operations.

RIR - HERERRE

= Py
Sy

EELEHREE

AFBEERSEERAARMBTAFHE
BROER BMASHIINESXBELR
R AIBEERIRIREE - BB RMIAE
WMOETERBAR BEITHEELED -
BMERIEXBRE BREXHKETY
REERNBETE  RATERRE
BEBERREXR  HHAKRMANT K
BlE—E R EBRERARK -

%

AEBNBEREBENERNTENEER
ZRAEF BBEBTHAERBNRRKRZA
FIFER - PlandR E AR AMBR TR &
A MEHMAALRBEROBR

RERENERL M

ARTOEMRRL  AEEREBER
BARANCEAYESE RREIAR
HERHRE 50550 B L BRI
A 550 7 T B B LA B B IR B AT K
S

FENEEEERAR
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Environmental targets Directional statements Measures taken during the year

REAR 73 ) 9 R FEERRMNER

Energy use efficiency 1. Reduction of unnecessary energy 1a. Employees have to turn off all electrical appliances
consumption when they leave the office after work

1b. The printers are switched to energy-saving mode
automatically when not in use to reduce energy

usage
1c. Keep air-conditioned room temperature at 25°C
e R A A A 1. RO T BEHEER ta. BEITHBERPAZR  BLBARABRLEAMEE
R

1. FOREERACANBEATES BRI GEHEA
AN BEHENHER
ic. REZHERABRK2E
2. Introduction of energy-saving equipment  2a. Use of LED energy-efficient lighting in offices
engaging in esports business to improve energy
efficiency
2b. Installation of energy-efficient office equipment or
giving priority to purchasing products with energy
efficiency labels
2. MIBERERIE 20. BEEBEBFREEBHNAE - R ALEDEEEE -
RAEREY =
b, REHEPARBIELEBERGERAAREN

EE [a[s}

Emission reduction 1. Use of energy-efficient equipment 1. Reduction of indirect GHG emissions from power
and thereby reducing energy indirect consumption through the above-mentioned
emissions (Scope 2) GHG emissions measures to improve energy efficiency (switching
from purchased electricity off power, configuring to power-saving mode, using

LED energy-efficient lighting, etc.)

B HE B 1. RASERE TP IIBENRE 1. ERLRARACRERRENEE(BHASR &
FHRREAEEMN(EEDNEERE METEN  RALEDEREES) B RS
W= FrREnELANRERE

2. Use of equipment that can reduce direct 2. Regular promotion of low-carbon green mobility
emissions (Scope 1) GHG emissions by encouraging employees to use electric vehicles

and bike hire services to travel, thereby reducing
direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions from conventional
vehicles on the road, such as carbon dioxide
2. RAURLHMERENEE)RE 2 THEEHEERGELT BBEIFREHEEL
REBHRE %%iﬁﬁ RO EGEREREFEREERR (&
—)BEREm: &k
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Environmental targets Directional statements Measures taken during the year

REAR 73 ) 9 R FEERRMNER

Waste reduction 1. Waste reduction at the source and 1a. Advocating employees to use reusable tableware
reduction of disposables and utensils to reduce waste caused by disposables

1b. Reduced use of benzene-containing solvent at the
source to avoid hazardous waste

BAOBEREY 1. RERE  RPEERM ta. REEIGAEXRCREAERA  BLNEAMD
ifi 4 B #0 RE 1)
1o, RRBHIGERERRUER BEEFASEER
)
2. Waste recycling 2a. Have technical specifications for all packaging

materials, e.g. packaging materials are not allowed
to use new 100% virgin plastics

2b. Recycling of electrical appliances and waste

2c¢. Placing multi-sort recycling bins in the office, such
as paper recycling bins and food waste bins to help
staff cultivate good recycling habits

2. BKFIREEY 2a. RERMXREREREBENE 1 BEMH

TRAFEREFNI00%RELR

2. HERRERETEYREF A

2c. EWREARE D REUAE - 540 448 [ 4 78 70 B
B EMETIHEBLCKMNEEE

3. Reduction of paper waste 3. Strengthening electronic operation and file
management to reduce paper consumption
3. RMIBMEEEY 3. MBEBFHEMELERRRER BIARNAE
Water use efficiency 1. Enhanced water-saving efficiency 1a. Replacement of equipment by more water-efficient

ones to enhance water use efficiency

1b. Regular monitoring of water equipment to monitor
water-saving efficiency

1c. Regularly educating employees to raise awareness
of water conservation

1d. Displaying an eye-catching notice at the water-
use locations reminding employees to reduce
unnecessary water consumption

Ak &z 1. RAEKHE ta. EMBEKNRE  BITAKE S

1b. FHAE R AKRE - PABRI & K&

Tc. THREBIETHE  RASGOBKNER

1d. ERKLRERTEBNRE  URESTIRHIT
/%3005
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3.1.

70 Imperium Technology Group Limited

EMISSIONS
Exhaust emissions

Exhaust gas is inevitably generated during the production of
the Group’s household products, and the exhaust emissions,
if not up to standard, may affect the environment. In view of
this, we have formulated the Measures for the Management
Exhaust Emissions for our household products business to
reduce the pollution of the surrounding environment caused
by exhaust emissions generated during production and
operations. We arrange for the person in charge of safety
management to take charge of the testing of exhaust gas
conducted on a yearly basis with reference to the Exhaust
Emission Standards issued by the state, and the production
department is responsible for the control of exhaust gas
generation in each post and the inspection, maintenance
and management of exhaust gas emission and absorption
facilities.

No exhaust gas is generated from our game publishing
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business due to their characteristics.

Carbon emissions

In line with national policies, we have formulated a series
of measures and set up a task force for our household
products business. Each year, the task force identifies
carbon emission sources, calculates and assesses carbon
emissions, reviews the assessment results and sets carbon
reduction targets for the coming year. On this basis, we
develop relevant resource management targets. In addition,
the Group actively follows the requirements of the Stock
Exchange for disclosure of greenhouse gas emissions to
calculate the total amount of greenhouse gas emissions as
comprehensively as possible.

The source of carbon emissions from our game publishing
business, esports business, and cloud computing and data
storage business is the use of electricity, so we will continue
to aim to reduce the consumption of electricity.

Annual Report 2022
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During the reporting period, the Group’s total greenhouse E HEHASENEERERERERAR
gas emissions in the tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent: —&E g s
Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
products publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business
EHHER
BEBT BTHRE  HEHE
Unit By REARER % % %
Total greenhouse gas REREHEMBE 1000 AB-4fikee
emissions 14.97 43.83 49.37 7.56
Direct emissions (Scope 1) E#& B R (8E ) 100se AB-4likgs 5.02 0.00 4.88 0.00
Energy indirect emissions 8¢ R A Z A H(EBEZ) 1C0e ABZElikEE
(Scope 2) 9.95 43.83 44.49 7.56
Emission intensity FHEE 100 peremployee  AM-—&E(iEE/BRET 2.99 049 1.4 044
Notes: o EE
- The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on — FEDERBIMEMNRBEREIIER
Environmental KPIs issued by the Stock Exchange, the 2006 IPCC wEES  ZEETANFIPCCERBRERES
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, the IPCC BI5E - IPCCHEM X R 1&21[3&13%&51(2007)
Fourth Assessment Report (2007), 1SO14064-1: Specification with 1SO14064-148 % [E X £ ¥)8 = RS HE A5 bR
Guidance at the Organisation Level for Quantification and Reporting MEMKEHRERIERM - (Energy Policy
of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals, Energy Policy and and Planning Office (EPPO) Thai Government
Planning Office (EPPO) Thai Government Ministry of Energy 2022, Ministry of Energy 2022) <<¢¥) EREH
Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions RZEF EZEmEREEERIE (2022¢ &
and Removals for Power Generation Facilities (2022 Revision), 5E HR )Y+ CARBON FOOTPRINT {COUNTRY
Country Specific Electricity Grid Greenhouse Gas Emission Factors SPECIFIC ELECTRICITY GRID GREENHOUSE
issued by Carbon Footprint in January 2023, and the Electricity GAS EMISSION FACTORS : January 2023) * &
Carbon Emission Coefficient for 2021 provided by the Bureau of SICEBERRBCONFEEENHMREE) -
Energy of the Ministry of Economic Affairs in Taiwan.
- Scope 1 includes emissions from stationary combustion sources of — WEIBRELHERAROE T EHER: A
diesel and natural gas; and &
- Scope 2 includes energy indirect emissions from the purchase of — HEHFEHBEE NNEREEER - BT
electricity. Data is not available as the office electricity consumption ZEBABRARKAEHERMEETERE
of Seven Senses Game Company Limited is provided by the property MR R SR 8% -
management company.
Waste management BEEYEE

As the control of waste has become increasingly stringent

in China,

it is critical for the company to take a step

forward, making its manufacturing process greener and

cleaner.

waste

In order to enhance employees’ awareness of
disposal, the Group also provides training on waste

identification, management and classification. We will follow

the management strategy of waste recycling, reduction and

harmlessness to reduce environmental pollution in order to

fulfil our commitment to waste management.

TEHBERYNESNAEERE ST QA
ERHERREZE BEFR - AEEARM
RETHREBRZEV ZIRHE  SEITFE

TEEYHR  TEHEI>BEI) - EKME
KEEEMBERL REML EELH
EERE BURERLEHRENSE U
BOIBRMEEEYEENERS
FEMNEEEBRAF 2022 Fif
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In order to comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, the Pollution Control Standard for
Hazardous Waste Storage and relevant laws and regulations,
the Waste Control and Management Procedures has been
formulated for our household furnishings business to clearly
set out the types and disposal methods of waste. For
the management of non-hazardous waste, the Company
classifies waste in the principle of turning waste into
treasure and reusing it. For some wastes such as discarded
secondary raw materials and parts, where applicable, we
will arrange maintenance, reuse and recycling to reduce
waste, and the non-recyclables will be regularly handed
over to the sanitation bureau for disposal. We are extremely
concerned about generation of hazardous waste, evaluate
on a regular basis the production process to identify the
sources of hazardous waste generation and formulate action
plans to reduce hazardous waste. For example, we reduce
use of benzene-containing solvent products at the source to
avoid harmful waste. For hazardous waste that needs to be
disposed of, we will engage qualified agencies to transport
and dispose of the hazardous waste in accordance with
relevant national laws and regulations. In addition, we refer
to the Hazardous Waste Identification Standards to prepare
training materials, so that employees can effectively identify,
manage and classify various types of waste.

The main source of waste in games publishing business,
esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business is daily trash generated by employees in the
office, such waste will be collected and disposed of by
cleaners before being processed by the local Sanitation
Bureau. In addition, we promote environmental recycling
by placing multi-sort recycling bins in the office, such as
paper recycling bins and food waste bins, for employees to
use, which encourages employees to cultivate sorting and
recycling habits so that resources can be recycled, reducing
the consumption of global resources and reducing general
waste. We also advocate our employees to use reusable
tableware and utensils to reduce waste at the source caused
by disposables.
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As the business of the Group has continued to shift, the
amount of waste generated by our household furnishings
business has decreased significantly and has no significant
impact on the sustainable development of the Group as a
whole. Therefore, no data are provided.

Wastewater management

In order to comply with the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Water Pollution Prevention and Control and
to meet the sewage discharge standards, we have strictly
implemented rainwater and sewage diversion for our
household furnishings business in Ningbo and have started
such diversion in underground water pipes since 2013. In
order to ensure up-to-standard water quality on a continuous
basis after the diversion, the Company has formulated the
Cleaning Procedures and requires the cleaning records
to be kept properly. According to the environmental
assessment report and the requirements of the sewage
discharge company, sewage must be treated in sewage
treatment facilities before being discharged to ensure that
the discharged sewage meets the statutory standards.
The grease traps of the staff canteen have obtained
environmental certification and are cleaned regularly
according to the Cleaning Procedures. Employees who need
to be exposed to and treat sewage are required to receive
relevant training at least once a year.

MAKING GOOD USE OF RESOURCES

The Company is well aware of the value of resources. In
order to use all resources including energy, water and
other natural resources more effectively and prudently, we
have formulated the Energy Conservation Action Plan, the
Management Procedures of Energy Conservation Projects,
the Energy Conservation Management Procedures and the
Water Management Measures.

Energy saving

Energy use has long been a key issue for global
environmental agencies. Therefore, the Group always strives
to introduce new technologies and equipment which can
not only improve production efficiency but also promote
environmental performance and reduce energy consumption.
During the Reporting Year, we have adopted the following
initiatives to improve the energy efficiency of our operations:
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The household furnishings factory in Ningbo has formulated
the Energy Conservation Action Plan which is aimed at
improving energy efficiency and raising the awareness of the
employees in saving energy to discourage the employees
from wasting energy. Each workshop would list its own
energy saving items and set targets every year, such as
reducing the use of raw materials, electricity, water and fuel.
To reduce the use of fossil fuels, we have also gradually
switched to using solar energy in our factory areas. In
addition, LED energy-efficient lighting has been used in
offices engaging in esports business to improve energy
efficiency.

A number of targeted energy-saving measures have been
implemented for our game publishing business, esports
business and cloud computing and data storage business,
so as to further reduce energy consumption, which include

the following:

° Employees have to turn off all electrical appliances
when they leave the office after work

° Keep air-conditioned room temperature at 25°C

° The printers are switched to energy-saving mode

automatically when not in use to reduce energy usage

° Promote the importance of energy, water and
resources savings among our employees and
customers

° Install energy-efficient office equipment or give priority

to purchase products with energy efficiency labels
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The total energy consumption of the Group in the past year

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

is detailed as follows:

SEEE-FNRRERREER:

RIR - HERERRE

Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
furnishings  publishing Esports storage
EXER
Type of energy ERES Unit REAR  EHEBT  EFRE  HERE
Total energy consumption BeRiEsE kWh 17,683.76 80,601.00  100,593.27 13,003.83
Total energy consumption g RIEEHRE kWh per employee
intensity 3,536.75 905.63 2,874.09 764.93
Direct energy consumption ~ B &R E kWh 56376  NATER 240275 NATER
Direct energy consumption B REEEE  kWh per employee
intensity 11275 NATER 686.31 NATER
Of which: Edp
Fuel consumption WaEes KWh TRE 56376  NATER  NATER NATEA
Fuel consumption intensity 4 i 5% & % 2 kWh per employee ThE/§48T 11275 NARER NATEBE NATERE
Gas consumption MAEe KWh TRE NATER NATER 2402075 NATER
Gas consumption intensity ¥ & & £ % & kWh per employes TRE/B48T NATER  NATER 686.31  NATEMR
Indirect energy consumption % gt 2 kWh TRE 17,120.00 80,601.00 76,572.52 13,003.83
Indirect energy consumption & REEEE  kWh per employee TRE/B48T
intensity 3,424.00 905.63 2,187.79 764.93
Of which: B
Power consumption BN kWh 17,120.00 80,601.00 76,572.52 13,003.83
Power consumption ENEERE kWh per employee
intensity 3,424 905.63 2,187.79 764.93

Note:  Energy data are converted to kWh with reference to lower calorific
values. Fuel includes diesel oil. Gas includes natural gas.
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Water efficiency

To protect the precious water resources, we actively promote
the idea of water conservation among employees and
strengthen the maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment to achieve the purpose of
water conservation. According to the Water Management
Measures developed by the household furnishings factory
in Ningbo, we reuse the cooling water from the pipe-making
workshop, and about 50% of the wastewater is recycled to
wheel vibration polishing devices through pumps. We also
carry out inspections of underground fire-fighting water to
eliminate leakage of water pipes and reduce waste of water.
We conduct regular statistics collation and analysis of water
consumption in workshops, and those workshops using
a relatively large amount of water are required to receive
assessment and be equipped with independent electricity
meters to measure their water consumption more accurately.

B K 38 3%
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The Group’s total water consumption in the past year is SEBE—FHRKBEENA:
approximately:
Water
Water consumption
consumption intensity
FEKE HKERE
m? per
m3 employee
MK
Unit BN 3 FOKR H&€EBT
Household furnishings business RXERmERS 932.40 186.48
Game publishing business TR EITER 534.84 6.01
Esports business BT HEER 4.52 0.13
Cloud computing and data storage business EERBBRIFEL 3.72 0.22
Note: Data is not available as the office water consumption of Seven W EtTEEEERATNASHKEmYES
Senses Game Company Limited is provided by the property TR kAU E HE o

management company.
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Using environment-friendly materials

Qur household furnishings business has obtained FSC
certification which proves that the wooden furnishings
produced by the Company, including cupboards and
kitchen cabinets, are made of FSC certified wood and
meet the relevant requirements of FSC certification. We
also require our suppliers to have the FSC certification
for certain materials such as particle boards and bamboo
boards. FSC hopes humans and forests can reach a balance
among the environment, society and economy, and wishes
that businesses will not cause excessive damage to the
forest ecosystem and the species diversity of trees during
timber harvesting. It also lay emphasis on the sustainable
development of forests so that local residents can live
on forests for a long time. FSC has made tremendous
contributions to environmental protection.

As the business of the Group has continued to shift, the
amount of packaging materials used by our household
furnishings business has decreased significantly and has
no significant impact on the sustainable development of
the Group as a whole. Therefore, no data are provided. The
packaging materials and chemicals we choose to use must
meet the national standards; our suppliers are required to
go through Environmental Impact Assessment Registration
or make environmental impact reports; we conduct internal
environmental assessments and regularly review and adjust
existing environmental measures to ensure their feasibility;
we also have technical specifications for all packaging
materials which require paper packaging materials to come
from sustainable sources and do not allow the use of new
100% virgin plastics.

Due to the business nature of our game publishing business,
esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business, no packaging materials are used.
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3.3.

78 Imperium Technology Group Limited

wE

PROMOTING GREEN OPERATIONS

The Group integrates environmental responsibility into its
daily business operations. To this end, the Group promotes
green operations and a green procurement policy to reduce
its environmental impact and consumption of natural
resources. Our household furnishings business has obtained
ISO 14001 environmental management system certification,
and the Group regularly conducts internal and external
assessments on the effectiveness of the system to ensure
that the system keeps up with the times.

Raising environmental awareness

As to energy conservation publicity and related training, we
have formulated the Measures for Energy Saving Publicity
and Training, and the Human Resources Department and
Technical Support Department jointly conduct training on
environmental projection for employees in hope of enhancing
their awareness of energy conservation.

In addition, in order to make all employees regard energy
conservation as their duty, we encourage employees to
actively participate in the design of various energy-saving
and consumption-reducing schemes, and will commend
and reward employees who have made special contributions
to energy conservation. In the event of a serious waste
of resources, we will consider imposing punishment as a
warning.

Promoting green procurement

When looking for high-quality products and services, other
than the reasonability of prices, we also have to consider
human health and environmental factors to reduce the
impact on the environment. We use PEFC/FCS certified
paper from responsible forest resources which dissuades
deforestation.
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Advocating green office

We advocate paperless office and promote electronic
communication via the Internet, email, internal workflow
system, etc. We also encourage customers to choose
electronic bills and place electronic orders. The online
collaborative office management platform and the related
mobile app introduced by the Group cover the day-to-day
office management and operations and approval processes
and greatly promote paperless office. The Company also
encourages employees to use double-sided printing as
much as possible and reuse all single-sided printed paper to
reduce the consumption of paper.

Vegetarian Carbon Reduction is an environment-friendly act
advocated by all places and environmental agencies around
the world. As such, we add vegetarian elements to the free
meals for our employees to help them understand that low
carbon diet is an important part of environment-friendly life
and is greatly beneficial to reducing global carbon dioxide
emissions and protecting the ecological environment.
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3.4.

wE

CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group is aware that the impact related to climate

change may bring risks to the Group’s operations. As such,

we regularly assess and review the risks of climate change

and take precautions against financial risks that may arise in

the future.

Risk Category
E R ER

Risk Description

[, B 4t
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Immediate risk
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Long-term risk
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Extreme weather events resulting from climate
change, such as flooding, typhoons, and hot
weather, may lead to damage to production
plants, supply chain disruptions, and reduced
production capacity due to work suspension.

ARRE (M5 e RmRRES - HIKR
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=

The gradual changes in the natural
environment caused by climate change,
including rainfall changes, extreme fluctuations
in weather patterns and the emergence of
unknown viruses, will affect the health and
work pattern of employees, which will increase
medical insurance premiums and incur extra
costs of work pattern transformation.
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The Group complies with the laws and
regulations in the places where its business
operations are conducted and activates
contingency responses in light of the typhoon
news released by the local observatories to
ensure the safety of its employees and assets.
We also make contributions to the five major
types of social insurances for employees,
provide regular trainings on disaster prevention,
inspect and reinforce the windows of our offices
and ensure that all windows are closed before
typhoons.

EEEKRSEZTHERER HEeBHAR
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After the COVID-19 epidemic, the Group has
intensified occupational, health and safety
measures for employees, such as allowing
employees to work from home during the
epidemic, so that the Group can resume
operations more quickly.
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RIR - HERERRE

4. PUTTING PEOPLE FIRST VNG -F:
We invest heavily in our employees, providing extensive EMANKREEEIG L BETER%
opportunities for staff training and development, robust ez FHIINER BUANRBRERLZS
health and safety measures and competitive remuneration S AR EBFINFMNAEF - £t
and benefits in order to recruit and retain the best talent. BEMBEREAS - EEERET(RE
The Group strictly abides by the Labour Law of the People’s ARKEFMELEHE) (PEARKMES
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s BERE) (REAREMEMHSREIE) -
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s BEENCERBGROD)  URaEZEMN(EBEE
Republic of China, the Employment Ordinance of Hong E) HmEHBETEEREBENERER
Kong and the Labour Standards Act of Taiwan. During EHMER  MEEBEERENIRFER -
the reporting period, the Group did not have any cases of
violation of relevant employment laws and regulations, nor
did it receive any complaints related to recruitment.
Overview of the Group’s employees over the past year is as UTREEBE—FHEESHMNRN
below:
Cloud
computing
Household Game and data
furnishings  publishing Esports storage
business  business  business  business
EXER
REAR  EHEBT  EFRE  HERE
Employee E& Unit By % % £ £
Total number of employees £ T# A & Number AH 5 89 35 17
Age profile ERAH
18-24 18-247% Number AE 0 5 21 7
25-34 25-347% Number AE 2 35 10 8
35-44 35-4475% Number AE 1 38 2 1
45-54 45-5475% Number AE 1 8 1 0
55-64 55-645% Number AE 1 2 1 1
65 or above 65 % b & Number AH 0 1 0 0
Gender profile 1R 2 15
Male g Number N 3 57 23 9
Female T Number A 2 32 12 8
Employment type ERER
Ful-time 2B Number AE 5 87 28 16
Part-time ®B Number AE 0 2 7 1
Region profile HE D
Chinese Mainland HE N Number AH 5 0 33 17
Hong Kong B Number A& 0 0 0 0
Taiwan ag Number AH 0 57 2 0
Malaysia SRAEL Number A 0 10 0 0
Thailand ZH Number AE 0 22 0 0
Others LR Number AH 0 0 0 0
Note: Bt =

— The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs
published by the Stock Exchange, data as at 31 December 2022

— HEDERBRMEGHOL S BREBIER
B3R5 - WH 1E2022F12 A31H
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Overview of the Group’s monthly average employee turnover
over the past year is as below:

UTREEEE—FNEEEAFARK
IR

Cloud
Household Game computing and
furnishings publishing Esports  data storage
business business business business
EFEREE
Employee turnover {EEHR% Unit By XERAREE BHBTEE EFHEBER REEK
Turnover rate MR = % BA 1.67 5.34 3.81 35.29
Age profile FRAM
18-24 18-247% % BOL 0.00 0.00 4.27 15.48
25-34 25-347% % BOl 0.00 4.52 3.33 38.54
35-44 35-447, % BAL 8.33 6.14 0.00 175.00
45-54 45-54, % BAl 0.00 10.42 8.33 0.00
55-64 55-647% % BOl 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
65 or above 6558 A £ % BOkl 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Gender profile EFilbais
Male 3 % BOkl 2.78 497 2.90 0.41
Female I % BO 0.00 5.99 5.56 0.29
Region profile & 5
Chinese Mainland g % BOL 1.67 0.00 4,04 35.29
Hong Kong BB % BAlk 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Taiwan =) % BOk 0.00 7.46 0.00 0.00
Malaysia BRAE D % BOk 0.00 1.52 0.00 0.00
Thailand B33 % BAk 0.00 1.67 0.00 0.00
Others Hip % Bok 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Note: B 5 -
= The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — HEDERBZMEMH LS BREBIER
published by the Stock Exchange, data as at 31 December 2022 FE#RE5| - WA 1L2022412A31H
41. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 41. FYEERE
Management guidelines and policies B T iR &
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The Group sees employees our greatest assets and the
key driver of our business success. Our businesses have
been working actively to create a working environment that
features mutual respect and harmonious coexistence of
employees and gives priority to safety; to attract the best
people and motivate them with a rewarding career, and to
equip them with the necessary skills and knowledge. We
have a dedicated human resources committee to regularly
review, improve the relevant policies, and developed a
written staff manual according to the relevant laws and
industrial standards to govern the recruitment, promotion,
discipline, working hours, leave and other benefits of our
employees.

Annual Report 2022
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Equal opportunities and diversity

We are proud of our talented employees and allow them
to achieve with their great potential. To attract and retain
the right talents are always crucial in our people approach.
We care for our people and offer them fair and equal
opportunities and benefits irrespective of their gender, age,
family status, race, religion, nationality, sexual orientation or
disability. Experience, ability and related qualifications are
the primary concerns in talent selection.

As a responsible employer, the Group will handle retirement
formalities for employees who have reached the statutory
retirement age in accordance with the relevant regulations,
and go through any dismissal procedures according to the
relevant labour laws. In the event of a work-related accident,
the Group will make reasonable compensation and handle it
properly in accordance with relevant laws.

Employee compensation

Our businesses give due recognition to employees’
contributions fairly and objectively by implementing equitable
remuneration policies. To offer incentives to our staff, our
remuneration mechanisms are reviewed and re-adjusted
regularly to remain completive. We determine employee
benefits, rest time and holiday arrangements according
to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations in the
places where all business operations are conducted, such
as making contributions to the Five Major Types of Social
Insurance and Housing Provident Fund, Mandatory Provident
Fund, Labour Insurance, Health Insurance and Pension Fund
for employees and participating in the Well-being Mutual Aid
Fund Scheme for the benefit of female employees.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
Management guidelines and policies

Employees are our most valuable resources. The Group
strictly adheres to all relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Fire Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China, so as to create a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment for our employees.

In the context of the lingering COVID-19 threat in 2022, we
were highly concerned about the health of our employees.
In order to step up prevention, our household furnishings
segment quickly developed the Prevention and Emergency
Rescue Plan and the Emergency Response Plan to regulate
personnel management and monitor the physical condition of
employees. It also developed the Prevention Training Plan for
employees to develop their awareness of the pandemic and
hygiene habits. In the game business section, it distributes
preventive kits including disinfectant alcohol and masks to
employees.

Household furnishings business

Our household furnishings factories under the Group have
developed a series of comprehensive policies to manage
occupational health and safety issues, including the
Occupational Health and Safety Policy, the Indoor Air Quality
Policy and the Fire Fighting Policy, in order to comply with
relevant regulatory requirements and meet the development
needs of the Group. We strictly abide by the provisions in the
Compilation of Laws and Regulations on Occupational Safety
and Health Supervision issued by the Ningbo Municipal
Administration of Work Safety.

Our factories arrange dedicated personnel to take charge
of the Company’s occupational health and safety affairs
and regularly review the occupational health and safety
performance. We also provide employees with adequate
training on occupational health and safety and appropriate
protective equipment, with a view to enabling them to
identify high-risk areas in the workplace, work out solutions
to lower work-related risks, prevent accidents in the course
of work and reduce occupational hazards. Each year, the
Group provides physical examinations for employees to
prevent occupational diseases and give them appropriate
health guidance.
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In addition, we carry out assessment of workplace hazards
and detection of occupational hazards on a regular basis,
and engage third-party agencies to review our occupational
health and safety performance. Through such assessment
and review, we aim to ensure the effective implementation of
all occupational safety and health measures.

Games publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

Due to our business characteristics, employees of games
publishing business, esports business and cloud computing
and data storage business mainly work in the office, and
they are not exposed to dust, radioactive materials and
other toxic and harmful substances at work, so there is
no occupational disease. But due to enduring desk work,
employees may suffer from symptoms such as wrist and
upper limb pain, muscle soreness, eye fatigue and mental
pressure. Therefore, we provide employees with ergonomic
desks and chairs, and regularly make arrange for employees
to participate in annual meetings, community activities, team
building for festivals, staff travel and other activities to help
employees relax, as well as enhance cohesion and a sense
of belonging among employees.

During the reporting periods for the last three years, the
Group did not have any cases of work-related accidental
fatalities. No work days were lost due to work injuries in the
past year for various business segments.

Employee communication

The Group welcomes and values the opinions of employees
who can express their opinions through different channels,
such as: the general manager mailbox and the trade union.
We also encourage employees to provide constructive
suggestions on the management measures and methods of
the Company. The Company will grant certain rewards as
appropriate to those whose suggestions are adopted.
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Induction Training
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Action sharing session
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Technical staff training series
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Management efficiency improvement

training
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External training
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
Management guidelines and policies

We firmly believe that continued training and development
for employees will enhance the value of the team and
professional quality of the employees themselves, thus
bringing higher production efficiency for the Group. The
Company has formulated the New Employee Training Policy,
the Employee Guidance Policy and the Vocational Skills
Training Policy to continuously improve the ability and quality
of our workforce. In order to conduct staff training in a more
regulated manner, we establish the staff training system and
incorporate the objectives into the evaluation indicators, so
as to encourage the staff to actively participate in various
work-related internal and external training activities, improve
personal professional skills, keep up with the strategic
development of the Group and strengthen the Group’s
market competitiveness.

Our training topics include the following:

4.3.
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Provide new employees with induction training which covers the Group’s background, profile, facilities,

employee handbook introduction and corporate social responsibility, so that new employees can
become familiar with the situation about the Group quickly and gain a sense of belonging

METABRKHE TEANTRESHE
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B R BIFMENREEHE

S EHEITRAZREESEERAN MBS RENEEZ -

We invite industry experts, scholars or senior mentors from external training institutions to carry out

special training sessions, so as to improve employees’ skills and comprehensive capabilities

=&

BHEITRER
MR BEN

BEREIIBBIRBEREMBERFTETI - MR E T Kak

The Group adopts a training strategy of “having old employees guide new ones” in hope of passing on

the experience and technical know-how of old employees to new ones. We also arrange experienced
staff to provide orientation and induction training for junior staff

ETHEERIREABS

SERBIAZEHNIOEIKE BESLCREBRMAE - AATELHALBNETIANRET

We carry out special training for the management, which deepens management personnel’s

understanding of corporate culture, hones their management skills, sharpens their communication
skills, and thus raises management efficiency

FRIHEEENEREN - NREEABHERUEHIEME -
PAREEBBERD  BABEUEK

We offer subsidies to our employees for participating in accredited external courses to equip them with

TEEEREE  £H

professional knowledge and skills relating to their duties and keep them abreast of the most cutting-

edge developments in the industry
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Average training hours of employees
A B PG5

Cloud

computing

Household Game and data

furnishings publishing Esports storage

business business business business

EFER

RERAM BEEBT EfHE HER®T

Unit By E S % S ES

Male 5 Hours AN 0.00 2.28 2.00 5.33

Female g Hours AN 0.00 3.81 1.83 4.81

Senior management = A & 1R [E Hours N 0.00 10.50 2.00 0.00

Middle management 4% & IE [ Hours N 0.00 14.22 2.00 3.50

Supervisor FE Hours N 0.00 4,00 0.00 0.00

General staff —fRET Hours N 0.00 0.74 1.94 519
Note: Bt % -

= The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs — FEDERBMIAEMNLSERBERIER
published by the Stock Exchange I& #R 45 3l
Percentage of employees trained
AEEIBEARE

Cloud

computing

Household Game and data

furnishings publishing Esports storage

business business business business

EFtER

REAM PR RAT BETfHE HERE

Unit By S ES £ X

Male 5 % BAt 0.00 46 66 53

Female ks % B 0.00 54 34 47

Senior management SR EIEE % BAt 0.00 31 3 0

Middle management 71 4% & 32 % Bak 0.00 31 6 6

Supervisor FE % B 0.00 8 0 0

General staff —MRET % BOL 0.00 31 91 94
Note: Mt &E

The calculation is based on the Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs

published by the Stock Exchange
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PROTECTION OF RIGHTS AND INTERESTS
Management guidelines and policies

The Company conducts staff recruitment and management
in strict accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Regulations on the Prohibition
of Child Labour, Employee Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Standards Act of Taiwan, and applicable regulations
in the places where all business operations are conducted.
It is absolutely forbidden to employ any child labour and
any form of forced labour. Once any form of child or forced
labour is noticed, the Company will strictly abide by local
laws and regulations to curb such situations.

The Company considers child labour and forced labour
intolerable, which must be eliminated. The Company has
set up strict recruitment processes to conduct an intensive
examination of identity documents, such as ID card, sign
labour contracts and create the personal file in a fair and
voluntary manner in accordance with legal requirements.

In accordance with the standard working hours stipulated
by the laws in the places where our business operations are
conducted, the Company makes reasonable arrangement of
working hours for our employees. Leave and benefits, such
as paid leave and sick leave, are provided in accordance
with labour Laws. Subject to production requirements,
our production bases arrange overtime work on a
voluntary basis, and it requires negotiation with employee
representatives and employees and approval from the local
labour department, and must not exceed the statutory
working hours. Production bases and sales divisions of the
Company in the PRC and overseas prohibit and disapprove
any forced labour or contractual servitude, corporal
punishment, confinement, violent threat, and forbid collecting
any deposits illegally from employees, withholding identity
documents and battering employees.

During the reporting period, the Company did not have

any material non-compliance incident relating to the labour
standards under relevant laws and regulations.

Annual Report 2022
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5. OPERATIONAL COMMITMENT 5, ®EEKRIE
In the process of business development, the Group always SEEREEEANRBNIRAERE B
keeps in mind that we have to manage our relationships BECRABENEEERERMEEERS
with our suppliers and customers in a responsible and MEFPHEE BMBHABTFPREHERZE
sustainable manner. We are dedicated to providing our EMELMNMRYE YHEEIEFHFEE
customers with the highest quality products and services, WA BE - BULEBRET IR REE -
and working with suppliers to create win-win results. To this WRHZEAENER  NEBAIEZEX
end, we implement different plans and measures and provide FHEnES -
safe and reliable products to achieve the vision of creating a
better society.
5.1. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT 51. tEEER
Management guidelines and policies E T it R K&
Good supply chain operations have a positive impact on the Rt R EFEHREET S EED
environment and society. Accordingly, we work closely with TE O RAUBMEHEREZME &7
suppliers to reduce relevant risks and jointly create a better BIEBEERR  XRAIE—@EETF ¥
and greener future. The Group adopts a comprehensive RERMAR SERA—E2HEHER
supply chain management mechanism, including a code of EEWRS  BETATAMMEERTMHR
conduct and a supplier assessment system, to monitor and FNERRITAHESNERMRBEE
assess the quality of suppliers’ products and services and R REMGUERERTSHEANRE -
their performance in environmental and social aspects and SETRNBRMBEREEER @R EEMN
business ethics. The Group is also committed to complying ERCRBEBHARGERBEANEEE
with all laws and regulations related to its business 5
operations, and did not violate relevant laws and regulations
during the reporting period.
Number of
suppliers of
the Group
AEBHER
HE
Chinese Mainland Bl A Number fEl 10
Other areas H b i (= Number il 0
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Household furnishings business

We monitor the quality of our suppliers on a monthly basis
to ensure that the products and services provided by
them meet the relevant contractual requirements, so as to
safeguard the quality of the products provided by the Group.
We also conduct standard training for suppliers on a regular
basis to provide suppliers with the opportunity to exchange
ideas and keep abreast of the latest industry developments
for the expansion and sharing of business opportunities.

The Company will strictly require our suppliers and their
own suppliers to comply with minimum requirements
for environmental and social performance and working
conditions when purchasing products, materials and services
and to abide by local laws and regulations, confidentiality
and anti-corruption.

In order to ensure that suppliers effectively honour their
corporate social responsibility at the community and
environmental levels, we appoint a third party to conduct SSI
system audits on suppliers each year.

The games publishing business, esports
business and cloud computing and data
storage business

The Group has developed a standard Supplier Management
Mechanism for its game business. We will give priority
to partners with sustainable development concepts who
undertake corporate social responsibilities. We hope to work
with suppliers on improving the industry’s performance in the
environmental and social aspects, and effectively managing
the environmental and social risks of the supply chain. In
addition, according to the situation, we will classify the green
products purchased or to be purchased and make a list of
green products applicable to the Group for subsequent use.
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HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS
Management guidelines and policies

Providing quality products to our customers is our ultimate
goal. The Group commits itself to establishing, maintaining
and improving the ISO9001 quality system, with a mission
to provide quality products and services to meet customer
needs. In the course of operations, the Group strictly
abides by national laws and regulations and industry quality
standards and constantly improves quality management to
safeguard the basic rights and interests of customers.

5.2.
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Product
responsibility
indicators of

the Group

AEBEW

EREREE

Percentage of products to be recalled EnBAREEZ2EHMARY Percentage BAk 0
for health and safety reasons WADL

Number of complaints about products & f M IR& VR K & B Case [HES 0

and services
Household furnishings business REHDEX

In terms of household furnishings business, we strive
to provide high-quality products. Each product will be
tested for quality and safety before being packaged as a
finished product. We have a quality control department
to be responsible for testing products, formulating testing
management procedures, and conducting final testing
according to such procedures. During the reporting period,
the Company did not violate any laws and regulations related
to product responsibility, nor did it receive any customer
complaints. The percentage of products recalled for health
or safety reasons was 0%.

In terms of privacy and intellectual property rights, all
information reports, discussions, and written messages of
customers regarding the household furnishings business
of the Group must be kept confidential. In addition, the
Company will never purchase pirated products or use photos
or designs without third-party licensing.
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Games publishing business, esports business
and cloud computing and data storage
business

For marketing and management, the Group strictly controls
the release of marketing information through the Internet,
newspapers, media and other channels to ensure the
compliance of publicity, promotion and advertising releases
in accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations
such as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Interim Measures for the Administration of
Internet Advertising and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.
For intellectual property rights, the Group strictly complies
with the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Tort
Liability law of People’s Republic of China, the Measures
for the Administration of Internet Domain Names of China,
the Administrative Measures for Software Products and
other laws and regulations to formulate the Intellectual
Property Management Policy in order to regulate intellectual
property management. We have also signed non-disclosure
agreements with our employees and business partners to
ensure the security of our intellectual property. We take
measures to prevent infringement of the intellectual property
rights of third parties, and conduct frequent monitoring and
review. If any potential infringement risk is found, the legal
department will set up an urgent working team to investigate
the potential infringement, and cease the infringement
activities against third parties through legal actions, while
protecting the legitimate rights and interests of the Group.

In terms of privacy, employees who have access to customer

information and important company information will sign
confidentiality agreements to prevent data leakage.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Management guidelines and policies

The Group requires all employees to comply professionally
with the Group’s policies on conflicts of interest,
intellectual property rights, privacy, confidentiality of
information, prevention of bribery and corruption, and equal
opportunities. The Group’s employment contract requires
employees to abide by the code of business ethics and to
refrain from corruption and bribery.

The Group strictly abides by the Criminal Law of the
People’s Republic of China and, according to its own
characteristics and circumstances, stipulates standard anti-
corruption requirements to strengthen corporate governance
and internal control and standard business practices to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of shareholders
and promote the healthy and stable development of the
Company.

The Audit Centre of the Group regularly conducts group-
wide anti-fraud publicity. Specifically, it collects the latest
anti-fraud information, including recent major fraud events
in various industries and the handling measures, prepares
anti-fraud publicity materials after compilation and analysis
based on the characteristics of the Group’s business, and
distributes the materials to all employees of the Group
for self-study, with a view to creating a sound anti-fraud
environment in the Group.

In addition, our esports business provided standard anti-
corruption training for directors and employees during the
reporting period, and formulated relevant rules for employees
to abide by, so as to facilitate the Group’s strategic
development and enhance its market competitiveness.
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The Group also provides whistle-blowing channels for
stakeholders to report suspicious activities by email,
telephone or fax. The reported cases will be independently
investigated and properly followed up. After the final review
of the investigation report, if it is specified in the handling
plan that the labour contract with any person involved in the
fraud is terminated, the employee dismissal process will be
initiated. For a fraud case that must be referred to the judicial
authority, the Audit Centre will hand over the personnel
involved in the fraud and the related materials to the judicial
authority for handling. We will take remedial measures to
rectify any procedural defects or implementation loopholes
found in any fraud event and follow up on the implementation
of such remedial measures, so as to avoid recurrence of
similar fraud events.

During the reporting period, the Company found no cases of
violation of laws and regulations related to corruption.

GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY

The Group is well aware that our responsibility is not only to
contribute directly to the economy, but also to generate a
positive impact on society as a whole through our business
operations and charity undertakings. Our household
furnishings factory in Ningbo is committed to reducing the
potential environmental impact of production on surrounding
communities. During the reporting period, we not only made
charity donations, but also encouraged employees to take
an active part in community activities such as acting as
volunteers.

Our esports business and cloud computing and data storage
business teams participated in a number of community
service activities in 2022, including second-hand items
donations, tree-planting activities, regular participation
in cultural and educational activities and visits to nursing
homes.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX BRXMC(RE  HERERHREES)ESDI
Chapter
2E

A Environmental

A BRiE

Aspect A1 Emissions 3.1 Emissions

FEA1 7 37¢) 3IHERY)

Indicator A.1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data 3.1 Emissions

EIZEALA BRI B REB R EE 3B

Indicator A.1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, 3.1 Emissions

where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

EBREAL2 B (EE)REREAE (BE) REREFRE UBHE) R(WER) BE (NAGEEEM - S1HERY

BERETHE) -

Indicator A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 3.1 Emissions
production volume, per facility).

EIEALS MEXEEREVHAECUNAERNMEREE(WUNEEEEN  BERETE) - SABER

Indicator A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 3.1 Emissions
unit of production volume, per facility).

EEALL EABREREVEABONEAE)RN(MERBE (WNBEEEN BRRKAE) - KRk it
Indicator A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.1 Emissions
EEALS I UMHREARERAZEINE LB FARMA SR o SAHEMY)

Indicator A.1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of 3.1 Emissions
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

EIZEALE HERBEERESEENNA L REAMITUOREEERSEINGELEFEMERL S1HRY
T
Aspect A.2 Use of Resources 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
HEA2 ERER 32.EMER
Indicator A.2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in 3.2 Making Good Use of
'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Resources
EEA21 RENEASNERER /IREER(WE AR AREUTETRSHEREE (MU 325RER
SEREL - SHRMHH) -
Indicator A.2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
EIEA22 BRKEREE(WNSESEML  BERZEHE) - S2ERER
Indicator A.2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.2 Making Good Use of
Resources
EIZA23 BRIV REAREEERAENELEEMERNSR - 32.EMEIR
Indicator A.2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 3.2 Making Good Use of
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources
EEA24 HKERERKR EAIBAEMER  URAFTUMAKNZEERAEIELAEMER 325RER
B R
Indicator A.2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 3.2 Making Good Use of
reference to per unit produced. Resources
BIEA25 HEmAAREMENEE UEAE)R(MER)BEESULE - 32EMEIR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

Chapter
B
Aspect A.3 The Environment and Natural Resources 3.3 Promoting Green
Operations
HHEAS3 RERAARER 3B RELE
Indicator A.3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources There were no accidents
and the actions taken to manage them. which have significant

impacts on the environment
and natural resources
during the period

EIRA3 HUEBEHERERRABERNEAZERCRDNEREHFZ ENTY - BARBHRFERRARE
RONEATENER

Aspect A4 Climate Change 3.4 Climate Change

FHEA4 RIEE 34.RIRE

Indicator A.4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which 3.4 Climate Change
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

EIRA4I HREERIHEHETAEAZENERRRERSZE  REHTY - 34.REE

B Social

B e

Aspect B.1 Employment 4.1 Equal Employment

FEB1 EfR 41T SRR

Indicator B.1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time), age group and 4.1 Equal Employment
geographical region.

EZEBAA RIER - ERER(N2BEFE) FRANGRASNES L - 41T SRR

Indicator B.1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 4.1 Equal Employment

EEB1.2 B FRANKMEREDNEERKLE - 41T EER

Aspect B.2 Health and Safety 4.2 Occupational Health

and Safety

FHEB.2 REREZZ 412BEREERD

Indicator B.2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years (including There were no work-
the reporting year). related fatalities in the past

three years (including the
reporting period)

E12B.21 BEZF BREERFE)BFRITHMOABRLE - BREBREPNNBE=F
AERAITHENH
Indicator B.2.2 Lost days due to work injury. There were no work days

lost due to work injury
during reporting period

EiZB.2.2 FAIBERTERE- REBRBERIGRAT
1E B &
Indicator B.2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are 4.2 Occupational Health
implemented and monitored. and Safety
E12B.2.3 P RANBERRET 28 WRBBRIRERLE 428 kR
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RIR - HERERRE

Chapter
=51

Aspect B.3

7 EB.3
Indicator B.3.1

1B12B.31
Indicator B.3.2

1B1EB3.2
Aspect B.4

FHEB.4
Indicator B.4.1

E1ZB.41
Indicator B.4.2

#15B.4.2
Aspect B.5

7 HEBS5
Indicator B.5.1

E1EBS
Indicator B.5.2

E1EBS.2
Indicator B.5.3

E1EBS.3
Indicator B.5.4

E12B.54
Aspect B.6

7 EB.6
Indicator B.6.1

1E1ZB.6.1

Development and Training

BRI

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior

management, middle management).

BUHRNREEERN(NERERE PREEE)EINXIEEBALL
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

BURLEEERNE D  BREETKZIOFIER -

Labour Standards

BTER

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour.

it R B ERAR R ETIRBHET -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HEEBRRERABRASAREBABRARRNLR -

Supply Chain Management

HEREE

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BRSNS MEEEHE o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HRERERHEEENED  MERTABEANHEEEE  URBABRTRERAE
Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply

chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HRAEEBANRERGTERONREREGRRBNES  UREBRTRERFZ -
Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HIEREHEFRRRESARRER RRENEN  UREBATRERN X

Product Responsibility
EmET

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEIEEREMmBETRRZ 2

z

RREAMADRNBES L -

FENEEEERAR

4.3 Training and
Development

435 FI% R

4.3 Training and
Development

435 FIE R

4.3 Training and
Development
435I R

4.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

4ARRRE

4.4 Protection of Rights and
Interests

AR RE

There was no violation
during the period
HARBERBR

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

St ERE R

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

St ERE R

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

It ERER

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

It ERER

5.1 Supply Chain
Management

It ERER

5.2 High Quality Products
5.2BEEm

There were no products
subject to recall for safety
and health reasons during
the period
BARFERRZ 2 RE
FR 32 | 1 /8 2 1
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R HERERRE

Chapter
=51

Indicator B.6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with. There were no complaints
due to quality problems
during the period

#E1ZB6.2 BEREEREMRRBENRFBEAREH L - HAREEmEMRENR
Fil

Indicator B.6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. 5.2 High Quality Products

¥12B.6.3 HHEGERRENEEEFBHOEN - 52BEEm

Indicator B.6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 5.2 High Quality Products

E12B.6.4 HOEERTAERERDWKER 52BEEMm

Indicator B.6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented 5.2 High Quality Products
and monitored.

E1%B.6.5 HREBEERRERLBRE UREBRTREEFE 52BEEm
Aspect B.7 Anti-corruption 5.3 Corporate Governance
HEB7 REF 5.3 ¥ n
Indicator B.7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or There were no corruption
its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases. proceedings during the
period
BEBTA REGRBAGBETARAGERLIEEENBETHARHNHERFLRLER - BAREETHRDRN

Indicator B.7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are 5.3 Corporate Governance
implemented and monitored.

EEBT.2 W BEERRRER  URBERTRERGE - 53 %7018
Indicator B.7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 5.3 Corporate Governance
E1EB7.3 HARMEEREIREMNRETE - 5.3 ¥
Aspect B.8 Community Investment 6. Giving Back to Society
7 EB.8 HERE 6. Bl &
Indicator B.8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health, 6. Giving Back to Society
culture, sport).
E1EB.8.1 ErERER(NHE  REFE - BIFK BE -t BAE)- 6.6 £& &
Indicator B.8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 6. Giving Back to Society
1B51EB8.2 EZEFERMBHABR(NS BIHER) - 6. Bl &
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

A\ Crowe

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
IMPERIUM TECHNOLOGY GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Imperium
Technology Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to 268, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B ARET RS

BEEE (FE) StMEBERAT
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

B8 REE ISIEET7R SR 0oE
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

BEENEEEERAT
2K
(REEREEMR I HERAT)

=R

ZEEEXEN0E68E ATE TR EEERR
AEI([BERANDERENBAR(BEEE) 2 KA
BH&k BER-ZE-__F+-A=+—HZA&K
AUBRREK HEZBLFEZEABER
REBHEREMEZARSR HKEAESEIRK
HERenERUREENBREMTE B E
ZRHABEME -

EERA  HAMBBRERETEGHMAS(E
BEMAR)RMcEEW KRS ENTER
MHBELENDENEERQAFHBETR E5E
R-B-_F+-_A=+t—HZHEEUBHRRIRK
HBEZALFEZEAMBRAMREARER
B VEREFEERAKIZBEERELRBHE

FENREEARAT

2022 &% Q9
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BEN RS

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to Notes 6.1 and 6.2 to the consolidated
financial statements, which describe the risks and uncertainties
with respect to blockchain technology and the evolving nature of
the cryptocurrency markets. The currently fast developing nature of
cryptocurrency markets including evolving regulations, custody and
trading mechanisms, the dependency on information technology
integrity and security, as well as valuation and volume volatility all
subject the cryptocurrencies and blockchain platform business of
the Group to unique risks. These conditions in our view are of such
importance that they are fundamental to users’ understanding of
the Group’s cryptocurrencies and blockchain platform business and
the consolidated financial statements. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$180,351,316 during the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
HK$71,295,581 and HK$128,312,118 respectively. As stated in note
2, these events or conditions, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Annual Report 2022

RREE

EERBEESAMASEMIBEERTERN(E
BEMEADETER - BFEZFER T A&
ENECCEEARESRBMABRE S MK W
RARFEZEE|I-—HPE—FTHL- EFRIE
BEGHMASEXSAMBERTA(TRD B
YR BEEE BESFRETACSEREMER
BEE-5F5HGE BEMRBIERRERAE
RRRHEENEEROIKRE -

58 3 5 15

EERBTHGA MG ERM E6IM6.2 - Kb
#0300 B8 I 0 8 4 10 L B T 98 B 2 DA R
ESETHTHEROME - AN NEEB T
BOREE I E S RAE  FE TR S M T
i WARNETEERREOEE  URME
BERRSERD FARSEEHS BEEM
MEEERERRTALBEEE AR -
RE BERZAB-TEEL REPAFT
B OEEENTEAREARTARGREGA M
BREOERE - BMYRFEOE L LD E
-

I &
= =T

FRGEKSENERTRES

ZERBEIGAYBHREMTF2 - HhEL &
ERREBEE_ZT_—_F+-A=+—HLFEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit
matters we identified are:

1. Valuation of investment properties

2. Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible

assets

Recognition and valuation of cryptocurrencies transactions
and balances

B ARET RS

HREZER

FAREZEHESESHNEXHE D  FERAHLER
EMBHRRPEREENER EERNERERER
EMBBRREBEMSERARRUEKAER  mT
ERUHSFFTHREFERER - BB WERE

ZEER:

1. REWMEMEE

2. BEKEMENEEREN
3. MEZEEBRH M EHROERRMGE

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

HREELER

EEHEERTEEBRERSTENT X

Valuation of investment properties

BREWEMLE

Refer to note 5(b)(v) and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements

2B 4R 6 B 15 3R M FE5(b)(v) K19

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be HK$20,496,599 as at 31 December
2022 with a net revaluation loss for the year ended 31 December
2022 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of
HK$534,000. Independent external valuations were obtained in
order to support management’s estimates. The valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant
management judgments including the adjustment factors used
on comparable properties. These adjustment factors were either
based on public published data or substantially unchanged since
prior year.

EREBYMAR_Z__F+-_A=+—H BEEEREWEZ
RILEH /520,496,509 T - RBE_F__F+_A=1—H
FFEERGEEBEERBGEMLEIRFIR34,0008 T - ©NIFH
4%%%@%&#”@@%@& HEDNBEINEEEERERE
M%m S THAREBR BEAELRMEMKAAREE - %

SRBRAZENRARTZHEEIE FEFERNERTE

The valuation technique in estimating the fair value has been
changed from market comparable approach to investment
method. As the new independent external valuer considered
the investment method is more appropriate than the market
comparable approach in order to consider the existing rental
agreement entered by the Group. With reference to the sensitive
analysis by using the market comparable approach for the fair
value as at 31 December 2022. No material difference incurred
due to the change in valuation technique.

REFTAREER  HEXMEHEDBALERREERX - %
BEVAZBEMRS  SET BESEEEAVZHEE RS

s REEL AN LA S AAE - BEERBE ST - TR
AmEA A E—_E S+ A=1+—22AABEETH
Wt mAGEE MR MEEE AR -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuation of investment properties included:

EERHEEENAREVENRFEHE:

Assessing the external valuer’s and
our valuation specialist’s qualifications,
experience and expertise considering their
objectivity and independenoe;

BREEI I EN =N EEHEERNER -
KB REFEME - I%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ:

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions
based on our valuer specialist and our
knowledge of the property industry;
ERNEEZHESR EEHYETENH
A 5@%%%&m&m&eﬂ HEE M

Obtaining the second review opinion issued
by our valuation specialist; and
EREEFHESRLAZE_RERER:
&

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy
and relevance of the input data used.
BRAGEEEREMRABABBENERER
MR -

FERNEEBERAR 2022 Fif
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

HAREELER

EEEBRTEEFARERSETENT X

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

mE R E LA ERE G

Refer to note 5(b)(ii)(iii), 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements

2 B 476 B 1% 3k M 315 (b)(i) i) © 21% 22

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of certain subsidiaries in
previous years, the principal activities of which are the operations
of online games.

éfgﬁgmﬁ%W%%FW%QE@I%%%%%Eﬁtﬁ

The other intangible assets represent game intellectual
properties and licenses, game software, rights on esports
team and trademark. Management performs impairment testing
of goodwill annually. For other intangible assets, impairment
testing is performed when indicators of potential impairment
are identified. In performing impairment testing of goodwill,
management considered that the entire operations of the online
games operated by these acquired subsidiaries represented one
separately identifiable cash generating unit (“CGU”).

Hin B\ EERBRABERELIRE BT EFHEK
WERUALREERE ERESFHREETRENR - st A&
EAEMs BEEEEZRREZEREDRFETRENR -
EHHEMEMETLEELETRENRAK EBEZRZED
WHENBARESENR T EH BB KEEBEN—EES
BrReELEN(REEEEML]D) -

Management assessed potential impairment by using the value
in use method and engaged a firm of qualified external valuers
to assist in preparing the value in use calculations. The value in
use calculations required the exercise of significant management
judgement and estimates.

ERBAEREBEETEEERE  YEFSERNINBEE
éﬁgﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁoﬁﬁﬁ%%@%%ﬁﬁik%ﬁ@%
N AEE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment included:

EEEREEBHRAENEFERE:

— Understand management’s impairment
assessment process;

- THREEENREGERERF:

— Challenge management’s assessment
of whether indicators of impairment are

present;
— %ﬁ%ﬁ@%%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

= Assessing the external valuer’s and
our valuation specialist’s qualifications,
experience and expertise and considering
their objectivity and independence;

— NP EBRARIREEFMEZEREMKESR
EFENER KBRANEXANZ WEEH
B AN LM

— Working with our valuation specialists to
review the integrity of the value in use model
and the appropriateness of the discount rate
adopted by management;

— BHEEZRCFEHNEREBERA 2 TBL
REBEHFAZUBREXNEEN:

— Obtaining the second review opinion issued
by our valuation specialist;

- EREEHEZERLAZEF_HEZER:

— Checking input data to supporting evidence
including historical data and budget;

= HEARBREAEHARE(BEELEBENE
H)ELL %

— Challenging the reasonableness of
management’s key assumptions underlying
the cash flow forecasts in view of the
historical performance of the CGU and our
understanding of the business; and

— RERTCELBMUNBERRUALBEMAEER
BHTH BREEENTZ2RR  HER
enERAZEEMN: &

— Considering the adequacy of the impairment
testing disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

- ZTEBEAMBHREAREAAKEESR

7]
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

HAREELER

EEEBRTEEFARERSETENT X

Recognition and valuation of cryptocurrencies transactions and
balances
MEEERS REROERREE

Refer to note 5(a)(ix) and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
2B 47 & B 1% ;& M 5E5()(ix) k27

The Group during the year entered into transactions involving
cryptocurrencies. The Group has cryptocurrencies of
HK$6,322,637 at the year end date classified as current assets.
AEERFRNETIENMBEENRS - BEEERFEBEHE
F6,322637TETMNEZEY  BRARDEE -

The type and form of these assets can differ significantly with
regard to the ability to make payments, trade or exchange. In
addition, not all cryptocurrencies have an active market whereby
transactions in the cryptocurrencies take place with sufficient
frequency and volume in order to provide pricing information on
an ongoing basis. Cryptocurrencies can be subject to high levels
of volatility.

EXf - RGERABENTE  ZFEENRERBEAARRTF
EEAEZR - I WEMAMBEKHAERTENTS BEF
RHABRERBENNEGEERG  UEHBERHEEEEM M

BERAGRERISERDINTE -

On the other hand, HKFRSs do not specifically address
accounting for cryptocurrencies. Accordingly, for the
preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
management needs to take reference to latest HKFRSs and
IFRSs publications, market practice and apply judgements
in determining appropriate accounting policies based on the
existing accounting framework and the facts and circumstances
of the Group’s cryptocurrencies related businesses.

S—HH G EENBHRELENTEAREENTEBHNSTHAE -
Hit £/ EEENGEEMBHRRE EEEFTRERAE
EHAERARAEENNEZEEEHEEENEERER  £F
FHENGTRRERFTL2ERIMOE B I IS LR &R
B ELER QM - T35 18 0 I 4E 2 -

In responding to the identified key audit matter we
completed the following audit procedures:
HHERRNEREREFE BEETKUATE
BT

= Obtaining our understanding of the internal
control environment in operation for the
significant income streams and undertaking
a walk-through to ensure that the key
controls within these systems have been
operating in the period under audit;

= AT R E E WA RIRE T R H A B
RIE - WHET—RES  UBERZFRAA
WEAREHESZBR -—BEEET:

= Performing substantive transactional testing
of income recognised in the financial
statements, by vouching a sample of
transactions within the Group’s wallets to the
respective blockchain with the assistance
of our in-house professionals with expertise
in the industry, and testing the fair value on
initial recognition;

— HUMBHRRTERHDBAETEELERS
AR ERFMETEEXRAIORNBEE
AEBRHGHT mMEERBRERHE S5£E
BEARGNER  TEDBERRAIAR
A

— Observing the performance of the transfer
of an amount of cryptocurrency from
the Group’s cold wallet storage with the
custodian to a different wallet to test the
rights and ownership of the cryptocurrencies
with the assistance of our in-house
professionals with expertise in the industry;

— ERMATERERABZNALERAEN
MBI BRES—THENNEEER
SENAEEAABAMTREREERIS
BEEBHRE AR INEEESERN LA
B

| mg
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

HAREELER

EEEBRTEEFARERSETENT X

Recognition and valuation of cryptocurrencies transactions and
balances (Continued)

MEZEEBXZREHRNERREEGE)

Therefore, there is a significant risk of material misstatement
of cryptocurrencies, due to both the significant management
judgements and estimates involved in accounting for such assets
and the volatility attributed to cryptocurrency assets.

Hitr Mz s FEEREREAR - BN E B EEET
SHEREBRFRNERERBAB NG URNBEEEEDN
BN 1 BT BR o

In responding to the identified key audit matter
we completed the following audit procedures:
(Continued)

HEEBMNNAREZEFE ESETKUTE
ZiRF - (B&)

= Confirming the title to and quantities of
the cryptocurrencies within the Group’s
wallets with the assistance of our in-house
professionals with expertise in the industry;

= Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ¥§¥ﬂ%mW%ﬁ¥A§m
WENT - R SEEEANESBHMR
ERREE:

— Testing management’s reconciliation
of wallet balances at the year end date
between the operating systems, accounting
system and publicly sourced data on the
blockchains. This included reconciling
the wallet balances and transactions from
the Group’s book and records to data
independently acquired by us;

— RAHEEENFEBEEERS 5 F
MTABEEAREEEBRE FARKRBED
Y BEzYE EEERBNRCHETOE
EHRENMRZEEZFIESNBE:

= Reviewing and testing underlying
agreements giving rise to the receipt of
cryptocurrencies;

— BERAFGERRNEEENENRE

— Agreeing the fair values of the
cryptocurrencies at the transaction date;

- BENEEERIZBEHNRARE:

= Confirming that only the cryptocurrencies
traded on an active market have been
measured at fair value at the transaction

date;
— BRRABEETERMEB ELRXZHMNE EER
/\%EHZ/D\/ITJTEH-I—E

= Performing net realisable value test on the
carrying amount of cryptocurrencies that
held for sale by comparing to the price of
the cryptocurrencies as at the year end
date;

— mBEMESERFE EWF*LH%?
%%ﬁﬁ%M%‘MM%E@ TR #1
FERIE
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter
BREXRSHE EEEBERTEEREERSEENS L

In responding to the identified key audit matter
we completed the following audit procedures:
(Continued)
HUHERRNEREREFER  EFETKATE
R (48)

= Understanding and evaluating the
accounting policies adopted by management
for its cryptocurrencies related businesses
based on the contractual and business
arrangements with respective customers
and counterparties; and

— THREIHEEBRRBEETPREFIN
BRAREBEREREME EWHRE R
REHETHBER: &

— Assessing the Group’s application of
current HKFRS standards in relation
to the accounting for cryptocurrencies
and satisfying ourselves as to the
appropriateness of the recognition and
measurement criteria adopted and the
disclosures of cryptocurrencies held at the
reporting date.

— TEASREENTES et T EEART
ERVBEREENNBER  LIEMPTER®A
B HE R K st 2RI A R R E B H TR0

BERNHRBERLRE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other
Information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

1 08 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

31 March 2023

Alvin Yeung Sik Hung
Practising Certificate Number P05206
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meBmK
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
2022 2021
—_E__ —=EF
Note HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
REVENUE Y 3% 8 133,101,149 | 161,124,366
Cost of sales 5 & KA (112,684,676)| (141,918,086)
Gross profit E A 20,416,473 19,206,280
Other income NN 9 5,768,907 691,547
Impairment of receivables, net JE U 3k I8 R B F R (1,159,184) (2,687,266)
Distribution costs 7 88 A AR (13,247,236) (17,8983,827)
Administrative expenses THRAX (128,667,460)| (67,174,016)
Impairment on non-financial assets R EERE (26,990,942) (10,060.657)
Write-down on cryptocurrencies WO = B (16,971,751) (7,004,817)
Other operating expenses EmgeER% (7,551,071) (4,633,553)
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS REEE (168,402,264)| (89,556,309)
Finance costs Bl & A AR 13 (12,202,801)| (10,626,672)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREE AT 18 (180,605,065) | (100,182,981)
Income tax credit/(expense) FriEfiEe, () 14 253,749 (199,715)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRER 15 (180,351,316)| (100,382,696)
Attributable to: LTRALEA:
Owners of the Company RARHEER A (180,883,917)| (99,031,460)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR HE = 532,601 (1,351,236)
(180,351,316)| (100,382,696)
LOSS PER SHARE BRER
Basic HAR 17 (0.58) (0.33)
Diluted g (0.58) (0.33)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBaRkEMaEEiaER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
& 7T 78 TC
Loss for the year FRER (180,351,316)| (100,382,696)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Hi2mE((ER)/ W :
Items that may be reclassified to profit or 10ss: AIEEE#T M E R YA H -
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations ¥ E /BN EEMEL£ 2
P& i =% (2,444,002) 1,908,073
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, SREMZEH(EFE) K #F
net of tax (BrBi%) (2,444,002) 1,908,073
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREZHEHERAE (182,795,318) (98,474,623)
Attributable to: BUTA TR
Owners of the Company KARHEA A (183,327,919)| (97,123,387)
Non-controlling interests IE #72 B% #E = 532,601 (1,351,236)
(182,795,318) (98,474,623)
FENEEEERAR 2022 F 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BEEIR LR

At 31 December2022 A —E - —F+-_A=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —F
Note HK$ HK$
B 5 BT 78 TC
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y2 - BB R 18 14,767,675 33,895,356
Investment properties "EMEHE 19 20,496,599 22,201,938
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20 21,238,819 46,845,654
Goodwill B 21 2,982,214 2,982,214
Intangible assets EBREEE 22 65,184,507 46,420,779
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments & & - H ity i U 30 I8 &
T8 TR IE 26 12,698,300 9,796,000
137,368,114 162,141,941
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 23 1,507,604 1,175,653
Contract costs B AR AR 173,213 180,534
Loan receivables and interest receivables FE U B 3R K e U F B 24 3,602,861 6,949,334
Trade receivables FE W E 5 BR 3K 25 33,998,453 26,976,583
Current tax assets BNHAFR 18 & &= 31,594 134,120
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments &4 - H fit & Uk 30 I8 &
T8 7R IE 26 18,774,797 18,898,751
Cryptocurrencies e &8 27a 6,322,637 22,670,013
Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables mEsEgEe R
FEW I & ¥ 27b 1,878,715 6,340,469
Cash and bank balances H & RIR1T 4 &% 28 42,763,888 43,026,210
109,053,762 126,351,667
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables FERTE B IR K 29 10,179,350 5,361,514
Cryptocurrency payables FERINE &% 1,045,327 103,752
Lease liabilities HEAR 30 6,260,396 8,145,346
Loan from related parties KREBE T 2BER 31 78,270,222 194,526,754
Other payables and accruals E A ET A K EFTIEE 32 82,613,083 76,902,730
Retirement benefit obligations RINBFEE 33 56,286 58,253
Contract liabilities aHBE 34 1,895,846 7,476,605
Current tax liabilities BNEAT TE B & 28,833 13,889
180,349,343 292,588,843
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE (71,295,581) | (166,237,176)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HMEERABARG
LIABILITIES 66,072,533 (4,095,235)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR e BRI MR

At 31 December 2022 — T - -+ -_A=+—H

2022 2021
—_E__ —=F
Note HK$ HK$
M 5 BT B TT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 3,861,832 5,389,875
Long-term loan from related parties REBE S 2 RBER 31 188,353,436 —
Retirement benefit obligations BRINEFE 33 281,576 324,107
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEE 35 1,887,807 2,631,761
194,384,651 8,345,743
NET LIABILITIES FEE (128,312,118)| (12,440,978)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAXR®E
Equity attributable to owners of the Company N2 7] # B A FE {5 A% 4
Share capital & 7 36 3,110,360 3,110,360
Reserves B (127,124,239)| (17,757,168)
(124,013,879)|  (14,646,808)
Non-controlling interests FEERER (4,298,239) 2,205,830
CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES B A A (128,312,118)|  (12,440,978)

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Ting Kong
BT R
Director

=1

TEERRHEE

Yeung So Mui
BES
Director

=

FENREEARAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SGERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Note HK$ HK$
BT = BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZHHNEELRE
Loss before tax bR 5t Al /&5 18 (180,605,065) |  (100,182,981)
Adjustments for: KRR
Net fair value losses on investment properties BREWMERALBEEEREFSE 19 534,000 450,250
Investment income HERA 9 - (108,120)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREHE 48,666,487 35,102,316
Finance costs B & KR 13 12,202,801 10,626,672
Interest income ) S WA 9 (53,418) (41,747)
Equity-settled share-based payments DA B #4530 DARR 10 R B HE /Y
DE:S 56,075,086 7,466,336
Write-down of cryptocurrencies N E B RMOR 27a 16,971,751 7,004,817
Impairment of cryptocurrency deposits and NEEEEZS kB MNZ &K
receivables A 27b 6,602,039 3,060,657
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BERKEZ
equipment (W) BB (20,040) 690,915
Gain on lease modification HEBT 2 W= (6,467) (145,874)
Impairment of receivables JE U SR IR R (E 1,159,184 2,687,266
Impairment of intangible assets BREERE 22 - 7,000,000
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ME - BERSERE 18 9,268,626 =
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE 20 11,120,277 =
Write off of property, plant and equipment MEME - BEREE - 94,747
Write off of right-of-use assets MEEREEE (98,936) =
Write off of deposits, other receivables and WisE e - B e FRIE
prepayments SEENE 3,787,415 =
Loss on write off of intangible assets WHEFEEEZERE 2,493,681 —
Operating loss before working capital changes B EECEYN KEER (11,902,579) (26,294,746)
Increase in cryptocurrencies % & g (624,375) (29,674,830)
Increase in cryptocurrency deposits and receivables 1% & ¥z € & FEW N2 & %
0 (2,140,285) (9,401,126)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEWEM,md (331,951) 15,528,181
Increase in trade receivables JE U B 5 BR FR3E N (4,776,052) (16,356,381)
Decrease in loan receivables and interest receivables [& U & 7% & & i 71| 205, 4 879,971 3,508,820
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, other receivables & & - E A fE U I8 R FBA F0A
and prepayments () /> (7,504,261) 3,290,247
Increase in trade payables e B 5 B ZE 0 4,817,836 227,052
Increase in cryptocurrency payables &5 N2 & 3 AN 941,575 103,752
Increase in other payables and accruals H At B 5 2008 K & 518 B 0 5,710,353 6,722,506
Decrease in defined employee benefit REREBRFAD (44,498) (173,198)
Decrease in contract liabilities BRNEERD (7,376,811) (510,479)
Decrease in contract costs B KA, D 7,321 179,412
Cash used in operations KEMAMNRSE (22,343,756) (52,850,790)
Income taxes paid BENER (372,735) (549,616)
Interest on lease liabilities HEARMNE (1,205,130) (859,915)
Net cash used in operating activities KEFEMAMNE €55 (23,921,621) (54,260,321)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

2022 2021
—=E2_-= T
Note HK$ HK$
B 5 BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBHHNELRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BENREE (3,301,768) (35,201,972)
Acquisition of intangible assets WiEEFEE (38,567,022) (12,769,824
Acquisition from non-controlling interest B R ER N E (7,700,900) -
Payment for right-of-use assets FRABEE TR - (17,500)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE BERZREZ
equipment FTi3 578 1,073,697 1,784,510
Investment income received EEERA - 108,120
Interest received 2 H 2 53,418 41,747
Net cash used in investing activities REETHAMAMNRESFE (48,442,575) (46,054,919)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B ¥ %8 %% ¢ i &
Proceeds from placing of shares il & i 17 P 15 3008 - 116,171,251
Bank and other borrowings raised FEBTREGBES 80,000,000 20,500,000
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EBEBITREMEE - (6,026,990)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRZzZAEH S (8,872,923) (44,529,731)
Interest paid EfF S (48,328) (164,889)
Net cash generated from financing activities BEETHELNRSFH 71,078,749 85,949,641
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND REeRBASEENNFERD
CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,285,447)|  (14,365,599)
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExgnsoyE
CHANGES 1,023,125 2,242,878
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—BA—BzEEREEEEY
1 JANUARY 43,026,210 55,148,931
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R+=A=t-AZALR
31 DECEMBER REEEY 42,763,888 43,026,210
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERBESEYIM
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be RIBTES 42,763,888 43,026,210
FENEEEBRAR 2022 F 3R
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1.

118 Imperium Technology Group Limited

GENERAL INFORMATION

Imperium Technology Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands. The address of its
principal place of business is Room 02, 26/F, One Harbour
Square, No. 181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Diamond
State Holdings Limited (“Diamond State”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is the immediate
parent and Mr. Cheng Ting Kong is the ultimate controlling
party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and
Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“the Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$180,351,316 during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date,
the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
HK$71,295,581 and HK$128,312,118 respectively. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. Notwithstanding the
above, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the directors have
given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and are satisfied
that the borrowing facilities from three of the Group’s related
companies owned by the ultimate controlling party of the
Company and the ultimate controlling party of the Company
for its working capital requirements for the next twelve
months will be available as and when required, having regard
to the following:

(i) Up to the date of the consolidated financial statements
were authorised for issue, three of the Group’s related
companies owned by the ultimate controlling party
of the Company, a director of the Company and
ultimate controlling party agreed to renew and not to
demand for repayment for the borrowings amounting
to approximately HK$78,270,222 currently included in
the current liabilities at 31 December 2022 for at least
the next twelve months.

(if) Undrawn borrowing facilities amounting to
HK$10,000,000 was committed by the ultimate
controlling party of the Company.

2.

fmBLE & ()

ZEGE AR RME TH LEER
FEEMBHREEL  RAKEASHE
BREMKAEEMNER - NEBEET X
ERAZEEAEEEN BT ETHEA
BRI LB EAMER S ERERD
ETRAEHERZXES U B HERRARBR
A B3 & FH &7 K S o

AEBREBEE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8H1
& [Z E 4 F B 18180,351,31678 T » M A&
ERZENTBAEFEREBEFED B
7571,295,581%8 7T }2128,312,118/8 7t ° i%2 &
MABRGFEERTEENE AT ASE
EEBESECEZRENERRER - B
REBTEEEBBART —TEHBEE
ESRIBAERR  REFL LB
BREVBRRDEFBELEEERE R
AeEELEEZEANEEE /T RER X
RRBELHTE BEXAAEE=XR
BB AR (BARRIERERFTER) AR
RARREERAFZEERE  DHHEK
R+-—_EAALBESHT REFTERT
TERA  HETISBERRR:

(i) HEGEAVBREAESZETIZAH -
AEB=REH A (HAARRRK
TRGHEE) ARRl—REE K&
BRIERTREEEETHRED KK
TZEARNEREER=_T ==
+ZA=+—HAHHKT78,270,222/%
TZEE@ERFARDAERE) -

(ii) RIZELE & B E10,000,00078 7T B 4%
DA BRI AR o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Having taken into account the above, the directors consider
that the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
meet in full its working capital requirements and financial
obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to restate
the values of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to
classify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets
and liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
and HKASs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs and HKASs issued by the HKICPA for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for
the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3  Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds
before intended use
Amendments to HKAS 37  Provisions, contingent
liabilities and
contingent assets:
Onerous contracts
— cost of fulfilling
contract
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual improvement to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs and
HKASs in the current year has had no material effect
on the amounts reported and/or disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. EHFHITRKBIBEEAUKEREE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Al (&)

STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs and HKASs in (b) CHEMBEERERZFITRE
issue but not yet effective BIIEEMBERELEAREE

gl

The Group has not applied any new and revised REBVEREEANUTERME
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet REZZEZZF—A—HHRABRZYERE
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January BERMRERZHATREEBITESY
2022. These new and revised HKFRSs and HKASs BREEREBGAEL - ZF
include the following which may be relevant to the NI RGBT BB HBREELNR
Group. FAT A ge e RS EH B R R 2R o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTHEBRz2&HS
ZETHEEN
HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts 1 January 2023
ERVBRELNFI7TR — RIeaR —E-=%—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:
EEGERFEIR B — MBHRERZEHR:
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023
REBEDERRBHIERD —T==%—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and HKFRS
EEGERFIR B — UBRRZEBREBU KRS ER
Practice Statement 2, Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting 1 January 2023
policies
ERMEFE2T — FRHERMAHE - @ BR2RE —T=-=%—HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates 1 January 2023
and errors: Definition of accounting estimates
FEGERIESHRE 2B — G BR S EAEPHRER: —ET-=%—A—H
EEREERENEE:
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to assets and 1 January 2023
liabilities arising from a single transaction
BERGHERBI2R 2B — R HE—RSGELWEERAEE —E_=%—H—H
#9695 AL B H
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 3. RMFIRKBIEBUHEREE

122 Imperium Technology Group Limited

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs and HKASSs in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. investment
properties that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(@) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns.
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4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability
to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of changes in equity
within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and owners
of the Company.

(a)
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

124 imperium Technology Group Limited

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued,
liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.
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4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Business combination and goodwill
(Continued)

The excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration
transferred is recognised in consolidated profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase which is attributed to
the Group.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment
reviews are undertaken annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the
fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

(b)

EBSORBEE @

PPEENRECEANBLASERE
HHEBRRARMNEEREBEZA
REEZZERIEFRE AKHEHE
HRAIBBEERBREZ AR FEE
HrEBEAORBzEAMZZEAR
FERDABRRASEEAEZZE
BB s -

RBRR 2 EEFEREN IR
FEBRBREEZMNB AT NKE
ERZHABREERABZARF
BEHIEE -

RANIRTER IR - BB TR K AR R
FUREEEASE - BURENANS
EBEHMEGZREEIRER
PRI ERNEHBRAMEZERE
EXEN(REELAEMNDHES
ELXBEVMAR BEAOIEZIRE
M EMERNSAREARAIE
BEMNMERBEIRERER-B
BEEFETRERS  AEBFEH
IR 15 B B RN R RE 3R RLE
B FhERERS - 2AREZ
ReELEU s FmERETKRD
THEFELE  ATRESBERERE
BEAABREERNAIAMEZRR
E-EAREERBRABAX A
Hgremm -

FEMNEEBEBRAT 2022 Fif

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

126 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Functional and presentation
currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each
entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency on initial
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at
the exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c)
(ii)

(iii)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Transactions and balances in
each entity’s financial statements
(Continued)

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities that have a functional currency
different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and

expenses are translated at the exchange

rates on the transaction dates); and

= All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

128 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iij) Translation on consolidation
(Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. The principal estimated useful
lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvement 2-5 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents plant and
equipment pending installation, and is stated at cost
less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and
property that is being constructed or developed for
future use as investment property.

Investment property are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

130 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
withdrawn from use. Any gain or loss on disposal of
an investment property is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property, and is recognised in profit or loss. Rental
income from investment properties is accounted for
as described in note 4(p).

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for

all leases.
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4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease
term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FTEGFTBERW®E
(Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued) (f) M\ME®

(i)

132 Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise,
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will
be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases,
the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient not to access whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative lease payments in profit or loss in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

(h)

134 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Leases (Continued)
(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Game intellectual properties and licences, game
software, rights on esports team and trademark
acquired separately are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years.

Cryptocurrency assets
Cryptocurrencies

Cryptocurrency, a form of Crypto assets, with all
the characteristics that (i) it is a digital or virtual
currency recorded on a distributed ledger that uses
cryptography for security; (ii) it is not issued by a
jurisdictional authority or other party; and (i) it does
not give rise to a contract between the holder and
another party.

Annual Report 2022

4.

FE

(f)

(9)

(h)

B BE@®

HE@®
(i) FEEESLEA

MAKESHEA HEHE
MrREESABEERRE
HEXRLEHEE - BHEBE
EMAENTNRKRID A
feAEREREAEANE
ESERBREME TAlD
BREEHEE-

BREE

ERWNELAGERAERFEHN
B E B R A RAL [ E & REHRE
BEEBARK-

ERNENERAMERRER
BREF RETBREBZEZER
AR 12 AR AN R R At B 55 KO {E B 18
SRR o B 85 1% Ho =55 & f4 51 AJ (£
RERAEGETEH -

mZENEE
mEE

ERNEZEEN—RBEA MEBE
BEABUTHERE - (ER &R
BESMARNLELNBRFHERE
% oo i IR AR R N = B AT A
BERZ2M: ()H L IERRERBN
HEEET: (XL TEKINE
ERFEAEEMHT ZEANAR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Cryptocurrency assets (Continued)
Cryptocurrencies (Continued)

The Group is engaged in cryptocurrency mining,
rental of machines to lessees to engage in
cryptocurrency mining and operation of online games.
The Group mined and received cryptocurrencies
from the operations of its cryptocurrency mining
equipment, lease of mining machines and sale of
non-fungible token (the “NFT”) and other virtual
tokens. The cryptocurrencies on hand at the end of
the reporting period can be bought and sold, do not
qualify for recognition as cash and cash equivalents
or financial assets, and are similar to intangible assets
in nature.

The Group’s business model for holding
cryptocurrencies mined and received from its
operations are held for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Accordingly, the cryptocurrencies are
accounted for as similar to inventories based on the
requirements of HKAS 2 /nventories.

Cryptocurrencies are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost represents the fair value at
the date when a cryptocurrency is generated from
cryptocurrency mining and historical purchase cost
is calculated using weighted-average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

)]

136 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Cryptocurrency assets (Continued)
Cryptocurrency deposits and receivables

Certain cryptocurrencies are transferred to
cryptocurrency deposits for the Group to engage in
cryptocurrency mining. Cryptocurrency receivables
are due from lessees as rental receivables for leasing
of mining machines. The cryptocurrency deposits and
receivables are measured at cost less accumulated
impairment. The carrying amounts of cryptocurrency
deposits and receivables are reviewed at each
reporting date for indications of impairment. The
details of impairment of non-financial assets are set
out in note 4(v).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit and loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Annual Report 2022

4.

FESHHE®)

(h)

)]

mM=EEREE @)
MEERZERERNEZERE

ETNBREEREANZTEEES
DERAEERENZEEME &
U In e & ¥ 18 5 M B e e W AR
SRAREAKR MEEEZE R
JE U hn 27 & B Th IR B AN R 2 5HRE
HE-MBREBERERBERNEE
MZEAERSREPRITESH
EFR - FHEESHEE 2 RBEF
5 B T FE4(v) ©

FE

FENURKAE &M & FEMAEME
ZEBARH PR o B A Jh 50 i
HYEE - E2mETEEMAKAE
FEME EBELTREELHNEAT
ELEERERAI R HEBER (N
BR -AEBEFEAABEKAR
R 1E AT BH B B SR AT SRR A
BERMEFIRAEEMBRKANE -

BARBERERETHIA

fMASEBEK R TRESHHEXH—T
AeREERSRBEREAMHK
AR P RERR o

cRMEENERABYNRERANE
AE-UWBRETEREEL SR
BERAABHABRRE(ZARE
AABRm)NEREERSRARE
BRON BB E AR R 5K AR V)16 #E
REFAZNGESREEX SR

BEMRAEMGERBRAMNE) - K
ﬁ%?ﬁ@ﬁfﬁ%ﬂ\%ﬁéﬂ’ﬂ@%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁi
TRABENEERERIKANIE
mERER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

)]

(k)

Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

— FVTOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

1 38 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(N

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss
as other income.

Loan receivables

Loan receivables are loans granted to customers in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of loan
receivables is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Loan receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

140 1mperium Technology Group Limited

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of change in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”).

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the Group
is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

142 1mperium Technology Group Limited

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from the manufacturing and
sales of household products

Revenue from the manufacturing and sales of
stainless steel furnishings products is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the customers’
specific location (delivery).
customers have full discretion over the manner of

Following delivery, the

distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and
bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customers as
this represents the point in time at which the right
to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from online games business
(a) Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games
developed by third-party game developers.
The Group licenses online games from game
developers and earns game publishing service
revenue by making a localized version of
the licensed games and publishing them
to the game players through distribution
platforms,
(such as Google Play installed in mobile
web-based and
mobile game portals in certain countries and

include online application stores

telecommunications devices),

regions (collectively referred to as “Platforms”),
including the Group’s websites.

The games licensed to the Group are operated
under a free-to-play model whereby game
players can play the games free of charge
and are charged for the purchase of virtual
tokens or other virtual items via payment
channels, such as the various mobile carriers
and third-party internet payment systems
(collectively referred to as “payment channels”).
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e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FESHEHE®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WBEREMWAE
Revenue from online games business HE AR L R W 7 (B
(Continued)
(a)  Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (@  EEEITHRE K (E)

(i)

Principal Agent Consideration

Proceeds earned from selling virtual
tokens and other virtual items are
shared between the Group and game
developers, with the amount paid to
game developers generally calculated
based on face value of virtual tokens
or other virtual items determined by
game developers, after deducting
certain deductible fees, multiplied
by a predetermined percentage for
each game. The deductible fees are
predetermined and negotiated game
by game, including the fees paid to the
payment channels and the Platforms, as
well as the credit allowable for deduction
for each game.

During the year ended 31 December
2022 there were game license
arrangements under which the Group
takes primary responsibilities of game
operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels,
providing customer services,
hosting game servers, if needed,
and controlling game and services
specifications and pricing during the
license period. Under this type of
game license arrangement, the Group
considered itself as a principal in this
arrangement. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenue from
these third-party licensed game on a
gross basis. Commission fees paid to
Platforms and payment channels and
amortisation of license fees paid to
third-party game developer are recorded

as cost of revenues.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., FESHHEXR®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WBEREMWAE
Revenue from online games business HE AR L R W 7 (B
(Continued)
(a)  Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (@  EEEITHRE K (E)
(iy  Timing of revenue recognition (ii) e 5 B 2R B
For the purposes of determining when A HEE A5 IR R AR
services have been provided to the BHERE NEBEE 5
respective players, the Group has SHFE R E B Y & it B
distinguished between consumable HEBRYRETED

virtual items and durable virtual items:

= Consumable virtual items — HEBEBRD
represent items that are b 2 18 &2 § [ iy
extinguished after consumption I 1Y 7 Bk U ER [
in the form of fixed charges EERANEAR
levied on each round of games HEERINBIFE
played. The paying players will Yo &I
not continue to benefit from the Rt T =
virtual items thereafter. Revenue R A Al
is recognised when the items are P e Was TR
consumed. ) &b 1 FE F B RE
R e
— Durable virtual items represent — it A 48 Y S
items that are accessible and THEMNEITR A
beneficial to paying players over REBHRARS
an extended period of time. B o W
Revenue is recognised ratably 7 18 A % Bk A T
over the average life of durable A E# Y @ e
virtual items for the applicable 15 7] A B BR (L
game, which the Group makes BAEERNE
best estimates to be average UK I 4 Bk A T
playing period of paying players 5 1% 8% BR [ AT 1B
(“Player Relationship Period”). B &% = & 5 (3

ENRE S HDRY
B I HER -
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(p)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business

(Continued)

@)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)

(if)

Timing of
(Continued)

revenue recognition

The Group estimates the Player
Relationship Period on a game-by-game
basis and reassesses such periods
semi-annually. If there is insufficient data
to determine the Player Relationship
Period, such as in the case of a newly
launched game, it estimates the Player
Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by
the Group or by third-party developers
until the new game establishes its
own patterns and history. The Group
considers the games profile, target
audience, and its appeal to players
of different demographics groups in
estimating the Player Relationship
Period.

If the Group does not have the ability
to differentiate revenue attributable to
durable virtual items from consumable
virtual items for a specific game, the
Group recognises revenue from both
durable and consumable virtual items
for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., FESHHEXR®)
(Continued)
(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WBEREMWAE

Revenue from online games business HE AR L R W 7 (B

(Continued)

(b)  Royalty income b)) EFEEKA
The Group receives royalty income from AEEEERES = FWER
third-party licensee in exchange for the BREBWA  LARBEER
exclusive operation of the Group’s licensed ETHEERELAEEHD
games in certain region. The royalty fee REEE ZMNEEERE
includes a monthly minimum fee and an AxERERERGEHNERESRME
additional fee during the contracted license WEINER MEREHB
period, which is determined based on an BEAKEKER  AIFEININEA
agreed percentage of sales of the licensee R E TR A Z & a1
when it exceeds the monthly minimum fee EEOLETE SAXKKEAR
in that month. The monthly minimum fee is REHBRERRIZ L O #ER -
recognised ratably over the contracted license HANERNEE B R EFATA
period. The additional fee is recognised when ZHEENERHBER S LR
the actual agreed percentage of sales of the EARBHEEBAKEEAR
licensee exceeds the agreed monthly minimum R o

fee in that month.

(c)  Contract liabilities and contract costs ) EHEEREAKAK

For game publishing service revenues, contract MEBETRBREMmS
liabilities primarily consist of the unamortised EHNEREZZERERBEE
revenue from sales of virtual tokens and virtual ERiSWSER il Al K
items for web-based games and mobile games, MRERY M RBH K=
where there is still an implied obligation to be MAEEEZEEDERE S
provided by the Group and will be recognised EEREZEYR EEN
as revenue when all of the revenue recognition Fr A I 2= 7 R IR 2B - i 1
criteria are met. MR AW o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from online games business
(Continued)

()

Contract liabilities and contract costs
(Continued)

Contract costs are mainly related to contract
acquisition costs, which primarily consist of
unamortised commission costs charged by
distribution platforms. The Group recognises
contract costs in relation to commission
charged by distribution platforms, which
meet contract acquisition cost criteria as an
incremental cost of acquiring a customer
contract. They are capitalised as contract
acquisition costs and amortised over their
respective Player Relationship Periods, which
is consistent with the pattern of recognition of
the associated revenue.

Revenue from esports business

@)

®)

Merit awards for esports competitions

The payments to merit awards for esports
competitions based on final position and
performance are variable consideration as
they are contingent on achieving certain
performance goals. Such merit payments are
recognised over time over the season at an
amount that is highly probable of not being
reversed when the uncertainty is resolved.

Live streaming

Live streaming revenue are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contractual term of
the agreement.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.
(Continued)

FTEEHBR®

(p) Revenue and other income (Continued) (p) WBEREMWAE
Revenue from cloud computing and data KREZETNEREBERFFH Kz
storage
(a)  Cryptocurrency mining (@  MEEEEER

©)

148 1Imperium Technology Group Limited

The Group engaged in the provision of
transaction verification services within
cryptocurrency networks, commonly termed
“cryptocurrency mining”. As consideration for
these services, the Group receives non-cash
consideration in the form of cryptocurrency
from each specific network in which the Group
participates and from the customers of the
Group. Revenue is measured based on the
fair value of the cryptocurrencies earned. The
fair value is determined using the spot price
of the cryptocurrencies on the date of earned.
A cryptocurrency is considered earned on
the completion and addition of a block to the
blockchain, at which time the economic benefit
is received and can be reliably measured. This
fair value is determined by taking the price of
the cryptocurrencies at 24:00 (per the Hong
Kong Time zone).

Leasing of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining

The Group engaged in the leasing of machines
to customers to engage in cryptocurrency
mining. The Group receives non-cash
consideration in the form of cryptocurrency
consideration calculated as certain agreed
percentage of the cryptocurrency earned by
the customers through their cryptocurrency
mining activities using these leased machines
during the lease period. These variable lease
payments are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from cloud computing and data
storage (Continued)

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

The Group operates various post-employment
schemes, including both defined benefit and
defined contribution pension plans.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

150 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to
profit or loss represents contributions payable
by the Group to the funds.

For the defined benefit retirement plans, the
liability (asset) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation less
the fair value of plan assets. When there is
a surplus in a defined benefit plan, the net
defined benefit asset is measured at the lower
of the surplus in the defined benefit plan and
the asset ceiling. The defined benefit obligation
is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation
is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates
of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating the terms of the related
pension obligation. If there is no deep market
in such bonds, the market rates on government
bonds denominated in that currency are used.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)
(ii)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Pension obligations (Continued)

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit
liability (asset) — which include actuarial gains
and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)), and any change
in the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)) — are recognised
in other comprehensive income in the period
in which they arise and will not be reclassified
to profit or loss. Service costs and net interest
on the net defined benefit liability (asset) are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period
to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
However, if the Group remeasures the net
defined benefit liability or asset before plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, the
Group determines net interest for the remainder
of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using
the benefits offered under the plan and the plan
assets after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement and the discount rate used to
remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability or asset during the
period resulting from contributions or benefit
payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

152 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits,
and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination

benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based
payments to certain employees. Equity-settled
share-based payments are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors
and employees are measured at the fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of
the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based
on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually
vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based
vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants
are measured at the fair value of the services
rendered or, if the fair value of the services rendered
cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of the
equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured
at the date the Group receives the services and is
recognised as an expense.
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FESHEER@E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period to
match them with the costs they are intended to
compensate.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

154 imperium Technology Group Limited

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model of the Group
whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for
such investment properties are measured based on
the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

156 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this
is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual
asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount
rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the
cash-generating unit.

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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4. FESTEHER®HE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets.
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date, including time value
of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses
that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

158 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

= significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

= significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i) The financial instrument has a low risk of
default,

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(iii) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

160 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have
low credit risk when the asset has external credit
rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

= significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for
economic or contractual reasons relating to
the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)
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Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting
date, together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash
flows used for determining the expected credit losses
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring
the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
4. FTEGFTBERW®E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w)

(x)

(y)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
statement of financial position.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position
at the end of the reporting period are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies,
the directors have made the following judgements
that have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the consolidated financial statements
(apart from those involving estimations, which are
dealt with below).

(i)

(i)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, the
validity of which depends upon the financial
support of the three related companies
owned by the ultimate controlling party of
the Company and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company at a level sufficient to
finance the working capital requirements of the
Group. Details are explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distinction between investment
properties and owner-occupied
properties

Some properties comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals and another portion that
is held for use in the daily operations of the
Group. If these portions can be sold separately
(or leased out separately under a finance lease),
the Group accounts for the portions separately.
If the portions cannot be sold separately,
the property is accounted for as investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production of goods. Judgement
is applied in determining whether ancillary
services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property. The
Group considers each property separately in
making its judgement.

1 64 Imperium Technology Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying

accounting policies (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Deferred tax for investment
properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over
time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax for
investment properties, the directors have
adopted the presumption that investment
properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered through sale.

Consolidation of entity with less
than 50% equity interest holding

Although the Group owns less than 50% of
the equity interest in Cubizone Interactive
(Thailand) Co., Ltd, Cubizone Philippine
Corporation and Cubinet Interactive Philippines
Corporation, these entities are treated as
subsidiaries because the Group is able to
control the relevant activities of these entities
as a result of the shareholders’ agreements
between the Group and other shareholders of
these entities.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

4166 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to
12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime
ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset
moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased the Group takes into
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable
and supportable forward looking information.

Determining the lease term

In determining the lease term at the
commencement date for leases that include
renewal options exercisable by the Group, the
Group evaluates the likelihood of exercising
the renewal options taking into account all
relevant facts and circumstances that create
an economic incentive for the Group to
exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvements undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset to the
Group’s operation.

The lease term is reassessed when there is
a significant event or significant change in
circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
During the current financial year, no lease term
has been reassessed.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying

accounting policies (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Estimates of the Player Relationship
Period for online game business

As described in Note 4(p), the Group
recognises revenue from durable virtual items
ratably over the Player Relationship Period. The
determination of Player Relationship Period
in each game is based on the Group’s best
estimate that takes into account all known and
relevant information at the time of assessment.
Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation on
a semi-annual basis. Any adjustments arising
from changes in the Player Relationship Period
as a result of new information will be accounted
for prospectively as a change in accounting
estimate.

Revenue recognition for online game
business

Pursuant to game publishing and operation
arrangements signed between the Group and
the third-party game developers or Platforms,
the Group’s responsibilities in publishing
and operating the licensed games vary for
each game. The determination of whether
to record these revenues using gross or net
basis is based on an assessment of various
factors, including but not limited to whether
the Group (i) is the primary obligor to the
game developers and game players in the
arrangements; (i) has latitude in establishing
the selling price of virtual items; (iii) changes
the products or performs part of the services;
(iv) has involvement in the determination of
product and service specifications; and (v) has

the right to determine secondary Platforms.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EZHERFEMFT®E
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(@) Critical judgements in applying (a) FEHETBEZEEHE @

accounting policies (Continued)

(ix) Revenue recognition of (ix) BRNZEEHERZ WKz
cryptocurrencies mining
Revenue recognition from cryptocurrency BEmMZEERERR 2K
mining is accounted in accordance with HKFRS DIRBEBEM G REELE
15. 1558 ABR o
Management has determined that revenue EREECDETE KaE®ER
should be recognised as the fair value of RRBITRABMTE AR
cryptocurrencies earned in exchange for hn= & R B AR & m BB 2
cryptocurrency mining services on the date MEBEBZAABE - IEE
that the performance obligation is satisfied. The BEWBRERERIEAT
cryptocurrencies are subsequently classified E- EBRERETHEHENS
as inventories when they are received. FFTEESAREELDE XA
Management has exercised significant B - BB SFAIAEED
judgement in determining appropriate RIS NEEAIETE
accounting treatment. When authoritative WE SR - LA H A
guidance is issued by the HKICPA, the Group SEHGAEUBRRELSE
may be required to change its accounting N4

policies, which could have a material effect on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(@) Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(x)

Useful life of cryptocurrencies
mining equipment

The cryptocurrencies mining equipment is used
to generate cryptocurrency. The rate at which
the Group generates cryptocurrencies and,
therefore, consumes the economic benefits
of its cryptocurrencies mining equipment is
influenced by several factors including, but not
limited to, the following:

— The complexity of the cryptocurrencies
mining process which is driven by
the algorithms contained within the
cryptocurrencies open source software;
and

— Technological obsolescence
reflecting rapid development in the
mining machines such that more
recently developed hardware is
more economically efficient to run
in terms of cryptocurrencies mined
as a function of operating costs,
primarily power costs (ie., the speed
of cryptocurrencies mining machines
evolution in the industry) is such that
later cryptocurrencies mining machine
models generally have faster processing
capacity combined with lower operating
costs and a lower cost of purchase.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(x)

Useful life of cryptocurrencies
mining equipment (Continued)

Based on the Group and the industry’s limited
history to date, management is limited by the
market data available. Furthermore, the data
available also includes data derived from the
use of economic modelling to forecast future
digital assets and the assumptions included
in such forecasts, including digital asset’s
price and network difficulty, are derived
from management’s assumptions which are
inherently judgmental. Based on current
data available, management has determined
that the straight-line method of amortisation
best reflects the current expected useful
life of cryptocurrencies mining equipment.
Management will review their estimates at
each reporting date and will revise such
estimates as and when data become available.
Management will review the appropriateness of
its assumption related to residual value at each
reporting date.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,

are discussed below.

4170 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

()

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the
Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belong. Changes in the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

()

(i)

172 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31
December 2022 were HK$14,767,675 (2021:
HK$33,895,356) and HK$21,238,819 (2021:
HK$46,845,654) respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less
than the expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which result in downward
revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of
the reporting period was HK$2,982,214 (2021:
HK$2,982,214). Details of the impairment loss
calculation are provided in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of intangible asset with
indefinite useful life

Determining whether intangible asset with
indefinite useful life is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating unit to which intangible asset
with indefinite useful life has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. The carrying amount of
intangible asset with indefinite useful life at the
end of the reporting period was HK$499,999
(2021: HK$499,999). Details of the impairment
loss calculation are provided in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Recoverability of game intellectual
properties and licenses

The Group tests whether game intellectual
properties and licenses suffered any
impairment every six months and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Judgement is required to identify
any impairment indicators existing for any of
the Group’s game intellectual properties and
licenses, i.e. the remaining period of licensed
games, the performance of those launched
games and etc. If there is a significant adverse
change in the games’ performance, it may be
necessary to take additional impairment charge
to the profit or loss.

In determining the recoverable amounts of
the game intellectual properties and licenses,
the Group requires an estimation of the
future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate to calculate the present value. Changes
in assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rate or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.
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5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(iv) Recoverability of game intellectual

(v)

(vi)

174 mperium Technology Group Limited

properties and licenses (Continued)

The carrying amount of game intellectual
properties and licenses at the end of the
reporting period was HK$51,830,548 (2021:
HK$26,891,514).

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent
professional valuer to assess the fair value of
the investment properties. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has utilised a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. The
directors have exercised their judgement and
are satisfied that the method of valuation and
inputs used are reflective of the current market
conditions.

Whilst the Group considers valuations of the
Group’s investment properties are the best
estimates, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
has resulted in greater market volatility
depending on how the COVID-19 pandemic
may progress and evolve, which have led to
high degree of uncertainties in respect of the
valuations in the current year.

The carrying amount of investment properties
as at 31 December 2022 was HK$20,496,599
(2021: HK$22,201,938).

Impairment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of impairment loss for ECL on trade
receivables based on the credit risk of trade
receivables. The amount of the impairment
loss based on ECL model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are
less than expected, or being revised downward
due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material impairment loss may arise.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(vi)

Impairment of trade receivables
(Continued)

Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered
by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
increased the expected loss rates in the current
year as there is higher risk that a prolonged
pandemic could lead to increased credit default
rates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note
6.3(b).

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of trade receivables is HK$33,998,453 (net of
allowance for expected credit losses of HK$Nil)
(2021: HK$26,976,583 (net of allowance for
expected credit losses of HK$5,047,390)).

(vii) Allowance for slow-moving

inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is
made based on the ageing and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value
of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

As at 31 December 2022, no allowance for
slow-moving inventories recognised (2021:
approximately HK$544,000).
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 5. EEYEREEMFT@E
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) EETFHBERZEZEEREE)
(Continued)

(viii) Actuarial assumptions on defined (viii) RE & FI B th £ &1 B/ 9 18

4176 Imperium Technology Group Limited

benefit retirement plans

Accounting for defined benefit plans may
be complex because actuarial assumptions
are required to measure the obligation and
the expense, with the possibility that actual
results differ from the assumed results. These
differences are known as actuarial gains
and losses. Defined benefit obligations are
measured using the Projected Unit Credit
Method (PUCM), according to which the Group
has to make a reliable estimate of the amount
of benefits earned in return for services
rendered in current and prior periods, using
actuarial techniques. In addition, in cases
where defined benefit plans are funded, the
Group has to estimate the fair value of plan
assets. As a result, the use of the PUCM
involves a number of actuarial assumptions.
These assumptions include demographic
assumptions such as mortality, turnover and
retirement age and financial assumptions such
as discount rates, salary and benefit levels.
Such assumptions are subject to judgements
and may develop materially differently than
expected and therefore may result in significant
impacts on defined benefit obligations.

The carrying amount of retirement benefit

obligations as at 31 December 2022 was
HK$337,862 (2021: HK$382,360).
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2 B 1% B

RISK DISCLOSURES

The Group operates in six major business segments in which

cloud computing and data storage and online game carry
distinct risks related to its business model and correlation
with the macroeconomic environment since cryptocurrency

transactions and blockchain technology are involved.

6.1

6.2

Business development and the
associated risks in 2022

The Group has tapped into the blockchain games and
metaverse sector since 2022 and continue to invest
resources to further explore the blockchain game
and metaverse market. A large-scale universe park
with various theme planets — Metasens is built which
will include the feature of NFTs market place and
blockchain wallet.

Management considers the risks and uncertainties
associated with cryptocurrency and blockchain
technology largely related to information technology,
safekeeping of cryptocurrency, fluctuation of
cryptocurrency prices, compliance, and the ever-
evolving nature of the markets. As the industry
continues to grow, the Group has been implementing
an operational infrastructure to support business
development and growth. These initiatives include
expanding IT infrastructure and hiring additional
management personnel with an emphasis on
experience in legal, regulatory, compliance, risk,
financial reporting, operations and technology
development.

Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology

(i)  Regulatory risk in relevant
jurisdictions

With the Group continuing to expedite the
development of Metasens actively, the
operation may require the Group or its
subsidiaries to apply for and hold further
regulatory licenses, authorisation or permits
due to potential regulation for virtual asset
trading platform in Hong Kong.
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6.

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

4178 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Regulatory risk in relevant
jurisdictions (Continued)

To manage the enhanced risks and potential
compliance frameworks associated
with licensing, the Group has expended
substantial resources to build a strong team
of experienced legal, risk and compliance
professionals, who are responsible for oversight
of all business activities with respect prevailing
and potential regulatory frameworks applicable
to the Group.

Price risk of cryptocurrency

The Group holds and used cryptocurrency in
its business related to cryptocurrency mining,
lease of machines to customers to engage
in cryptocurrency mining and sale of NFTs
and other digital tokens. Price volatility of
cryptocurrency may cause significant impact to
the Group’s performance.

To manage these risks, the Group has
established in-house policies to manage such
exposures and as overseen by the Group
management. This includes making fair value
assessments on cryptocurrency held by the
Group and daily monitoring of the price and
liquidity of cryptocurrency.

Risk related to safekeeping of asset

The Group maintains cryptocurrency in both
“hot” (connected to the internet) and “cold”
(not connected to the internet) wallets. “Hot”
wallets are more susceptible to cyber-attacks
or potential theft due to the fact they are
connected to the public internet.
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6. EBREEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Risk related to safekeeping of asset
(Continued)

To mitigate such risks,
the Group has implemented
guidelines and risk control protocols to

the Group has
implements,

adjust the level of cryptocurrency maintained
in “hot” wallets required to facilitate
settlement. The Group has developed a
proprietary cryptocurrency wallets solution
with comprehensive security controls and
risk mitigation processes in place. Control
procedures cover wallet generation, day-to-
day wallet management and security, as well
as monitoring and safeguarding of the Group’s
“hot” and “cold” wallets and public and private
keys.

Risks related to source of funds and
anti-money laundering

Cryptocurrencies are exchangeable directly
between parties through decentralised
networks that allow anonymous transactions,
such transactions create complex technical
challenges with respect to issues such as
identification of parties involved and asset
ownership.

To mitigate such risks, the Group has
implemented policies and procedures for AML
and Know-Your-Client (“KYC”) that are initiated
during the client acceptance process and are
applied by way of continuous monitoring and
reporting.
procedures, we have considered industry best-
practice, respective regulatory requirements,
and Financial Action Task Force (“FATF”)
recommendations and guidance as the industry
moves towards regulation.

In enhancing these policies and
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6.

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

v)

(vi)

180 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Technology leakage risk

The Group’s developing metaverse platform
lies in its blockchain-related technology IP and
trade secrets. Should its IP and trade secret
be compromised, the Group could face risks in
its ability to remain competitive and execute its
strategy.

Technology leakage risks are mitigated by
controls of information, ability to defend
against intrusion into the Group’s technology
infrastructure, protection and prevention of
leakage of sensitive data.

Information security risk

Both the Group and client information are
maintained on proprietary data infrastructure
in conjunction with cloud service providers,
such infrastructure is connected to the public
internet and therefore subject to potential
cyber-attacks.

the Group’s has
implemented security controls including but

To mitigate such risks,

not limited to multi-factor authentication, data
and network segregation, system redundancy
and encrypted backups, segregation of duties,
least privilege principal, event monitoring and

incident response.
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RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.2 Risk management of business
segments involving cryptocurrency and
blockchain technology (Continued)

(vii) New product risk

(viii)

Prior to the deployment and release of new
products and businesses to the Group’s clients,
every such new activity phase through a
rigorous review process. The board of directors
reviews each proposal against business
capability, impact on financial performance
as well as analyses the suite of risks that are
typically inherent in such activities; particular
attention is paid to operational risk, legal risk,
regulatory risk, market, credit and liquidity risk.
Approval to proceed with a proposed business
or product will only be forthcoming once the
board of directors is satisfied that all necessary
controls and support function processes are
fully implemented.

Credit risk

In connection with the operation of leasing
of machines to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining, the Group enters
into lease agreement with clients, which may
expose the Group to credit risk. Credit risk
in this context is the risk of non-payment,
non-repayment or default by a counterparty
in respect of its obligations to the Group
in relation to the relevant cryptocurrency
transactions.

To mitigate or reduce such credit risks, the
exposure of credit risks and transactions with
clients are monitored by the board of directors
regularly.

6.
6.2
E

(vii)

(viii)

FENMEEEERAR

B B 3% BB (&)
BRINEZE MR E R ER TN

2 EB A E B EE ()

F7E dn [ B2

REEEE R A EP E M
EmREBZA - ZEHAE
BEROEEERNELER
B-BEFERBEXEHEN Y
MBEENTERER TR
T OMUEERSD —REED
— R FRIRTEE R
B AEER EERR ™
ZoEERRDUERR- &
REFSHMA L ENZH
ExtherniEBxsE
BERERER  TEETHRER
BBENEBRER °

1=/ B2

REEREFEALRAKNE
ERHRBNELNS AR
BEZTFIIVHAERRE A&
EEASEEERERARR - R
ZEBAT  ERARARERS
LHFREBENZEBERZ T
HHEASEEERBE TE T
XA NMEERBONER o

BTREXSERAR &%
EEHEREARRRAR
FHRSER -

2022 Fif

181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.2 Risk management of business 6.2 FRMZEWKEH MK

segments involving cryptocurrency and XKoo EREEE)

blockchain technology (Continued)

(ix) Operational risk (ix) Z&mEpE
Operational risk covers a spectrum of potential BERBRRE — RV AJER
incidents and actions that can affect both the BEAREEREXSGHFNE
Group and its counterparties and that may EEHERTE  ZFEHRT
cause financial loss, reputational damage, FBAREERPBFEL BE
regulatory sanctions or loss of business BE - BT Bk EK
capability. Such losses may arise from process PEMK o ZE B AT 12
weakness, lack of staff training, technology R BIEINTRE - KT
failures, honest errors or malicious actions by B AR ENTHE
internal or external factors. TREBETREKK °
The Group’s management is the central AEBEEEBESTEEM
oversight and management function for all ERMMAELRRITERIEH
operational risk actions and related control THEE  BIETEHERE
activities including regularly performance EREBTME -

review and business evaluation.
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6. EBREEE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of

financial risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk,
liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business
transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in HKD, United States
dollars (“USD”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Malaysia
Ringgit (“MYR”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) and
Thai Baht (THB”).
within the Group have intra-group balances

with several subsidiaries denominated in

In addition, the Companies

foreign currencies which also expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
monitors its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

6.3
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (a) SPEREE &)
The following table indicates the instantaneous TEBEBTIAEERLEEAR

change in the group’s profit after tax (and
retained profits) and other components of
consolidated equity that would arise if foreign

EERARZIEEXRRE
RESHHAEE ZRREREF
(RRBEN) KA EERHE

exchange rates to which the group has MmEs 2z BT E  BREH

o BT - BT -
BEREBTRETYHNH
RERAR EFREETHR
e BEEDFYE -

significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would be materially unaffected
by any changes in movement in value of the
United States dollar against other currencies.

2022 2021
CE-CE %
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (Decrease)/ (decrease) (Decrease)/
in foreign Increase/ increase in in foreign Increase/ increase in
exchange (decrease) in accumulated exchange  (decrease)in  accumulated
rates loss after tax loss rates  loss after tax loss

Exth/ KH&ES gifER| EXLAH/  BRKER ZitBR
(FR) #n/(H5) (R5)/%1 (FR)  #m/0d%)  (RD)/ %M

HKS HKS HKS HKS$
BT BT BT BT
RMB against HKD AREHET 5% 1,414335  (1,414,335) 5% 1,499,360 (1,499,360)
-5%  (1,414,335) 1,414,335 -5% (1,499,360) 1,499,360
USD against MYR XNARE 5% (188,298) 188,298 5% (198,830) 198,830
-5% 188,298 (188,298) -5% 198,830 (198,830)
TWD against HKD nakikn 5% 226,123 (226,123) 5% Not applicable  Not applicable
~ER rER
-5% (226,123) 226,123 -5%  Not applicable  Not applicable
AER AER
TWD against USD HalRETL 5% Not applicable Not applicable 5% 1531 (1,531)
TER TER
-5% Not applicable Not applicable -5% (1,631) 1,581
ER ER
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the group
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in
the respective functional currencies, translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to remeasure those financial
instruments held by the group which expose
the group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period, including inter-company
payables and receivables within the group
which are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations into
the group’s presentation currency
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6.

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b)

186 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will
not meet its obligations under a financial
instrument or customer contract, leading to a
financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade
receivables) and from its financing activities,
including deposits with banks and financial
institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments. The Group
assessed 12-month ECLs for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating
to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12-month ECLs on
cash and cash equivalents is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each
business unit subject to the Group’s
established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management.
Individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days
from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.
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6. HERBREEGwE

6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEHEEE)
Trade receivables (Continued) JEWEZAEF (&)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade AEBIZEEREE T E S
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime FEHEEBEENS EUARE
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision EEFE)RFEERRE SR
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss NEEREE ARAEENB
experience does not indicate significantly FEEBEELRAILBEBRTT
different loss patterns for different customer AEFABEEREZENES
segments, the loss allowance based on past BRI WixaBReETE
due status is not further distinguished between NWEERBEITEEAEET
the Group’s different customer bases. REFHEE—FTED °
For trade receivables, the Group has applied TEWEZERERME A&
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure ERBAEAMBREERZE9
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. SR EL T AFTERER
BEHBEHEEBENEBER
& o
The following table provides information about TERHINBEAEBER-Z
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs T CF+-_A=t+—HzEK
for trade receivables as at 31 December 2022: B2 EReE AR R k&
FEEBBEZER:
2022
—E-CE
Household products Online game Esports Total
FEER SEHEE ETHE @it
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss Expected loss Gross carrying Loss Expected loss Gross carrying Loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance rate amount allowance rate amount allowance amount allowance
BHERE REAR BFERE AEFE: REAHE BFERE FAEFEE REAHE BERE REAR BERE
% HKS HKS % HKS HKS % HKS HKS HKS HK$
% BT BT % BT BT % BT BT BT B
0-30 days 02307 0% 9,685,120 = 0% 747,109 = 0% 3,640,268 - 14072497 =
31-60days  31Z60% 0% 1,353,621 = 0% 321,384 = 0% 1,726,906 - 3401911 =
61-90days  BIZ90R 0% = = 0% 331,337 = 0% 1,547,081 - 1878368 =
9-120days  9IEIDE 0% 1,128,100 = 0% 305,964 = 0% 1829375 - 3263439 =
121-150days  121Z150% 0% = = 0% 21,197 = 0% 819,517 = 840,714 =
151-365 Gays 1512365% 0% = = 0% 209,756 = 0%  52045% - 541429 =
Overlyear  1EME 0% = = 0% 544,076 = 0% 4,583,156 - 512123 =
12,166,841 = 2,480,823 = 19,350,789 - 33998453 =
FENEEEERAR 2022 F 1}
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. RERBEE®
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEHEEE)
Trade receivables (Continued) JEWEZAEF (&)
2021
ZEC-F
Household products Online game Esports Total
FEER RLEEE BTER @
Expectedloss ~ Gross carrying Loss  Expectedloss  Gross carrying Loss  Expectedloss  Gross carrying Loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance rate amount allowance rate amount allowance amount allowance
BRERX BEAE EREE AOBEX REAE BEEE TBHEEX REAE ERARE FRAE EREE
% HKS HKS % HKS HKS % HKS HKS HKS HKS
% BT AL % BT BT % BT BT BT BT
0-30 days 030K 0% 7,700,113 - 100% 1,131,115 (1,131,119) 0% 1,294,106 - 10,125,334 (1,131,115)
31-60 days 31260X 0% 2,235,660 - 54% 1,050,007 (565,707) 0% 904,645 - 4,190,312 (565,707)
61-90 days 61290 0% 4,150,865 - 50% 1,076,958 (639,950) 0% 337,776 - 5,565,599 (639,950)
91-120 days 91E120K 0% 6,213,754 - 16% 28,856 (4,748) 0% 1,783,061 - 8,025,671 (4,748)
121-150 days 121£150K 0% - - 55% 60,614 (33,618) 0% 1,255,475 - 1,316,089 (33,618)
151-365 days ~ 1512365K 0% - - 100% 82,781 (82,781) 0% 28,716 - 111,497 (82,781)
Over 1 year 1EE 0% - - 100% 2,689,471 (2,689,471) 0% - - 2,689,471 (2,689,471)
20,300,392 - 6,119,802 (5,047,390 5,603,779 - 32,023,973 (5,047,390)
The credit risk on trade receivables contributed REERMETHRE D HY
from household product segment and esports FBRESEREENEER
segment are limited. AR o

The trade receivables contributed from esports
and household segment are within credit
terms with no default history and neither past
due nor impaired. Based on the management
assessment on expected credit loss, the loss
allowance is considered to be insignificant.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6. ERBKE

(#%&)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FE=HEEEE)
Trade receivables (Continued) JEWEZAEF (&)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss EHEEREXRAAMENE
experience over the past two years. These BREBERITE - WELETY
rates are adjusted to reflect differences IMAFEE - ARk & BT
between economic conditions during the HERFEMLEMR - BATK
year over which the historic data have been VN eI R S R
collected, current conditions and the Group’s FEHHNKEERRIZERZ
view of economic conditions over the expected MR =EE -
lives of the receivables.
Movement in the loss allowance for trade FA - EKRE SRR EER
receivables during the year is as follows: HEEBWT :
2022 2021
—E_-C—F g
HK$ HK$
BT B TT
At 1 January Rn—H—H (5,047,390) (2,434,883)
Expected credit losses recognised BRZEHEEESE - (2,687,266)
Expected credit losses reversed FEHEEEEER 2,245,818 =
Amounts written off & 58 2,547,215 =
Exchange differences & N =% 254,357 74,759
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - (5,047,390)
The following significant changes in the RZTZ—F U TEKES
gross carrying amounts of trade receivables RAEBMEABNEREH
contributed to the decrease in the loss BREBEEERD
allowance during 2022:
= trade receivables impaired in previous — BT F R R E IR AR
years was settled during the year, FEHAENEKESER
resulted in a decrease in loss allowance NEREBBEREERD
of HK$2,245,818. 2,245,818 7T °
FENEEEERAR 2022 F 3R
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6.

(b)

190 Imperium Technology Group Limited

RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) B B 3R B ()
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
Credit risk (Continued) (b) FE=HEEEE)
Financial assets at amortised cost BB KD R 2 % B E
All of the Group’s financial assets at amortised 7N 5 B 2 G A ARSI BR 2 P
cost are considered to have low credit risk, EeMEEVHERABEER
and the loss allowance recognised during BB It R FEARNERZE
the year was therefore limited to 12-month BEEERRTZEAEHS
expected credit losses. Financial instruments FEBEE-EemIAZE
are considered to be low credit risk when they X E K B BT A B &S
have a low risk of default and the issuer has a NETHEANReREERELZ
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash BN BEEERATL
flow obligations in the near term. AZERRBRIE -
Financial assets at amortised cost include HEBEKAYERE SR EE
refundable deposits, other receivables and loan BEARDOER S - Hi4E K
receivables and interest receivables. KN EWER & ERF B -
Movement in the loss allowance for financial FRNEREHENAY R 2SR
assets at amortised cost during the year is as BEGEREGE2EDHBERLD
follows: ™
Refundable Loan
deposits receivables
and other  and interest
receivables receivables Total
TRERER EREXK
Hi A FE W A B @t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2021 and RZTZ—5—-HF—-Bk
31 December 2021 —E-—£+-F=+-A (4,194,942) (0,108747)  (13,303,689)
Expected credit losses recognised ~ BRAZEHEEER (938,500 (2,466,502) (3,405,002)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-Z—#+=-A=+—H (5,133,442) (11,575,249 (16,708,691)
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(c)

6. mEEE@E
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
Liquidity risk (c) nEEZEE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor AEBOWHRKATEHEER
current and expected liquidity requirements to RINTEHREE © B3R - LA
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of RE#FTEHRS@HE AU
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the MEHEBHERBNAEHE
short and longer term. THFE -
The following table sets out the remaining VAT B 2= & 51 70 3R 45 HA 4% R I
contractual maturities at the end of the AEBITESHREABERTH
reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative AHRN M WEt R ARITE
financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash HEMEEEUNEHF =
flows (including interest payments computed (I ZEBERBTESHER
using contractual rates or, if floating, based on e A =S BB A B X)) R
rates current at the end of the reporting period) AEEFEINHEERM -
and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay.
2022
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
—B-CE
HEADSN - RFERLR
More than ~ More than Total
1yearbut 2 years but undiscounted
less than less than ~ More than cash
On demand  Within 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years outflows
-ENEE  WENLE AERSE
REX —-EUR IRRE HREE EFNL ik L
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS
BT B BT B B B
Trade payables EREFER - 10,179,350 - - - 10,179,350
Lease liabilities figak - 7,050,678 3,103,942 1,106,400 - 11,261,020
Loan from related parties REBE A 2 & - 50,650,000 234,350,000 - - 285,000,000
Other payables and accruals ~ EtER AR EHER - 84,641,464 - - —- 84,641,464
- 152,521,492 287,453,942 1,106,400 - 391,081,834
FENKEBRERAA 2022 F 3R
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

6. HERBREEGwE

6.3 MBEMREEEE)

(c) RBEZEERE

2021
Maturity Analysis — Undiscounted cash outflows
“E-F
BB - RAERER
More than More than Total
1 year but 2 years but undiscounted
less than less than More than cash
Ondemand  Within 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years outflows
—EtE  WENLE ATERS
BER —EHR ANGES SRAE BENE A
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT B B B B B
Trade payables T ESEKH - 5,361,514 - - - 5,361,514
Lease liabilties BAfk - 8049239 5,619,700 - — 14,568,939
Loan from related parties REEER L ER — 204,050,000 - - — 204,050,000
Other payables and accruals ~ E AR ZIE R EHER - 78717729 - - - 78717729
- 297,078,482 5,619,700 - - 302,698,182
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIFEEkE

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk primarily relates to its bank deposits, loan
receivables, loan from related parties and other
payables that are interest bearing.

The Group’s bank deposits bear interests at

variable rates that vary with the then prevailing
market condition.
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued)

6.3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s loan receivables bear interests
at fixed rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

The Group’s loan from related parties and other
payables of approximately HK$266,623,658
(2021: HK$194,526,754) and approximately
HK$5,390,505 (2021: HK$5,390,505)
respectively bear interests at fixed interest
rates and therefore are subject to fair value
interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2022, if interest rates had
been 100 basis points lower with all other
variables held constant, consolidated loss after
tax for the year would have been approximately
HK$181,000 (2021: HK$104,000) higher, arising
mainly as a result of lower interest income on
bank deposits. If interest rates had been 100
basis points higher, with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss after tax
for the year would have been approximately
HK$181,000 (2021: HK$104,000) lower, arising
mainly as a result of higher interest income on
bank deposits.

6. HERBRKRE
B35 B B R ()

6.3
(d)

FENMEEEERAR

(#%&)

T £ = Bz ()

AEEZEKEFREE N
RE - MAKEHBAR
BN EER -

AEBZREBE THER
MEMENKRED NN A
266,623,658/ JL(= T = —
F :194,526,7547% TT) & 4
5,390,505 L(Z T =— & :
5,390,505/ 7T) LA @ & B K 5T
B AEETIEERA AR
KRk

RZEZ—F+-HA=+—H -
fish F) & T pR100ME E 2 - E A
FIBEEHRFTTE  FAEGE
B T 12 &5 18 1§ 45 N £9181,000
BT (ZF = — % : 104,000/
) EZBHRRITFE R F
BWARDZ ZEE - i
A Z _E A100ME £ 25 - HAb Fr
EBHEREFETE FAKE
B T 12 &5 18 1% Rk 4> £9181,000
T (ZF = — £ : 104,000/
7)) EZBHRRITFE R F
B AN 2 2 BFTE -
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6. RISK DISCLOSURES (Continued) 6. HERBREEGwE
6.3 Financial risk management (Continued) 6.3 HXERBRERE
(e) Categories of financial instruments (el RI+T-A=+—-HzZ=z@
at 31 December TEHZHE
2022 2021
—_E_-_ —_EF_—
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets: EREE:
Financial assets measured at BREHEKAFTELZ
amortised cost BEEE 88,489,247 96,922,125
Financial liabilities: SREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ IZ#E R A& 2
Gl =K 330,598,601 265,998,178
(f)  Fair values (f) 22 E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial REBGAZEETBRRE
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in NeREEREREEZE
the consolidated statement of financial position HEREZXENARERSE °

approximate their respective fair values.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

7.

ARfEN B
ARERMBELRERGFEAMETZA
FREFHEAEMBUMKBREABBEMX
MZE®R ATAREFERBEEANRQ
REBERHARGAELABENGERMZ
2EIR=ERBR:

F1ER2H - AEBARGERD
BHhEREEXAR
Zm BT S RECRE
AE) -

FERZH: F1ERMBEZRE
N2 B & &R
BEEZRBEITERES
e

EIBERB2H: BEXRBBEZAASR
R2H -

AEBENBRRERDRERZEB ZEHHM
MEREHEREIRE —EERPHOEM
—EERNBAREL -
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTEE
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value (@) R=F=-_—"F+=-—A=+—H
hierarchy at 31 December 2022: WARBEERKERE:
Fair value measurements using: Total
AREFEFRANER: @t
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022
EH E1ER H2EBMH $EIEH S
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B B B
Recurring fair value REMAABTE:
measurements:
Investment properties REN%E
Office units — Malaysia MREBER — HRAD - - 20,496,599 20,496,599
Fair value measurements using: Total
AREFERANER: Bt
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021
ER FIER F2EM FIEM/  —T-—F
HKS HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Recurring fair value measurements:  &EME A LEE
Investment properties REME
Office units — Malaysia MREBR — HRAD - - 22,201,938 22,201,938
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTEE
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at (b) REFEIBERERAAETEN
fair value based on level 3: EEYHER:
Description 2022
EH —s=-=
Investment
Properties
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2022 NZE=-—F— ﬂ H 22,201,938
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss (#) EREBRBRZANEFEERH (534,000)
Exchange difference bE & = (1,171,339)
At 31 December 2022 RZEB-_—_F+-A=+—H 20,496,599
(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of ) BIERBEHRFFAEEN R
reporting period &8 (534,000)
Description 2021
HE —E-—fF
Investment
Properties
REM
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—H—H 23,389,782
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss (#) ERBEaBRZANEFERH® (450,250)
Exchange difference [ H =% (737,594)
At 31 December 2021 R—E_—F+-_RA=+—H 22,201,938
(#) Include gains or losses for assets held at end of #BIERBEHRFFEEENRE X
reporting period BB (450,250)
The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss R ERERFEER P BERAOWK

including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in other operating expenses
(2021: other operating expenses) in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

HER) IR EaRR

275 -

FENMEEEERAR

SAEBRABRBEMBEEMN KR
§ IR R E &
ERX(CE_—F HpELERX)
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

198 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at 31 December 2022:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for
the fair value measurements of assets and liabilities
required for financial reporting purposes, including
level 3 fair value measurements. The financial
controller reports directly to the Board of Directors
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between the
financial controller and the Board of Directors at least
twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent

experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements are mainly:

— Term yield (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

— Reversionary yield (estimated based on
valuation experts’ in-house database)

— Rental value (estimated based on actual data)

— Size difference (estimated based on actual
data)

— Asking price (estimated based on valuation
experts’ in-house database)

Annual Report 2022
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AREFTEE
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by (c) R=E=-_—_F+=-—A=+—H
the Group and valuation techniques and AEERFEANGERRFRAD
inputs used in fair value measurements REFEMERANGERTTR
at 31 December 2022: (Continued) ZENRE (&)
Level 3 fair value measurements FIERA A EE
Effect on
fair value for
Unobservable increase of
Description Valuation technique input Range inputs Fair value
288Em
BR fhER FTUBEESE #HE HARENTE DRE
Investment properties Year ended 31 December 2022
— Commercial building HE-B-_f+-pB=1-H
located in the Malaysia LFE
REME - URNERAZZ | Investment method Term yield 0.50% Decrease 20,496,599
BEXRE BERR B8l = B
Reversionary 6.50% Decrease
yield
EEKEE B
Rental value RM 3.1/sq.ft/month Increase
HEER LE/FHER/B %
Year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z_-f+_A=1-H
ILFE
Market comparable approach Size difference -3.53% 10 -2.87% Decrease 22,201,938
350 % HEZR -3.53%Z-2.87% B
Asking price -3% Decrease
HfE 2
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the RETMEIAER WENESR
highest and best use of the properties is their current FxERERELEKAR -
use.
The valuation technique in estimating the fair value REFAAEER  HERNEH
has been changed from Market comparable approach MBA AR ABEREE - FTEMGE
to investment method. The new valuer, Greater China MEEFEERAFRE RET
Appraisal Limited, considered the investment method AEBEMZ2EEHZEMS
is more appropriate than the market comparable KEEALEMSALLEEREE °

approach in order to consider the existing rental
agreement entered by the Group.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7.

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by
the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements
at 31 December 2022: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

With reference to the sensitive analysis by using the
market comparable approach for the fair value as at
31 December 2022. No material difference incurred
due to the change in valuation technique.

8. REVENUE 8.
Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service line for the year is as follows:

D S 5 B ()
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AENRARAS G AR
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FIERLA L EE(E)

B2EHRESIT LRAMSHA

A EHE—_T-_TF+-_A=+—
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BB MELERAER -

e
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2022 2021
=== T —F
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Revenue from contracts with EAMBEHREER
customers within the scope of HKFRS F15FEE R 2
15 EFEHAWKH
Disaggregated by major products or service EIEERIRBEE
lines B s F
— Household products — XEEM 32,423,867 80,463,579
— Online game — f‘?J:‘ffrfiZ 29,082,576 21,419,774
— Cloud computing and data storage — EHEREBERT 4,192,440 5,215,825
— Esports — BB 57,017,226 33,735,681
122,716,109 140,834,859
Revenue from other sources H 3R R U =
Rental income from investment properties BREYHE ZHE WA 1,332,351 1,401,422
Interest income from money lending business  M/& %1 2 & B 0k A 798,095 1,870,487
Rental income from cloud computing and EERBBRFHREZ
data storage machines HEWA 8,254,594 17,017,598
Total e 133,101,149 | 161,124,366
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The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 = ~E -~ F+ - A=+—HILFEE
W= ()
W %5 BA 4B (48)
AEEZNTIEERR R RERBR

REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

8.

services over time and at a point in time in the following RE-—SHEHREREm R REEE YR :
major product lines and geographical regions:
Cloud computing and
Household products Online game Property investment Money lending Esports data storage Total
ZEER GLER NERE il ] ETER EitERBRES it

For the year ended 31 December HETZA=T-HLER 2022 2001 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2001 2022 2021
CECCE | ZBo-f | CBoCE | ZEo-F | CECCE| ZEo-f | CEoCE | ZBo-F | CBCCE | CEo-F| ZEoCE | CBo-f | CEoCE | C3C-F
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
En En B A En #n A A Bn A ko En B A

Primary geographical markets TEHETS
— Hong Kong -E# - —| 19,805,940 | 1,638,000 - = 798,095 | 1,870.487 - — | 12,447,034 | 21950,156 | 33,141,069 | 25458643
— PRC excluding Hong Kong - $E(TREEHE) 32,423,867 | 80463579 = = = - - — | 55,141,186 | 32,675,085 - 283,267 | 87,565,083 | 113,421,931
— East and South Est Asla -REREEE - — | 9186636 | 19781774 | 1332351 | 1401422 - - - - - - | 10518987 | 21,183,196
— Other -Ef - = - = - = - - | 1,876,040 | 1,060,596 - - | 1,876,040 | 1,060,5%
Segment revenue B¢ 32,423,867 | 80463579 | 29,082,576 | 21,419,774 | 1,332,351 1,401,422 798,095 | 1870487 | 57,017,226 | 33735681 | 12,447,034 | 22233423 | 133,101,149 | 161,124,366
Intersegment revenue SURKE - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Revenue from external customers RENBEEZUE 32,423,867 | 80463579 | 29,082,576 | 21,419,774 | 1,332,351 1,401,422 798,095 | 1870487 | 57,017,226 | 33735681 | 12,447,034 | 22233423 | 133,101,149 | 161,124,366

Timing of revenue recognition KERRRE
Products transferred at a point in ime ERNE-BHLES 32,423,867 | 80,463,579 - - - - - 487,065 830,512 - — | 32910932 | 812303091
Products and services transferred over time ERREERERER - — | 20082576 | 21419774 | 1,332,351 | 1,401,422 798,095 | 1870487 | 56,530,161 | 32,806,169 | 12,447,034 | 22233423 | 100,190,217 | 79,821,275
Total @it 32,423,867 | 80463579 | 29,082,576 | 21,419,774 | 1,332,351 1,401,422 798,095 | 1870487 | 57,017,226 | 33735681 | 12,447,034 | 22233423 | 133,101,149 | 161,124,366
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9. OTHER INCOME 9. Hfh U A
2022 2021
—E_-_C_F —EF=-—
HK$ HK$
BT B IT
Bank interest income |ITH B A 53,418 41,747
Government grants (Note) AT 2 B (BT 73 ) 680,119 100,518
Investment income BERA - 108,120
Gain on lease modification HEBIT2Wa=E 6,467 145,874
Gain on disposal of esports players HEEFHREIR 2K &= 3,925,500 =
Others Hh, 1,103,403 295,288
5,768,907 691,547
Note: During the year, the Group recognised government grants of Mia: REA AEEEIARTERSEBEEBORK
HK$512,000 (2021: HK$31,810) in respect of COVID-19 related FF# 81512,000/8 T (=T =—4 : 31,810/ L) -
subsidies which were related to Employment Support Scheme ZEWMPEBEBRARHENRMESSIEE -
provided by the Hong Kong government and the subsidy received DA R HR B b 75 BROR 6 P BE AN 52 [ A B BR 4R
from the PRC local government authority for the achievements of the ##81168,11978 T (ZF=—4% : 68,708/ 7T) °

Group of HK$168,119 (2021: HK$68,708).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has six major operating segments as follows:

Online game — marketing and operation of mobile
games and computer games and
sale of NFTs and other digital token

Cloud computing — to engage in cryptocurrency
and data storage mining and rental of machines
to customers to engage in
cryptocurrency mining

Esports — participating in esports
competitions, streaming and
marketing event, and merchandise
sales

Household products — manufacture and sale of stainless
steel furnishings and home
products

rental income from investment
properties

Property investment

Money lending — interest income from money
lending business

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated finance cost and unallocated corporate
income and expenses. Segment assets do not include
unallocated deposits, other receivables and prepayments,
unallocated cash and bank balances and unallocated other
corporate assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 2 HER @)
Information about operating segment profit or loss and BAKE N HIEEREEZER
assets:
Cloud
computing
Online  and data Household  Property Money
game storage Esports  products investment lending Total
EHER
REER HERE ETRH  ZBER  MERE He h)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B B BT B BT
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-R--Et-A=t-H
LEE
Revenue from external customers RENDEP N E 29,082,576 12,447,034 57,017,226 32,423,867 1,332,351 798,095 133,101,149
Intersegment revenue AHENE - - - - - - -
Segment profit/oss) SBEH/ (BB (8,147,006) (51,626207) 1,603,842 (308,953 798,351  (1,683,053) (9,364,916)
Interest revenue 8 k& 8,269 3,862 27,288 13,999 - - 53,418
Interest expense fER% (305,484)  (531,505)  (1,826,609) - - - (2,663,59)
Depreciation and amortisaton FEREY (16,580,486) (21,638,889) (7,506,306)  (76,737) - (3,836) (45,806,254)
Income tax credit/[expense) FEkEs/(Ax) 743,953 - (49,273)  (440,931) - - 253749
Additions to segment non-current assets ~ FEABERHEE 45076429 587,022 3912627 692,652 - - 50,268,730
Other material non-cash items EtEXFREER:
— Impairment of assets, net - RERESE
Impairment on receivables, net EUTERETE (1,307,318) = = = - 2466502 1,159,184
Impairment on property, plant and W% BERZHAE
equipment - 9,268,626 - - - - 9,268,626
Impairment on right-of-use assets FREEERGE - 11,120,217 - - - - 11,120,217
Impairment on cryptocurrency NEELEES RENR
deposits and receivables NEEHE - 6,602,039 - - - - 6,602,039
Write-down of cryptocurrencies MEE A - 16,971,751 - - - - 16,971,751
Loss on write off of intangible assets WEErEE BR
(included in other operating GrAEHEERR)
expenses) 2,493,681 - - - - - 2,493,681
— Net fair value loss on investment - REMELAESER
properties - - - - (534,000) - (534,000)
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZA=t-H
Segment assets PHEE 79,651,144 30,242,268 58,823,136 31,681,644 20,496,599 4,534,884 225,429,675
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 EBEH (B
Cloud
computing
Online and data Household Property Money
game storage Esports products  investment lending Total
EHER
RLBE  BBEE  ITER  REEm  MERE it @t
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
B BT BT B BT BT B
Year ended 31 December 2021 HEZZ--%+-A=1-H
%34
Revenue from external customers RENBER LN E 21419774 20233423 33,735,681 80463579 1401422 1,870,487 161,124,366
Intersegment revenue e - - - - - - -
Segment profit/{loss) APEH/ (B8 (49,000621) (10,900917) (13473,984) 1,385,362 951,173 (876,803  (71,915,790)
Interest revenue Mk 807 1,023 23,724 16,191 - - 41,745
Interest expense i8R (69,203)  (439,075) (60,597)  (374,341) - (2,095,264  (3,028,480)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (9,520,703)  (15,105,971)  (6,050,208)  (1,751,862) - (14,018)  (32,442,762)
Income tax crealit/(expense) Mg/ (Rx) 15,973 - (76,382) (117,823 (21,489 - (199715)
Adaltions to segment non-current assets ~ REA BERBEE 20273386 79834683 2927661 1423330 - — 104,459,060
Other material non-cash item HpEAFREER:
— Impairment of assets, net -EEWESE
Impairment on recelvables, net BUFERESE 2,687,266 = = = = - 2,687,266
Impairment on cryptocurrency NEEEESRELM
deposits and receivables BE%RE - 3,060,657 - - - — 3,060,657
Write-down of cryptocurrencies nu*“mzmz — 7004817 = = = — 7004817
Impairment on intangible assets BVEERE
(inclued in other operating GrAEHEERR)
expenses) 7,000,000 = = = = - 7,000,000
— Net fair value loss on investment - REMELAESEE
properties (450,250) - - - - - (450,250)
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-4+ZA=1+-H
Segment assets PHEE 56,343,348 97,741,234 60,783,336 30,873,383 22201938 8,118,837 276,062,076
FENEEEERAR
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10.

206 Imperium Technology Group Limited

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

hS

10. ZEE R (&)

Reconciliations of segment revenue and THBERBERZHER:
profit or loss:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
& T B IT
Revenue W =
Total revenue of reportable segments Al AR 3 2 Bk = 133,101,149 | 161,124,366
Elimination of intersegment revenue K 8H o 30 b = - -
Consolidated revenue RE W = 133,101,149 161,124,366
2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 TT
Profit or loss B
Total loss of reportable segments AR D Iz BEE (99,364,916)| (71,915,790)
Unallocated finance costs K9 AL g B A A (9,539,203) (7,598,192)
Unallocated corporate income RoBEEEKRA 256,100 643,669
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBEEMAE (71,703,297)| (21,512,383)
Consolidated loss for the year FRNEEEBE (180,351,316)| (100,382,696)
Reconciliations of segment assets: PEMEEHR:
Assets EE
Total assets of reportable segments AIRF A BEE 225,429,675 | 276,062,076
Unallocated deposits, other receivables and RAOMIES ~ A ERKIE K
prepayments SEENE 959,691 1,104,204
Unallocated cash and bank balances XD & MEBITERS 15,639,098 8,076,065
Unallocated other corporate assets AOEHEMEXEE 4,393,412 3,251,263
Consolidated total assets REREE 246,421,876 288,493,608
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RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 2 HER @)
Geographical information: WEER:
The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of REBREFPHEEDKRANBER ZIK
customers and information about its non-current assets by HAARZEEMNHESIERBDEEZER
location of assets are detailed below: XIS
Revenue Non-current assets
Uy 3 *RBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
B | | ZB==F — g
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT 7 T 7 TT
Hong Kong B 33,141,069 | 25,458,643 | 46,187,115 | 90,329,684
PRC excluding Hong Kong FE (T BEERE) 87,565,053 | 113,421,932 | 44,492,725 | 33,833,292
East and South East Asia RERRMIE 10,518,987 | 21,183,196 | 46,688,274 | 37,978,965
Others HAb 1,876,040 1,060,595 - =
Consolidated total B Fr 133,101,149 | 161,124,366 |137,368,114 | 162,141,941
Revenue from major customer: REFEEFEFZWH:

Revenue from customer of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as

follows:

HAFERBEEIEZEPZHAEEAEEAE
YA R HB10% I BR AR a0 T

2022 2021
—_E__ —=EF=_—
HK$ HK$
BT 7B TT
Esport segment aepm e
Customer A ®P 26,435,731 14,156,786
Household products segment K JEE D &
Customer B %FB - 40,048,422
FEMNEEBEBRAT
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11. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 11. EERAMBX
2022 2021
—EC-CF %
HK$ HK$
BT 78T
Staff costs (including director’s EIRT(BEEEH2)
emoluments)
Employee benefits expense (including BRERIAZ(BREESEHE)
directors’ emoluments) (note 12) (B 5E12)
Fees we 396,000 396,000
Salaries, bonus prize distribution and e EARS DK KEERM
allowances
Included in cost of sales A &R A 38,394,483 27,035,790
Included in administrative expenses FFAITER A X 28,559,756 27,659,241
Equity-settled share-based payments AR == E R AR D B E ]
expenses NS X 56,075,086 7,466,336
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme iR K& 5| 51 21 4 7% 1,689,803 2,318,134
125,115,128 64,875,501

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included three directors (2021: three directors, for
one of them in 2021 was resigned on 30 April 2021 and
became key management of the Group since then, whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
note 12.) The emoluments of the remaining two (2021: two
individuals and the emoluments of the one resigned director
in 2021 after became the key management of the Group
during the year) are set out below:

TE&EEHFHAL

FAXREEREEaRTHATRRE=2%
E(ZTEZ—F ZHEF R —FHK
Edh—ZPR_E_—FWNA=+HE T
BUHETASEIZEEE  REZHE
HAMF12F78 2 DT A) e FRB WA
AT(CECEZ—F - WMBALTHHE R —F
HeEAASBEETEZEERENR T _—
FHEER) M HINAT

2022 2021
—_E_-C —_=EF_—

HK$ HK$

B 7T BT

Basic salaries and allowances HEARFH & KRR 1,609,658 1,903,647

Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKAE F 58 43K 18,000 30,000
Equity-settled share-based payments VA B % 45 & 30 DA B 10

BEROMAR 6,483,064 1,995,317

8,110,722 3,928,964
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments of the 2 (2021: 3) individuals (who are not

directors of the Company) with the highest emoluments are

within the following bands:

11.

& 818 B < (40)
LEEBHFMA L)

BEmFMamE(CE—F :=R)FFAR
AER)NMEN T TINEEZM :

Number of individuals

A#
2022 2021
—_E__ —=F=_—
Nil to HK$3,000,000 Z % 7T £8,000,0007% 7T 1 3
HK$3,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 3,000,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7T 1 =
BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EERARER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=EM=
The remuneration of every director is set out below: BEEZHMWOT
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HREAEREZ(FRAZARGENRARBRIBHEAARUME
Emoluments paid
or receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
connection with
Remunerations the management
(Note i) Employer's paid or receivable of the affairs of
Estimated  contribution to a in respect of the Company
Discretionary  money value of retirement  accepting office Housing or its subsidiary
Fees Salaries Bonus  other benefits  benefit scheme as director allowance undertaking Total
RESERANT
(Kt Bz BiE: JERELAER
RflE  BAEAHY BEef SEHALER
he g BEEL fRiEEEE 25 GEREH REZYL BRUE4HE a3t
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
B B B A B AT B BT B
Name of director 11:54
Executive drectors §ig%
— M. Cheng Ting Kong -gThRE - 120,000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
— Ms. Yeung So Mui - Bt - 120,000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
= Mr. Lin Jun Wal (note i) - RBRE(H3H) - 580,000 - 1,615,036 18,000 - - - 2,213,036
— Mr. Yau Chak Fung (note il - RS (W) - 580,000 - 22,044,058 18,000 - - - 22,642,058
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry (ote ) — BRAUEA (i) - 560,645 - 38262 18,000 - = - 304057
Independent non-executive diectors B FH{TES
— Mr. Tse Ting Kwan - ARG 132,000 - - - - - - = 132,000
— Mr. Fung Tze Wa - BTERE 132,000 - - - - - - - 132,000
— Mr. Ting Wong Kacee - TERE 132,000 300,000 - - - - - - 432,000
Total for 2022 ZECCE8E 396,000 2,260,645 - 55,485,716 66,000 - - - 58,208,361

FEREEMARA T 2022 &5 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR MY

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EEEARER(®E)
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=EBM<L (%)
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors FA BERRTHRABHEME
waived any emoluments during the year (2021: ERMEAAMNES(CE_—F B
HK$Nil). JL) °

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person's services as a director,
whether of the Company or ts subsidiary undertaking

REAEREZ(RRAALRIENBATER BHCNTRNHE
Emoluments paid or
receivable
in respect of
director's other
senvicesin
connection with
he management
(Notg1) Employer's Remungrations paid of the affairs of
Estimated  confribuiontoa ~ or receivablein the Company
Discretionary ~ money valug of retirement  respect of accepting Housing ot subsidiary
Fees Salaries Bonus ofher benefits ~ benefit scheme  office s director allowance undertaking Total
HESERANT
(3H) Ej FREs JEMBRTER
EHE  RAEAGHE BHen SEMARE
ne £ BEEL  BAEEER 25 aEkEH RERE ENIRYME &5
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT #T AT #T AT AT A1 AT £
Name of director EEL:2
Execuve directors §f7€%
~ M. Cheng Ting Kong -gTkRkE - 120,000 - - 6,000 - - - 126,000
— Ns. Yeung So Mui - BT = 120,000 = = 6,000 = = = 126,000
= Mr. Lin Jun Wai note i — IR () = 480,000 = 497,365 12,000 = = = 989,366
— Mr. Yau Chak Fung fnote ) - BEELE(H3Hi) - 143926 = 5,087,987 11,661 = - = 5540874
— Mr. Luk Wai Keung (note ) - BEBEE(HH = 576,553 = = 6,000 = = = 582,553
— Mr. Leung Kok Yin note v - 2EE R4 (i) S = - S - S - S -
Independent non-executive directors  BUFHTES
— Mr.Tsg Ting Kuan - dEYEE 132,000 - - - - - - - 132,000
~ Mr. Fung Tze Wa - BtERE 132,000 - - - - - - - 132,000
— Mr. Ting Wong Kacee -TERE 182,000 225,000 = = = = = = 357,000
Total for 2021 5 396,000 1964,779 = 5,086,352 41,661 = = = 1,987,192
Notes: B 7
(i) Estimated money values of other benefits include rent paid, (i) Htf =i E%EEeRed e -
share options, etc. B AR e &
(ii) Appointed on 30 April 2021 (ii) RZE_—FMA=1+THEZE
(iif) Appointed on 20 May 2021 (iif) KRB —FHA-THEZF
(iv) Appointed on 11 January 2022 (iv) RZZE-_—_F—A+—BHEZE
(v) Resigned on 30 April 2021 (v) RZE——FMA=1+HET
(vi) Resigned on 7 April 2021 (vi) RZTBE-_—FMALAEE
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12. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12. EERA K#EXR (8)
(Continued)
(b) Directors’ material interests in (b) EERRZ  RHERESHFH
transactions, arrangements or EAER
contracts
Save as disclosed in this consolidated financial BRARARNERE MG IRERTBEEE I
statements, no other significant transactions, AEEBMEREERITLART A
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s ERFINARARAIEERNEEH
business to which the Company was a party and in EATEESHEREEAERZM
which a director of the Company and the director’s RERKFRNERNFE[DATED
connected party had a material interest, whether EMEARS  THERELH °
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. BER K
2022 2021
—_E- ==
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on other loans HEiERF B 10,949,343 9,756,123
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFNE 1,205,130 859,915
Interest on royalty payable ENEFEEF B 48,328 10,634
12,202,801 10,626,672
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14. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 14, FIEHRUER) BX

2022 2021
—E-—F T —%F
HK$ HK$
BT & T
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax ENEARRIE — PRI EFTEHL
Provision for the year I S B 49,010 194,205
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETRE 441,194 —
490,204 194,205
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ENEARIIE — BANEH
Over-provision in prior years BAFEHBREEE = (15,973)
Current tax — Malaysia Corporate Tax BNEAFRIE — BARA R EM
Provision for the year NEEEME - 21,483
Current tax — Taiwan Corporate Tax BUEARIIE — & FIS=ZE
FTiS i
Provision for the year NE T A - =
Deferred tax — Malaysia Corporate Tax EERIE — HARADRER
Over-provision in prior years BAFEHERG (743,953) =
(253,749) 199,715

212 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established
in Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25% and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entitles not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
Enterprise Income Tax tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries has
been provided at a rate of 25% (2021: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Malaysia Corporate Tax has been provided at a rate of 24%

(2021: 24%) on the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued) 14.

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

Taiwan Corporate Tax has been provided at a rate of 20%
(2021: 20%) on the estimated assessable profit for both

years.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,

Frig Bl (K %), B (&)

5% & M E XS M EFE G ER
B F #220% (Z T = —F 1 20%) 2 Bt & #
e

Eﬁﬁfmﬁﬁéﬁ/‘fﬁéfﬂz%ﬁlﬁ?ﬁiEET&%K

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax
expense and the product of loss before tax

multiplied by the PRC Enterprise Income Tax

rate is as follows:

Eﬁ E B

Z“‘Eﬁﬁﬁl%?.éﬁf%ﬁ R EIRITHOAR
BRIEAHE

FERmXERRABRERTFET
EMBHRR2RBHEROTN:

2022 2021
—sE=-= —E_—F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 TT
Loss before tax B 56 B /&5 48 (180,605,065)| (100,182,981)
Tax at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate & F1 B 1> 2 B 153 75 B K 25%
of 25% (2021: 25%) :;:—i 25%) &t ¢ (45,151,266) | (25,045,745)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BEGRRIANEBEE ’i.“ (3,840,109) (1,366,434)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR ATOHEETE
deductible 8,818,827 6,939,966
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries M /B QA AN E & R a2 & 19,594,944 8,428,046
Over provision in previous years BEFEBEREG (302,759) (15,973)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses AERRIBEBENR S E 20,924,420 11,793,756
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not BRI ARREIBEEEBNRB
previously recognised Te (281,660) (532,344)
Tax effect of temporary differences not * ﬁE REFEENRBZE
recognised (16,146) (1,557)
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiEfRi(E%), FxX (253,749) 199,715
FEMNEEBEBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

B IS ER AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

15.

214 mperium Technology Group Limited

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging and

15. FREHE

AEBEZEFRABRIVEHERGA) T

(crediting) the following: I B -
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Auditor's remuneration A ikl 1,550,000 1,650,000
Cost of inventories recognised as an expenses BRARAY ZEERA 32,397,658 73,633,541
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEESH
Included in cost of sales A E R A 6,604,147 7,685,955
Included in administrative expenses HATHAY 10,297,785 5,317,273
16,901,932 13,003,228
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE BERRENE
Included in cost of sales FAER AR 8,399,783 5,121,757
Included in administrative expenses HATTHAY 3,401,219 2,318,735
11,801,002 7,440,491
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE
Included in cost of sales ATAHER K 10,492,132 10,988,826
Included in administrative expenses SAITHAY 9,471,421 3,669,769
19,963,553 14,658,596
Share option expenses (included in administrative BRERST GIATHAR)
expenses) 56,075,085 7,466,336
Gain on lease modification (included in other operating HEBI 2 Ua GIAEfLERY)
expenses) (6,467) (145,874)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HENE - BER RG22 WE) /BB
(included in other operating expenses) GTAEMEERR) (20,040) 690,915
Loss on write off of intangible assets (included in other WERVEELER
operating expenses) (FIAEMEERE) 2,493,681 -
Gain on write off of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities  #i$46E FEEE KB EAE 2 Yz
(included in other operating expenses) (GFAEMEEHRZ) (98,936) =
Write off of deposits, other receivables and prepayments  #{ &4 « H it EU A R BN A
(included in other operating expenses) GTAEMEERR) 3,787,415 =
Impairment on intangible assets (included in impairment on  EF & EREGIAEL B EERE)
non-financial assets) - 7,000,000
Impairment on receivables, net eI FIEREF B 1,159,184 2,687,266
Impairment on property, plant and equipment (included in 1% ~ i = R & & i &
impairment on non-financial assets) (GTAkEREERE) 9,268,626 =
Impairment on right-of-use assets (included in impairment £ B # & & H &
on non-financial assets) (FTAEEREERE) 11,120,277 =
Impairment on cryptocurrency deposits and receivables ~ ME &R 4 R ENNE § %R E
(included in impairment on non-financial assets) GTAFEREERNE) 6,602,039 3,060,657
Write-down of cryptocurrencies % & AR 16,971,751 7,004,817
Operating lease charges — buildings REHEER - BF 1,078,941 870,959
Net exchange losses (included in other operating expenses) [& ¥ & 18 /%58 Gt A £ & & 5 %) 1,309,874 3,003,800
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 15. FREEBE)
Cost of inventories as an expense includes staff costs IERSTMGFEERABEE IR ARITE
and depreciation of approximately HK$162,803 (2021: #9162,803% T (= & — — % : 3,077,353%
HK$3,077,353) which are included in the amounts disclosed Jo) BEETA LI DRI E 2 RIEA ©
separately.
DIVIDEND 16. R E
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company FR AREBTERNFHXEREKE(CZE
during the year (2021: Nil). T F )
LOSS PER SHARE 17. BRE#E
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is FlRERREEEEDRE T ARQRE
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company BAEBGEEERL B INEFSEGE
and weighted-average number of ordinary shares, as follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
T P& T
Loss =]
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARAESRELRK
for the purpose of calculating basic and BEBEENEIARESRA
diluted loss per share FE(LE B (180,883,917)| (99,031,460)
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
Number of shares iigvig =]
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EFE SR E A K&
for the purpose of calculating basic and BEBEBE 2 EBR
diluted loss per share D0 #E 15 2 311,036,000 303,070,904

As the Company’s share options during the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2022 do not give rise to any dilutive
effect to the loss per share, diluted loss per share was the EREESRITMNBETE

T FR_F-__FF+_A=F+—HILHF

same as the basic loss per share for the year ended 31

December 2021 and 2022.

- o
w5y

EREEE2E S - —FK_F-_—"F+_HA
=+ —HIFE ARRZ2ERELES

B BRESHERESREAEBEMAR -

FENREEARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE MR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ WMEKXE
Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
improvement machinery equipment vehicles Total
B £ER
HEZE REREH #fh L] @it
HKS HKS$ HKS$ HKS HKS
BT AT BT BT BT
Cost BA

t 1 January 2021 RZFZ-5-A-H 10,366,865 22,039,630 3,339,801 1,544,499 37,290,795
Additions AE 108,894 449,688 34,643,390 - 35,201,972
Disposal k= - (10,483,394) (273.914) (665,207) (11,422,515)
Write off L §d (8,817) - (1,192,741) = (1,201,558
Exchange differences EREE 247,571 387,285 76,168 31,703 742,727
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 WZEZ-FTZA=T-AR

“Z-"F-f-H 10,714,513 12,393,209 36,592,704 910,995 60,611,421
Additions RE 234,028 692,652 2,375,088 - 3,301,768
Disposal HE - (9,819,968) (3,340,276) - (13,160,244)
Write off ki (4.471) - (1,813,839) - (1,818,304)
Exchange differences EREE (553,550) (528,266) (232,644) (711,719 (1,386,179)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZE+A=1-H 10,390,520 2,787,627 33,581,089 839,276 47,548,462
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 23t 17 & & 5 &

t 1 January 2021 RZF-—-E-A-H 6,752,633 18,716,879 1,876,181 1,369,562 28,715,255
Charge for the year ERZ i 1,831,581 301,352 5,286,836 20723 7,440,492
Disposal HE - (8,108,374) (245,029) (598,687) (8,947,090)
Write off 5 (8,817) - (1,097,994) = (1,106,811)
Exchange differences ELZEE 214132 329,853 41,934 28,300 614,219
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE-F+-f=+-HER

“$--%-A-H 8,789,629 11,244,710 5,861,928 819,898 26,716,065
Charge for the year ERF 1,556,520 76,737 10,167,745 - 11,801,002
Disposal HE - (8,771,013) (3,335,574) - (12,106,587
Impairment A - - 9,268,626 - 9,268,626
Write off i (4.471) - (1,813,839) - (1,818,304)
Exchange differences EREE (523,732) (451,357) 40,380) (64,546) (1,080,015)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZA=+-A 9,817,846 2,099,077 20,108,512 755,352 32,780,787
Carrying amount KA
At 31 December 2022 R_E-__#+-A=1-H 572,674 638,550 13,472,527 83,924 14,767,675
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ-51ZA=+-A 1,924,984 1,148,499 30,780,776 91,007 33,895,356
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment

Due to the developments in the cryptocurrencies market and
the recent plunge of the market price of Filecoin and Chia
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on cryptocurrencies
mining equipment included in property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets.

The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of those
cryptocurrencies mining equipment. As a result the carrying
amounts of these assets were written down to their
recoverable amounts. An impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets of HK$9,268,626
and HK$11,120,277 were recognised respectively in profit or
loss within the cloud computing and date storage segment
to which these assets relate during the year. The estimates
of recoverable amounts were based on the equipments’
fair values less costs of disposal, using market comparable
approach by reference to market evidence of recent
transactions for similar equipment by an independent valuer,
Greater China Appraisal Limited. The fair value on which the
recoverable amount is based on is categorised as level 2
measurement. The key assumption on which management
has based its determination of fair value less costs of
disposal is that the condition of comparable equipment is
considered similar and the costs of disposal are assumed to
be 3% of the fair market value of the equipment.

18.

M- BERKRE G

w8 ¥ 1d

HRAMEEEMENERURBEE-Z
——F+=B=+—H8 Lt F EFilecoin % &
DEAMBERRIRK A5EEEE
EE??’;TEW@EJT%'I[H#J\%%*J@%

BEARFAEEENNME E¥RAKR
TR AR o

AEBEFHEZENEEBRAERENTIK
- At Z5&E/ KA EEMH
FHAKRECE WE- BMERIKBEAR
fF A E E /R (EEE D R 79,268,626/5
TLRI112027738 T RAFEERZEER
ERENZEFEREBERES BANEE
PR - AIKESENGBTERRENR
AREEREZEEKRAN  KAMHALLE
WREBIGEMEEFTEAERAAIZA
BULEBERZHOMBER - sl kB & EM
EKENAAEBEEESPEA_-_RTE - B
2 E/Aﬁﬁ‘;ﬁﬂtﬂﬁﬁﬂxﬁﬁgwmzx
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i ZE —Z -~ &+ _A=+—H It EE

19.

218 Imperium Technology Group Limited

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out certain offices under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for
an initial period of 1 to 3 years (2021: 1 to 3 years). Majority
of the lease contracts contain market review clauses in the
event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

19.

REWE

AEEULERENFAEBAETHAE -
HEeESAIN HENYHRERBEE A —
EZF(ZE—F:—ZE=ZF) - WAMAEA
TEEHNE AAZHEEEERBEET
SBEERN o

HRAAEHEOUNSEEESANNER
KetE BMAKETSERAHEERHMAR
SRR c HESRTEREBREERRS
FAEATRERERSEBEZDENE
e

2022 2021
—_E__ —E=—
HK$ HK$
BT B TT
At 1 January KR—H—H 22,201,938 23,389,782
Net fair value loss recognised in profit or loss R IB X HER A 0 E E5 18 % 58 (534,000) (450,250)
Exchange differences EHE=% (1,171,339) (737,594)
At 31 December n+=-—A=+—H 20,496,599 22,201,938

Investment properties were revalued at 31 December 2022
and 2021 by Greater China Appraisal Limited and Jones
Lang LaSelle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
respectively, an independent firm of chartered surveyors.

Valuation for investment properties was derived using the
investment method (2021: market comparable approach).

The valuation technique in estimating the fair value has been
changed from Market comparable approach to investment
method. The new valuer, Greater China Appraisal Limited,
considered the investment method is more appropriate than
the market comparable approach in order to consider the
existing rental agreement entered by the Group.

With reference to the sensitive analysis by using the market
comparable approach for the fair value as at 31 December
2022. No material difference incurred due to the change in
valuation technique.

The details of valuation techniques and inputs used are set
out in note 7(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Lease liabilities of HK$10,122,228 (2021: HK$13,535,221) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$12,158,361
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$16,788,362). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

All the plant and machinery are leased out under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period 3 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated. All the leases includes
variable lease payments.

HABBMEM
For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20, FHREE
Other
properties
Plant and leased for
machinery own use Total
Hing A Mt
5 & HEWE
HK$ HK$ HK$
77T BT 78 TT
At 1 January 2021 W-_ZE-——F—F—H = 11,809,411 11,809,411
Addition NE 38,709,850 14,415,817 53,125,667
Modification (ET - (3,573,056) (3,573,056)
Depreciation e (8,652,558) (6,006,038) (14,658,596)
Exchange differences [E X =% — 142,228 142,228
At 31 December 2021 and RZE——F+=A=+—H
1 January 2022 —E-—_#F—HF—8H 30,057,292 16,788,362 46,845,654
Addition NE = 10,984,712 10,984,712
Modification 1B = (1,844,407) (1,844,407)
Depreciation e (9,856,557) (10,106,996) (19,963,553)
Impairment BB (11,120,277) — (11,120,277)
Write off it 58 — (3,032,824) (3,032,824)
Exchange differences FE R =% — (630,486) (630,486)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ=—F+=—A=+—H 9,080,458 12,158,361 21,238,819

RZE_—_F+_A=+—H8B #H@EFE
B #E & E12,1583618 L (=& = — F:
16,788,362/ 7t) B R 1 & & (510,122,228
BT (ZZ —— 4 :138,535,221) - B H
AREBEONHEEENERERI  HEH
BWERIEMNRZGE HEEENSEER
ERE AR -

PHBERRAYEEERELE - AE
MR ERBES=F  RZ AR E
BEE ENBEAMAKK 2HAE
HHATRAEHK -

FENREEARAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
20.

220 Imperium Technology Group Limited

B IS ER AR MR

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. FHAREEE®)
The Group early terminated certain leases for other REBRAFERAKELEMEREEY
properties leased for own use in the current year. A write- ¥WE THE - R EE3,032,824% 7T A
off of HK$3,032,824 was recognised to write off the cost THERFERABEEEENNRAEA  RZF
of the corresponding items of right-of-use assets to their ZZF+ZA=+—81t  EnkBEEEAE
recoverable amount of nil as at 31 December 2022. zo
2022 2021
—E__F —=F=——
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Depreciation charge on right-of-use assets CRAREENITEER 19,963,553 14,658,596
Interest on lease liabilities HEABRNFE
(included in finance costs) (FTABEE A AN) 1,205,130 859,915
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHBEEEHE M
(included in cost of sales, distribution costs ~ (FFASEERK A « 7 5K AN
and administrative expenses) LARATBFA ) 1,078,941 870,959

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
HK$10,984,712 (2021: HK$53,125,667). This amount
included the purchase of plant and machinery of HK$NIil
(2021: HK$38,709,850), and the remainder primarily related
the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note
39(b).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set out in note 30.
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. FRAEEE®E
(i) Other properties leased for own use (i) HtEAHEEWHX
The Group leases various offices, warehouses, AEEHASERAE BEERME
and factory for its operations. Lease contracts are ERAREZ  -HEARMNEEHR
entered into for fixed term of two years to three APMEE=ZF(ZTE_—F - WEE
years (2021: two years to three years). Lease terms =F)c AR @B EERER - I
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain BEZENREZIERRAGMSE - £ 1§
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In E 18 B K2 &F & 71 AT RC8E B R B - AR
determining the lease term and assessing the length SEFEAGHNER YRESRA
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the o8 B 1T RO EABR ©
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.
(ii) Other leases (i) HmHBEE
The Group leases plant and machinery under leases AEBREBE=FIHNAOEER
expiring from 3 years. Some leases include an option EREW - & FTHABEEEHH
to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. BAEGKREEENRE - FTAMH
None of the leases includes variable lease payments. EXNTERREUSEHEMNK -
21. GOODWILL 21, BE
2022 2021
—ZE2_-__ T —4F
HK$ HK$
BT 78T
Cost S9N
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—HBE+=ZA=+—H 16,482,214 16,482,214

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

Accumulated impairment losses 2t REEE

At 1 January Rn—H—H
Impairment loss VRN SR

At 31 December R+=—RA=+—H
Carrying amount REE

At 31 December w+=—A=+—A”

(13,500,000)|  (13,500,000)
(13,500,000)|  (13,500,000)
2,982,214 2,982,214

FENEEEERAT 2022 % 221
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i ZE —Z -~ &+ _A=+—H It EE

21.

222 Imperium Technology Group Limited

GOODWILL (Continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated,
at acquisition, to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) that is
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows:

21.

BE %)

EEBAMTRE Y EER KBRS RET
EH BN AN TSN RS
MR ELER) BENEEEDE
T

2022 2021
—E__F —=F=_—
HK$ HK$
& 7T 7T
Online games: R EEE

Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn. Bhd. and Cubinet Interactive (MSC)
its subsidiaries (the “Cubinet Group”) Sdn. Bhd. & E i & A &)

([Cubinet £ & ]) 2,982,214 2,982,214

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$60,000 and
HK$2,676,000 respectively that generate cash flows together
with the related goodwill are also included in the CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
on the basis of its value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rate, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the period.
The Group estimates discount rate using pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the business of the CGU
operates. Budgeted gross margin and turnover are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

GOODWILL (Continued)

The Group prepares cash flow forecast derived from the
most recent financial budgets approved by the directors for
the next five years with the residual period using the growth
rate of 2.50% (2021: 2.01%). This rate does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the
Group’s online game activities is 20.68% (2021: 19.52%).

At 31 December 2022, goodwill (net of impairment in prior
years) of HK$2,982,214 was allocated to the Cubinet Group
within the online game segment. Due to the delay in plan
of publishing mobile games, the Group has revised its cash
flow forecast for this CGU. The recoverable amount of the
CGU is approximately HK$7,687,000 (2021: HK$7,607,000)
and no further impairment loss recognised on goodwill
during the year (2021: HK$Nil).

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of this unit. Management believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions

would not result in further impairment.

21.

BE %)
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GAMBREMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. BILEE
Game
intellectual
properties and Game Rights on Money lending
licenses software  esports team Trademark license Total
BRANERR AET
it 4 EHEA  BHEBZER i1 HERR @3
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
B BT BT B BT BT
Cost A
1 January 2021 R=E=-%-A-H 47,258,647 5,083,048 19,070,400 7,300,000 499,999 79,212,094
Additions hE 16,935,535 - - - - 16,935,535
Exchange differences ELZE (380,484) - 521,600 - = 141,116
At 31 December 2021 and R-B_-Ft-A=t-H
1 January 2022 R=F--%-A-H 63,813,698 5,083,048 19,592,000 7,300,000 499,999 96,288,745
Additions AE 40,386,690 - - - - 40,386,690
Write off s (15,900,617) - - - - (15,900,617)
Exchange differences ERZEE (2,273,121) - (1,542,400) - = (3,815,521)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-Z#+ZA=+-A 86,026,650 5,083,048 18,049,600 7,300,000 499,999 116,959,297
Accumulated amortisationand EH EHRFEEE
impairment losses
At 1 January 2021 \ZEZ-£-A-A 22,638,450 5,083,048 1,589,200 851,667 - 30,162,365
Amortisation B 7,685,955 - 3,857,273 1,460,000 - 13,003,228
Impairment wiE 7,000,000 - - - = 7,000,000
Exchange differences ELZEE (402,021) - 104,504 - = (297,627)
At 31 December 2021 and “EZ-F1ZR Eﬂ' B
1 January 2022 Z::i 36,922,184 5,083,048 5,651,067 2,311,667 - 49,867,966
Amortisation f% 11,715,783 - 3,726,149 1,460,000 - 16,901,932
Eliminated on write off BRI (13,406,936) - - - - (13,406,936)
Exchange differences EREE (1,034,929) - (553,243) - - (1,588,172)
At 31 December 2022 R=EZZE+ZA=+-H 34,196,102 5,083,048 8,723,973 3,771,667 - 51,774,790
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2022 WZEZZFTZA=1-H 51,830,548 - 9,305,627 3,528,333 499,999 65,184,507
At 31 December 2021 RZF-—%+Zf=1-R 26,891,514 - 14,040,933 4,988,333 499,999 46,420,779
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group’s license of HK$499,999 (2021: HK$499,999) at
31 December 2022 is assessed as having indefinite useful
life because the license has a limited term of 1 year but
would be able to be renewed annually at minimal cost. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and any conditions
necessary to obtain renewal would be satisfied. The license
will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be
finite.

At 31 December 2022, management of the Group
determined that there was no impairment of the
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) containing the license with
indefinite useful life. The recoverable amount of the CGU
containing the license has been determined on a value in
use calculation. The Group prepared cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
the directors for the next 3 year period.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 19%
(2021: 12%).

The average remaining amortisation period of game
intellectual properties and licenses, rights on esports team
and trademark are 1 to 3 years (2021: 1 to 3 years), 2.6 years
(2021: 3.6 years) and 2.4 years (2021: 3.4 years) respectively.

The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount
of its game intellectual properties and licenses classified
as intangible assets in 2022, having regard to the market
conditions of the Group’s products. These assets are used
in the Group’s online game segment.

Game A

No impairment loss for Game A’s intellectual properties was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
The recoverable amount of approximately HK$16,585,000
(2021: HK$16,140,000) for the relevant assets has been
determined on the bases of their value in use using
discounted cash flow method. The rate used to discount the
forecast cash flows is 18% (2021: 16%).

22,
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MR-ZE-——#+-A=+—0 XEEHE
#8499,999% 7T (= & — — 4 : 499,999 7T)
FEAEEERAFEATH  AZERNE
EEMRIF  WEFAREMKAES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
22.

23.

226 Imperium Technology Group Limited
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 22, BEEEH)
Game B 5B
During the year, the operation of Game B was terminated. RAFE BEEFEEEHB AARES
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the RE AEBEEZAFRANEEERBZ
Group will no longer be able to generate future economic ok B R T R T EE AR R R AS B FIl 5% o
benefits from the use or disposal of the Game B intellectual Bt - 5% 87 B 2 R0 # 2 #E % hR #1,500,000 7%
properties and licenses. Therefore, such game intellectual TLERFAMEE -
properties and licenses of HK$1,500,000 were written off
during the year.
At 31 December 2021, the recoverable amount of RZZEZ—F+-A=1T—"H FH@EEZ
approximately HK$4,448,000 for the relevant assets A] Uy [B] & 58 #4,448,00078 7T JH 1R 1B E F B
had been determined on the bases of their value in use BEENEeREMREZET BenEE
using discounted cash flow method. The rate used to B BT R B BE 3R K 516% © B 5Lk 15 B A9 A
discount the forecast cash flows was 16%. An impairment 5 EE M T KR RE RE SR URL{E7,000,00078 7T °
of HK$7,000,000 was made to such game intellectual
properties and licenses.
Metasens Metasens
During the year, two of the projects included in Metasens RAFE  Metasens W A IE B W E 1= °
were suspended. The directors of the Company are of the RRARIEERA ASBEEEEAMF AL
opinion that the Group will no longer be able to generate PEZEFHEEMESERRLEEFZ= -
future economic benefits from the use or disposal of these It BEZEEEEAENAEEE CKREA
projects. Therefore, intellectual properties related to these 994,000/ JT EL A & Al 84 o
projects with a carrying value of HK$994,000 were written
off during the year.
No impairment loss for metasens’ intellectual properties HE-_ZT-_F+-RA=+—HIEFE "
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Metasens B % 55 Bf 25 2K 7 SR8 B &5 18 - 43
recoverable amount of approximately HK$41,000,000 for the 7 & E /A U B £ 58 4941,000,0007% T B
relevant assets has been determined on the basis of their BIEFEFHABEUNRSEREURNEETE °
value in use using discounted cash flow method. The rate IR &R = TR FT R B IR R B20% °
used to discount the forecast cash flows is 20%.
INVENTORIES 23. 78
2022 2021
—E=-= —EF——
HK$ HK$
BT 78 T
Raw material R #1 %4 1,739 979,828
Work in progress EHm 1,145,207 98,042
Finished goods BIBK o 360,658 97,783
1,507,604 1,175,653
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

LOAN RECEIVABLES AND INTEREST 24, EWERKEWF R
RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
—_E__ —=EF=_—
HK$ HK$
BT 77T
Loan receivables, net of loss allowance JE U B 2R (F0 Bk S 18 ) 3,354,242 6,432,677
Interest receivables & I F) B 248,619 516,657
3,602,861 6,949,334

Details of the loss allowance for the loan receivables and

interests receivables is set out in note 6.3(b).

The maturity profile of loan receivables and interest
receivables at the reporting date is analysed by the remaining

periods to their contractual maturity dates as follows:

ERREERREBUEMNBZEBBERFBFE

A 5£6.3(b) °

JiSES
=

=H
HEHEA

HEKEREERHNSIZHBTH

WEHRZBHBMBERAT

2022 2021

—Eg=-= —E-—%F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within one year —F R 3,602,861 6,508,098
In the second year FF - 441,236
In the third year F=F = =
3,602,861 6,949,334

The carrying amounts of the loan receivables and interest

receivables are denominated in HKD.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, all loan receivables are
unsecured, bear interest at fixed rates and are repayable

with fixed terms agreed with the customers.

FE U & RN WA Bz BRTE B Th i B T B

B o

R-B-__FR-F_—F+t-A=1t—8"
FMERBERAERR ZEETMNEHR

RIZEFF HE N EERREE -

FENMEEEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
25. TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. EWREZFRM
2022 2021
—E-—F T —%F
HK$ HK$
B T BT
Trade receivables FE W E 5 AR 3K 33,998,453 32,023,973
Allowance for expected credit losses TEHEEEEREG = (5,047,390)
33,998,453 26,976,583

Details of the loss allowance for the trade receivables is set

out in note 6.3(b).

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90 days.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by directors. The
aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on
the invoice date, and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

ERERLEEZER ZBEBEBFBHNN

6.3(b) °

AEETBUEERFTERZPETRS -
EEH RN FI0EOK - EFFH2F
BEESR AKBREESERRER
HEkMREBERBERZEROTMOT

2022 2021

—_=E__ —_=EF_—
HK$ HK$
BT B TT
0-30 days 0E30XK 14,072,497 8,994,219
31-60 days 31E260K 3,401,911 3,624,605
61-90 days 61Z290K 1,878,368 5,025,649
Over 90 days 90K A £ 14,645,677 9,332,110
33,998,453 26,976,583

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

AEEBEREZERZERENLTNIER

denominated in the following currencies: P18 -
2022 2021
—_E_C —_EF_—
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HKD BT 310,120 664,163
RMB ARE 24,975,425 24,136,936
UsD ETT 8,459,096 1,593,438
Others EH A 253,812 582,046
33,998,453 26,976,583
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26.

27.

RE BRI
For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —_E - —_F+ _A=+—HItFE
DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 26. e HMEWREREMNRE
PREPAYMENTS
2022 2021
—ZE2__ T —4F
HK$ HK$
BT 78 TT
Deposit E& 14,604,992 11,711,668
Prepayments TEF R IE 8,917,273 8,724,753
Other receivables H A fE Ug FRA 7,950,832 8,258,330
31,473,097 28,694,751
CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS 27. MEE¥EE
a. Cryptocurrencies a. MmMEEY%
Note HK$
B 5% 78 TT
At 1 January 2021 R-_T_—F—HA—H —
Additions NE
Cryptocurrencies mined ERENE &K 8 5,215,825
Cryptocurrencies received B Y I = B
Received from cryptocurrency receivables B UCE FE Y hn = | 27(b) 15,481,161
Received from the sale of NFTs and EENFTR E i i F R
other digital tokens T 15 I8 17,167,054
Total additions NE AT 37,864,040
Transferred to cryptocurrency deposits EANEE®IES 27(b) (7,864,689)
Cryptocurrencies paid BT INE & (324,521)
Write-down during the year F A OB (7,004,817)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZBE—_—F+-_A=+—H8BK
—_E-_—_4%—AF—H 22,670,013
Additions =
Cryptocurrencies mined ERENE &K 8 4,192,440
Cryptocurrencies received BEE IR B
Received from cryptocurrency receivables B YER E W hn 2 B 27(b) 8,696,424
Received from the sale of NFTs and HENFTR E i TR
other digital tokens FFr 13 5 18 1,152,265
Total additions NE R 14,041,129
Transferred to cryptocurrency deposits EANEE®ES 27(b) (2,582,115)
Cryptocurrencies sold EEMEEK (589,717)
Cryptocurrencies paid BT INEE ¥ (10,244,922)
Write-down during the year F A MO F R (16,971,751)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H 6,322,637
FEREEMARA T 2022 £ 229
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e B RRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
27. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (Continued) 27. MEE¥EE®E
a. Cryptocurrencies (Continued) a. mMNEE®HE)
At 31 December 2022, the Group held NR-—ZTE-——F+—-_A=+—H &%
cryptocurrencies with carrying amount of B # A Bk m 186,322,637/ JT A N =
HK$6,322,637 (2021: HK$22,670,013). The breakdown B (ZZT=—4F :22,670,013/87L) °
of which can be seen below: EBRMAMT:
Coins/tokens HK$
B e K B IT
USDT & Tether USDT £ 2z 12 #& 72,343 564,855
Ethereum — ETH Ethereum — ETH 248 2,320,282
BNB e £ 77 147,793
Filecoin Filecoin 76,149 1,790,743
Chia ESIEEL: 6,966 1,498,964
At 31 December 2022 R-oZT——
+=-—A=+—H 155,783 6,322,637
Coins/tokens HK$
BIEEE R BT
USDT & Tether USDT £ 2= 12 #& 1,300,000 10,137,400
Ethereum — ETH Ethereum — ETH 251 7,249,007
Filecoin Filecoin 12,834 3,413,467
Chia FnE 2,302 1,870,139
At 31 December 2021 RZTEZ—%F
+-—A=+—H 1,315,387 22,670,013
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

27. CRYPTOCURRENCY ASSETS (Continued) 27. MEE¥EE®
Cryptocurrency deposits and b. NMZEUREREVUNBREY
receivables
Cryptocurrency Cryptocurrency
deposits receivables Total
nEgeE%Eses EENEE BEt
Note HK$ HK$ HK$
BT & BT BT BT
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE=——F—H—H — — —
Additions WE
Transferred from BMEEEEA
cryptocurrencies 27(a) 7,864,689 — 7,864,689
Rental income earned from A A A B R
leases of machines to mu*‘bﬁ%eﬁff%%as
lessees to engage in BHERA
cryptocurrency mining 8 — 17,017,598 17,017,598
Total additions NEBRE
Received from the customers B& PR 27(a) — (15,481,161)  (15,481,161)
Impairment during the year & 8 15 (2,127,290) (933,367)  (3,060,657)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZ=——F+=A
1 January 2022 =+t—-Bk
—E-__%F—HF—H 5,737,399 603,070 6,340,469
Additions NE
Transferred from EMEEEEA
cryptocurrencies 27(a) 2,582,115 — 2,582,115
Rental income earned from A& A R
leases of machines to iR =g ok 3=
lessees to engage in {5 1 & WA
cryptocurrency mining 8 — 8,254,594 8,254,594
Total additions WEHBTE
Received from the customers BEF U E 27(a) - (8,696,424) (8,696,424)
Impairment during the year FAREE 15 (6,549,528) (52,511) (6,602,039)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE=——
+-—A=+—H 1,769,986 108,729 1,878,715
The carrying amounts of cryptocurrency deposits MEEEZe RERNE EB MR
and receivables were reviewed at year end date Efﬁﬁég RIBES B 25 £ 8536
in accordance with HKAS 36, an impairment of FHETEHN HE_T-_—_F+=A
approximately HK$6,602,000 (2021: HK$3,061,000) =+ —HIEFE " 46,602,000% T

was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31

December 2022.

— T ——4£:3,061,000/% 7T) KR (B

SEWERSBE -

FENMEEEERAR
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e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 28.

As at 31 December 2022, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$16,795,846
(2021: HK$22,580,229). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and bank
balances are denominated in the following currencies:

BeERRITHEER

R—ZE-_—_F+-_A=Z=+—H A& H
NMARBINEBEZRERBITEBDNA
16,795,846/ 7L (Z & = — 4 : 22,580,229/
T ARBHIBMABIINEABREFTRHINEE
BIEFIARGERE SERNEZTERE

AEBZRERBITEHRKREEZE T
EEIIE:

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—%F

HK$ HK$

BT 78T

HKD B TT 19,862,474 13,233,751
RMB AR # 16,795,846 22,580,229
UsD ETT 3,984,485 3,282,792
MYR H 255,124 402,034
THB Zr 8K 370,975 457,311
Philippine Piso (“PHP”) FREBR(ERD 3,666 7,010
NTD ek 1,443,740 3,038,765
EUR BL 72 47,578 29,318
42,763,888 43,026,210
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

TRADE PAYABLES 29. ERESERM
2022 2021
—E-—F T —%F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade payables JEHE SRR 10,179,350 5,361,514

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to
90 days from its suppliers.

At the end of reporting period, the aging analysis of trade

HER—RETAEE0E0RNEEH -

BERSHE BENEZERFAKERZEH

payables, based on the invoice date is as follows: LR OWOT
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$ HK$
BT 78T
0-30 days 0E30X 720,482 2,279,556
31-60 days 31E60K 2,926,161 667,081
61-90 days 61290K 1,812,019 643,419
Over 90 days 90K A E 4,720,688 1,771,458
10,179,350 5,361,514

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are

AEBERNESERZEABEBATIERE

denominated in the following currencies: EREE
2022 2021
—E-_F T
HK$ HK$
& T B IT
RMB AR¥ 6,750,211 2,070,302
USD e 3,324,343 3,215,666
THB e 7 104,793 75,546
HKD BT - =
Others HAth 3 —
10,179,350 5,361,514
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e MR RME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HE&AE
Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
BEEREAENR EERHEENRNRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E_—fF —E-C —E-—F
HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Within one year —FR 7,050,678 8,949,239 6,260,396 8,145,346
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £E-ZFAF (BEEEMT) 4,210,342 5,619,700 3,861,832 5,389,875
11,261,020 14,568,939 10,122,228 13,535,221
Less: Future finance charges B RREEER Not Not
applicable applicable
(1,138,792) (1,038,718) FEA TEMA
Present value of lease obligations ~ AEET 2B E 10,122,228 13,535,221 10,122,228 13,535,221
Less: Amount due for settlement i t—EAARELENSE
within 12 months (shown under GINRBEEET)
current liabilities) (6,260,396) (8,145,346)
Amount due for settlement after THARTEENSSE
12 months 3,861,832 5,389,875
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities ARBEEaRE 2 EERFENF1.55%
range from 1.55% to 14.02%. (2021: from 1.55% to 9.55%). F14.02% 2 H(ZFE=Z—F: M F1.55% =

9.55% 2 fE) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
30. HE&E®H)
AEB2HEBGEREE DR T EKT]

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities are

denominated in the following currencies: &:
2022 2021
—_=E__ ==
HK$ HK$
BT & T
HKD BT 4,346,474 1,410,930
RMB AR 3,659,096 7,331,491
NTD ek 879,152 853,483
SGD AN 7T 83,356 343,477
usD ETT 1,116,958 3,595,840
THB e 7 37,192 -
10,122,228 18,535,221
LOAN FROM RELATED PARTIES 3. REBBIZER
As at 31 December 2022, the Group received loans from R-ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—H K&

five (2021: three) related parties with principal amount of BRA(ZE—F:=4) @85 WKERAE
HK$280,000,000 in total (2021: HK$200,000,000). These & & #£280,000,000/%8 jt(= & = — F:
200,000,000 L) 2 EH - Z S ER A &
R RFEBONE2%TE R AR —F =
FAEE ZEERZAAEBENRBEER
BEFRVBERFE2HETMERNEN F5%E
5.625% 2 Al il &t ©

loans were unsecured, interest bearing from 0% to 2% per
annum and repayable within one to three years. The fair
value of these loans were estimated at the prevailing market
interest rates for equivalent loans ranged from 5% to 5.625%
on initial recognition.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32. HttERNRERESIEEB
2022 2021
—E-= —E—%F
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Current liabilities REBEE
Deposits received BliEE 385,324 406,843
Accruals e 29,112,266 33,659,757
Receipt in advance T8 U IR 9,442,128 10,792,820
Loan from third parties (Note (a)) KEE=H2ERX(K (@) 5,390,505 5,390,505
Royalty payable (Note (b)) JE 15 =2 F) 4 & (Fff 5% (b)) 2,832,844 3,595,037
Other payables H th j& 1 ZOIE 35,450,016 23,057,768
82,613,083 76,902,730
FEREEMARA T 2022 5% 235
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

32. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 32.
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) The balance represented loans from one (2021: one) independent
third party. These loans were unsecured, interest bearing at fixed
rates ranged from 3% (2021: 3.00%) per annum and repayable within
one year.

(b) The balance represented non-cancellable minimum royalty payable
to a game developer under an online game license agreement.

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 33.

The Cubinet Group has defined benefit obligations arising
from one of its subsidiaries, Cubinet (Thailand) Co. Ltd.

Under labour laws in Thailand, all employees with more
than 120 days of service are entitled to Legal Severance
Payment benefits ranging from 30 to 300 days of final salary
upon termination of service, including forced termination or
retrenchment, or in the event of retirement.

The plan is unfunded and therefore there is no plan asset.

The amount of retirement benefit obligations recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

HttEARER EFTIEE (45

o EE

(@) mHpERE—B(CE_—F:—R)BUFE=
FZER ZEERREER  REEFE3%
T :3.00%) it ERAN—FREE -

(o) BHRERBR LERRETHEMN — 2B
REBATHEXEENEE -

RAKEBENEME

Cubinet EBERTEEHP —FHWE QA
Cubinet (Thailand) Co. Ltd 7 & 7| & E -

BEBEZRBE2SITE LIE@I120B2FA
EENKIEAEIERH K IEXARIR
REHEZBEEETEHNERT - BEHREARI0
E300H 7 &R E B -

ZAETRES A BHEEE -

?é%ﬁ#ﬂ%ﬁﬁ VIR K18 F E AE
BEEMT:

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$ HK$
B 7T BT

Present value of defined benefit obligation AERMEBEERIRE
Current portion BN HA ZR 15 56,286 58,253
Non-current portion JE B8R =6 19 281,576 324,107
337,862 382,360
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(Continued)

Movements in the Group’s retirement benefit obligations
during the year are as follows:

33. RHK\ENEME G

FAXRKERAKENTENESHNOT

Present value of
defined benefit 2022
obligation Total
REEA ===
EENRE ot
HK$ HK$
BT & 7T
At 1 January 2022 RZEBE-__—_F—HA—H 382,360 382,360
Amounts recognised in profit or loss: RIBZHERZ L
Current service cost B HA ARk 75 X A< 36,659 36,659
Gain regarding the effect of changes FEBEIHKBRESHFE Y
in financial assumption W = (68,122) (68,122)
Exchange difference MEH E5 (13,035) (13,035)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE_—_F+-_HA=+—8 337,862 337,862
Present value of
defined benefit 2021
obligation Total
RERM —E
EERIRE KBET
HK$ HK$
T B IT
At 1 January 2021 RZE_—F—H—H 555,558 555,558
Amounts recognised in profit or loss: RIBZHERZ L
Current service cost B BA AR 75 Bk AR 46,588 46,588
Gain regarding the effect of changes FEEHEBREHFE Y
in financial assumption g %% (117,939) (117,939)
Exchange difference fE 5 =5 (101,847) (101,847)
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—F+=-_A=+—H 382,360 382,360

RRERMNFEEAESZRALEN =
BREBERDBOREEREE -

The maximum economic benefit available from the net
defined benefit asset is determined based on reductions in
future contributions.
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(Continued)

33. RHK\ENEME G

TEREBRBEFERBEEZBRZIBE -

The following table is a summary of the assumptions relating
to the actuarial technique as at the end of the reporting year.

2022 2021

—E-= T
Discount rate 3.77% 2.79%
BRIR & 3.77% 2.79%
Long-term salary increment rate | 2.00% 2.00%
£ B %7 B on 18 2.00% 2.00%
Employees turnover rate 1.91% to 22.92% 1.91% to 22.92%
EERAEK 1.91% £22.92% 1.91%%22.92%

105% of Thai Mortality Ordinary
Table 2017 published by Office
of Insurance Commission

105% (RBEERAMZ_F—tF
FEEWDR)

105% of Thai Mortality Ordinary
Table 2017 published by Office of
Insurance Commission

105% (RBEERAMZ_T—+F%&
HEanER)

Mortality rates

AT ek

AEEBEREHARBEHEBEERR
FHEINUZEARERRNBEZED

The Group’s sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial
assumption as of the end of the reporting period based

on reasonably possible changes of the relevant actuarial IR NE
assumption is as follows:
Increase/decrease Impact on defined benefit
in rate obligation
tb®EH/TH HATRANEEZZE
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Discount rate BB % 1.0% (2021: 1.0%) | (22,685)/25,916 | (49,438)/59,968
1.0% (ZT=—F :1.0%)
Salary growth rate H e 1.0% | 28,061/(20,987) | 59,834/(50,232)
Employee turnover rate EERAX 20% of base assumption | (21,995)/26,809 | (35,522)/41,100
AR 220%
Mortality rates TR 20% of base assumption | (23,891)/24,574 (5,072)/4,984
HERRR220%
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(Continued)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some
of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating
the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant
actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of
the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected
unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has
been applied as when calculating the pension liability
recognised within the statement of financial position.

The Group finances the funding requirements of the pension
plan by internal resources and does not have any funding
arrangements and funding policy that will affect future
contributions.

The expected contributions to the pension plan for the year
ending 31 December 2022 is approximately HK$56,380.

33. RHK\ENEME G

LREEEAFORE—ERRGEDE
A EMBRER T RS - BEER
EEB LTATRES BXHBRHE
B 6 T AR BAE o 2 3B SRR 9B U AF
TEREMBORBEE  DRANHR
AR R BRI RENERT R
5 78 I B {F B0 5 905 B R D TR A B
SR -

AEENABERSERSHAEINESS
KEE MIBERARELFRERERK

SR ERIMES -

BE_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFEHE
K& 538 2 78 B 340 556,380/8 7T °

FENMEEEERAR
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33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 33. BNREBREFE®E)
(Continued)
The weighted average duration of the Group’s defined benefit AEEARATRANECNMEFLIHFHO A
obligation is approximately 34 years. The maturity analysis of 4F - AEFERUBRANSTROEHB D
the Group’s undiscounted benefit payments is as follows: RN
Less Between Between
than 1 and 2 and Over
1year 2years 5years 5 years Total
—F= MEE
DPR—F 3 i1F HBEF Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT & TT
At 31 December 2022 R-T=-—
+=ZA=+—H
Pension payments ER/ N PN 56,380 - 9,519 509,847 575,746
Less Between Between
than 1 and 2 and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
—&=x MEZE
LR —F M F hE HARSF wEt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
T 7T & TT T 7T
At 31 December 2021 R=Z=—F
+t=—A=+—8H
Pension payments BRI fF58 58,253 — 7,141 518,084 583,478
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES 34. EHNEE
Contract liabilities primarily consist of the unamortised AHNBEBETERRREHER LER 2 E
revenue from sales of virtual items for online games, where BMymo REHE WS MASEREZERH
there is still an implied obligation to be fulfilled by the Group MESERTZEBEERE -
over time.
Movements in contract liabilities: aEHaBEcge:
2022 2021
—_E__ —_=EF_—
HK$ HK$
BT 78T
Balance at 1 January R—A—B2Zz&s% 7,476,605 3,810,739
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ERERNERWAMEREHNE
recognising revenue during the year BER D (7,376,811) (4,305,085)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of R 42 {4t 407 18 3% 1T AR 75 TE M R IR
billing in advance of game publishing service BEE L AEEIN 1,819,668 8,112,588
Exchange differences EHE=% (23,616) (141,637)
Balance at 31 December R+—A=+—B 2 &% 1,895,846 7,476,605
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 35. EXEBEBERE
The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by AEBREIZNELEHRBEBEG O T
the Group:
Fair value Undistributed
adjustments earnings
on assets of PRC
acquired subsidiaries Total
FEBEE HEHELT
ZAREAR ZAIEBEAR @5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2021, 31 December W-_Z—-_—F—H—H "
2021 and 1 January 2022 —E-—®+-A=t+—8"
—ET-__#%#—F—H 915,792 1,715,969 2,631,761
Credited to profit or loss FFAE &= (743,954) — (743,954)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H 171,838 1,715,969 1,887,807
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35. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 35. EEREEREH
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax RFEPR AEBEARADAHEBEEE
losses of HK$255,473,017 (2021: HK$234,548,597) available 255,473,017 0 (ZZ = —4F : 234,548,597 78
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has JO) A AER SE AR A F o B R K OE R
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit AR FEA - MY EERELCERIBBEE - K
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses BREBEBEREEINER_ZE_N\F - =
of HK$7,946,000 (2021: HK$7,946,000), HK$18,062,000 T=2F T=—FRIZ=_FFH2
(2021: HK$18,062,000), HK$722,743 (2021: HK$722,743) 7,946,000 7T (=T =—4F : 7,946,000 7T »
and HK$116,550 that will expire in 2028, 2030, 2031 and 18,062,000/ T (= & — — £ : 18,062,000/
2032 respectively. Other tax losses may be carried forward JC) ~ 72274378 L (Z T = — 4 : 722,743/ JT.)
indefinitely. 116,550 T B 18 o H b B IH B8 ] &R
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has aggregate RBERR AEE A NMRERERLATE
amount of deductible temporary differences of approximately #9/54,216,0007% 7T (ZF Z— 4 : 4,120,000/
HK$4,216,000 (2021: HK$4,120,000). No deferred tax asset JT) o BTA AR SRR A S AT FEOR - E I A
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future RIEEFLIEE E ©
profit streams.
36. SHARE CAPITAL 36. B
Ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
SREEOIBTZLER
Number of
Note shares Par value
i3 i 13 8 B HE
HK$
BT
Authorised: AETE
Ordinary shares, TR
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZZE_—F—H—H8"
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —E—F+-H=t+—H8"
“E-—f-F-HK
- —F#+-RA=+—H 500,000,000 50,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRER:
Ordinary shares, R
At 1 January 2021 R-_E_—F—H—H 287,206,000 2,872,060
Ordinary shares issued on placement B¢ & % {217 2 I i@ A%
of shares (i) 23,830,000 238,300
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 R-_Z—_—F+_A=+—H -
and 31 December 2022 2 F—A—HBK
B _F+-A=+—H 311,036,000 3,110,360
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SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note:

(i) On 12 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with the placing agent in respect of the placement of up to
25,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to independent third
parties at a price of HK$5 per share. The placement of shares was
completed on 3 May 2021. An aggregate of 23,830,000 shares
have been placed. The excess of the subscription consideration
received over the nominal values issued, amounting to approximately
HK$119,150,000, net of share issuance expenses, was credited to
the Company’s share premium account.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to
risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new
shares, buy-back shares, raise new debts, redeem existing
debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as
net debt divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises
borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity (i.e. share capital, share premium, accumulated losses
and other reserves) except for non-controlling interests.

During 2022 the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged
from 2021, was to maintain the debt-to-adjusted capital
ratio as low as feasible. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to
shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to
reduce debt.

As at 31 December 2022, the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio
of the Group is -219% (2021: -469%).

36. BA& (@)

B

(i) RZE_—FWA+=-H ARFEHEEKE
SNV ERZE AERSBTERRABLE=
75 Bt & & %25,000,000 8 A" A A L@ o Bt &
BHER=ZFE=_—FAA=-HZTK " &HEE
23,830,000/ & - WM RIE R EBBE
17 T B & 2B 5 49 &119,150,0005 7T ($0 Bk B% 15
BRI EBEHAARRB KD BER -

AEEEERANBENEEREANEEK
FEKZERN LEBEBCEKRREL
RRBRRERZKE R -

AEEKZRERLEIEETEATE A%
ERELERREDNEMEENRERE
MEBRABEERER REFAHARBE
AEgER AEEHASHBRERE - BT
A EEBD - HEER BEREME
BRHEEENARDER °

AEENESHERABEEA L T RELERE
BEXR QRN EBFEGRULREE
A8 - BHRBHEERARK - KHE
BARBEMARERD - B - BipRE -
REEB R R E M E CEERERRIN)

RZBEZZF AEENRBE_T_—F
REFE—B ABABHEAEEARAL XS
NHEFNREKE - BERFNAEZLEX
AEEXEHABERTRRARZBREESHE - &
TFR - MREABEEER FEEKHRE
RHELENURDES -

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H A&EBEzE
EH R A EERNL R 5-219% (Z T ——4F
-469%) ©
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36.

37.
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B IS ER AR MR

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The decrease in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during
2022 resulted primarily from decrease of equity and increase
in other borrowings.

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group is
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars
monthly on substantial share interests showing the
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance
with the 25% limit throughout the year.

EQUITY TRANSACTION WITH
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary

On 28 July 2022, Deluxe Trading (HK) Limited (the
“Purchaser”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the agreements with the vendors,
pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to purchase,
and the vendors agreed to sell, the sale equity interests,
representing in aggregate 30% of the equity interests in the
Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (& 1 (& M)
SR AR AF]), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, at an aggregate consideration of RMB6,300,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$7,700,900).

The Company recognised a decrease in non-controlling

interests and a decrease in accumulated losses of
HK$7,036,670 and HK$664,230, respectively.
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R A (48)

R _FRBAHEHABEARLETRE
2 i 7 AR R A e B At 8 BB NPT B -

R 68 [ A R HE B SRR T b L 9 S BF 5B
HERBRSARFED2%RMNEA AR
KA e

AEBEBRAERNECREERBIELR
FREZEARREAZBE  ZHRER
RARBERBEFERBEETH%LREA

HEFZEREZNRERS

WER—EHEQREINE S

B _FtLtAZ+NH ARRKNEHER
ENBRARITBELABESEBERAAITE
FNEEBERI I #E BEZHBE BA
AERBEEESTRABEEAREEE (M)
HEREAERAR (RAARFEZ2ENHBRR)
30% & I 1 - X (B & A R %6,300,0007T
(H8& 1 497,700,900 7 ) °

RARIFERIEERER R RFTEE SRR
47,036,670 7T & 664,2307%8 7T °
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38. URGOXMNRE

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

()

Existing Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed in
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on 26 November 2008, the share option scheme
(“Existing Share Option Scheme”) was approved
and adopted by the Company to comply with the
requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;
and the pre-IPO share option scheme and post-IPO
share option scheme were terminated accordingly.

The purpose of the Existing Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the
contributions of any employees (including directors
of the Company), consultants and/or advisers who in
the sole discretion of the directors of the Company
have contributed or will contribute to the Group
(“Participants”) and to motivate the Participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by
offering to the Participants an opportunity to have
personal interest in the share capital of the Company.

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Existing Share Option Scheme and other
share option scheme of the Group must not exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time. Upon acceptance of the option, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant.

URESENBRESE

(i)

LBEBKETE

BERARARZZEZENFE+—A
“TARBETHERRENIAS LA
BRNEEERRBER RABRE
AE(REEREFIDEEARR
AL ENRERA  UAFEEMHREE
TEENRE MERXRFEBRA
BREERERAFERREZBR
BT AIAREAL -

REBREAIEELEARAAR
EARFEZZRHNBERSELH
HesAKREFELRERNEARE (2
BEARRESR) FAALE / HE
RM2EEDHAEENTE - X #
EE2EEERENARARAF
BEEAAERZ BB2EEEER
AEEWMBMEN -

RITEREBEREBRESE LA
SEEMBRES MR LERR
BATE BRI B R 1T 6 I R 1 A B
BTN ARBROBE  EBLER
TEEBEARRTHEEITRM W
30% - HEMBBRER AR AZEMR
RRBEM1.00B T EREXBR
BHHR(E -
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(i)

246 1mperium Technology Group Limited

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the ordinary written resolution passed
in the annual general meeting of the Company on
29 June 2018, the share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted by the
Company to comply with the requirements under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules;

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Company to provide an incentive or a
reward to eligible persons for their contribution to
the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group.
The eligible participants include any directors or
employees, consultants and/or advisers, the eligible
participants also include any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives,
suppliers, producers or licensors, licensees (including
sub-licensee) or distributors, of the Group or any
person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Group.
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HREITHBRRAEFASLBAENE
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares of the
Company which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option scheme of the Group must not exceed 30% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.
Upon acceptance of the option, the Grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price for share(s) under the Share
Option Scheme will be a price as the board of
directors in its absolute discretion shall determine
and notify to each Participant and shall not be less
than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must
be a business day), (i) the average closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of
grant of the option. The date of grant is the date on
which the option is offered.

An option under the share option scheme may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be
determined and notified by the board of directors of
the Company to each grantee which period of time
shall commence on the date of grant of the option
and expire on such date as determined by the board
of directors of the Company provided that the option
may not be exercised after the expiration of 10 years
from the date of grant of the option.

38.

DR 7 2 4 FRIE (%)

URESENBRESE (8

(i)

BRETEE)

ATEREEREASILASER
it B8 B 4 &1 &) A7 X BB 18 R & 1T &
R FT A RTTERE M M A RE 3 1T &Y
ARRBMNEBE  BEBLERAGE
B AR AN TR D M30% &
MIERHETR AR ANARANRA
1008 T EREXBREMNK

B -

RIBBERETS BROZRBER
HAEFE2RNBEELNET
g28mE  BTRERUTZERGE
OEPRERERLAH(WARE
KRB ArABRAHRZWHE : (i)
BROREXBRERL B S AME
EXREBIXAABRRMAM2FH
Y i 1B K (iii) B £ 70 B A HE X L B B
ZHE BRLAHDBEREERLY
ZBH -

REBREFSRL 2BREAR
ARBEZSBEETLANEZARA
ZHE AME R E - R R B BRER
B ZIERITE - ZHEERBRE
REBHE BEEARAEFTSET
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(ii) Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The Share Option Scheme does not require a

minimum period for which an option must be held

nor a performance target which must be achieved

before an option can be exercised, unless the board

of directors of the Company otherwise determined

and stated in the offer of the grant of options to the

grantee.

Details of the specific categories of options granted to

38.

U (Y 5

R IE (48)

URESENBRESE (8

(i)

BRETEE)

BREAELERELDAFEBR
BZ&AHR - HERERETEA
PHREINRBBR  EARAESF
ERARELRNEHBERET AR
AR ERHERI

BETESEkEEZERERTE

the directors and employees are as follows: ZEEBIR
Exercise
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period price Note
R B8 HEAH TR TEE  ME
HK$
BT
2022A 18 January 2022 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 1714 i
17 January 2032
—ZE-%—-A+/\R ZEZZFAAZTNA ZEZZERRZHNHE
—E=_#—-A+tH
2022B 18 January 2022 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 17.14 i
17 January 2032
—E-F—-A+N\H ZE-=F=A=1+N\H —T-Z#ZR-t)\HZ
ZE=—f—-A++H
2021A 28 September 2021 28 September 2022 28 September 2022 to 11.04 i
27 September 2031
—E--FnA=+NH ZEZZFAAZTNA ZEZZFERAARZHNHE
“E=—FNA _+‘t H
2021B 28 September 2021 28 March 2023 28 March 2023 to 11.04 i

—FAAZ+/\H

_7_

—=#=RAZ+/\B

If the options remain unexercised after a period of

10 years from the date of grant, the options expire.
Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 38. LUMR 02 {FFRIE ()
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) LREGENBRESS (8

(ii) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BREE(E)
Details of the movement of share options during the FABKREZESH ZFHOT

year are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F

Weighted Weighted

Number average Number average

of share exercise of share exercise

options price options price

mEE ¥ INHEFS

BEREZE THEE | BREHEH 111018

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Outstanding at the beginning 74 4] 4 K 17 1

of the year 4,732,432 11.04 = =

Granted during the year FAEUH 3,110,360 17.14 4,732,432 11.04
Outstanding at the end of the  #&  [& K 1T

year 7,842,792 13.46 4,732,432 11.04

Exercisable at the end of the R FRAI{TfE

year - - — —

Notes: B &% -

i) The options outstanding at the year ended 31 December i) BE-T-—_F+-A=+—BILFE "
2022 have a weighted average remaining contractual MARITE 2 EBRENMEFTHHRTE
life of 9.1 years and the exercise prices is HK$17.14. The KFRBOAF » ITHEEARITI4B T -
estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant is BRERZELAMNGEAIAER
HK$35,360,821. 35,360,821/ JT °

ii) The options outstanding at the year ended 31 December ii) BE_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE -
2022 have a weighted average remaining contractual life MARITEZERENMETHHRTE
of 8.7 years (2021: 9.7 years) and the exercise prices is HNFERABSTIFE(ZE=—F:97F) "
HK$11.04. The estimated fair value of the options on the TEER/1.048T - BRERKEER
date of grant is HK$34,456,254. H & (4 5T A /LB A34,456,25475 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 38. UM ZAIREE
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) LREGENBRESS (8
(ii) Share Option Scheme (Continued) (i) BREE(E)
These fair values were calculated using the Polynomial ZERANLEFERZEABRETE
option price model. The inputs into the model are as RAGHE - g AZERNR 0T :
follows:

Share options Share options

grant date grant date

18 January 28 September

2022 2021

BRHEBHA REAEA

—E-= —E-—%F

—HA+NR HAZ+NB

O B8 IR A B B AR 1

Weighted average share price hn#EFH Rz E HKD17.14%& 7T HKD11.047% 7T
Weighted average exercise price It FH 1T EE HKD17.14%& Tt HKD11.047% 7T
Expected volatility & HA R 8 81.16% 78.61%
Expected life TEHA(E FF R 10 years & 10 years 4

Risk free rate = [ b Al & 1.61% 1.43%
Expected dividend yield T8 B AR B 0.00% 0.00%

B K 08 B B A B AR E) B X105
BENELKEMETE ZRER
PAZEHERFREREASHE
ZEEMFRAREE  TERRG
RTIRUEMEREAR 2 ZERELA

%EKO

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over
the previous 10 years. The expected life used in the
model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best
estimate, for the effects of non transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. ZEHERERHT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from () MEFTBHELEZEBYHRE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TERFLAEERETHEEZE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including BEE2H BEReRIFREEH -
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising METHAELECAEARSHBR
from financing activities are those for which cash rEERaReREXIBRARE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EHHNEEREZLHSTERRK
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as REME °
cash flows from financing activities.
Modification Effect
1 January and Interest paid/ of initial Exchange 31 December
2022 derecognition  Cash flows payable  recognition differences 2022
g et BHR Bff/ ERRA g et
-B-A BRED ReiiE ERFIE A2 EXZE ft-A=t1-A
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
Lease liabilties (note 30) RAEARE (0 13,535,221 (4,591,620)  (10,469,067) 1,205,130 10,984,712 (512,148 10,152,228
Loan from related parties (note 31) REER A2 &3 (K31 | 194,526,754 - 80,000,000 10,049,343  (18,549,992) (302,447) 266,623,658
Other payables and accruals A ERTRERESER
(note 32) (HE3) 5,390,505 = = = = - 5300505
213450480  (4591,620) 69,530,033  12,54478  (7,565,280) (814,595) 282,166,391
Interest paid/  Effect of initial Exchange 31 December
1 January 2021 Modification Cash flows payable recognition differences 2021
S Bt/ ENRT R
-A-H 2 RenE EfFE T8 EiXz8 +t-A=1-A
HKS HKS HKS$ HKS HK$ HKS HKS
e AL BT BT BT BT BT
Lease liabilties (note 30) REAMHE (M F30) 8436515 (3718930  (6,269,796) 859915 13978317 239200 13535,221
Loan from related parties (note 31) KEBHF 2 ER (W) 169,328,042 = 20,000,000 12,784,159 (7,585,447) - 194,526,754
Other payables and accruals AfERATRERENER
(note 32) (P 32) 10,850,005 - (5,526,990) - - 67,490 5,390,505
188,614,562 (3,718,930) 8,213,214 13,644,074 6,392,870 306,690 213,452,480
FEREEMARA T 2022 #3251



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. ZEHERERMT @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HEELEMNERESRELARE
Amounts included in the consolidated statements of FeBHenErkTEBEEREHEN S
cash flows for leases comprise the following: B
2022 2021
—ZE2_-_ —E-—F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within operating cash flows FTAREHRERE 1,205,130 1,730,874
Within investing cash flows AKRERESRE - 17,500
Within financing cash flows FARERESRE 9,263,937 44,529,731
10,469,067 46,278,105
These amounts relate to the following: ZESTHENLAT AEB R :
2022 2021
—_E-= —EF——
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Lease rental paid 10,469,067 46,278,105
Payments for rental deposits REEZESHTR - —
Payments for right-of-use assets BERREENMNK - =
10,469,067 46,278,105
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. AARZHMBEMRRRFEESB R
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a)

Statement of financial position of the (a) AAFEZHMBEMRRE
Company
As at 31 December
R+=—B=+—H
2022 2021
—EgE=-= T —F
HK$ HK$
BT B TT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB K& 512,464 1,670,419
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR KA 3,565,959 3,565,958
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,880,949 1,580,844
7,959,372 6,817,221
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries NG B 54,788,829 73,008,361
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments & & + H fib j& I I8 &
TE I 5K IE 959,691 1,096,452
55,748,520 74,104,813
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,606,137 1,140,021
Other payables and accruals Hh fE RIA X EETIRE 12,307,366 11,590,074
Loan from related parties REBEH 2 ER 49,149,221 167,676,807
Due to subsidiaries FE 155 BfY /B8 2 &) 3R IR 24,038,182 25,342,512
87,100,906 205,749,414
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BREBERE (31,352,386) | (131,644,601)
Non-current liabilities ERBARE
Long-term loan from related parties REBB A ZERBHER 161,142,552 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,740,337 270,909
163,882,889 270,909
NET LIABILITIES FAE (187,275,903)| (125,098,289)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRGHE
Share capital fi% 7 3,110,360 3,110,360
Reserves it 1 (190,386,263)| (128,208,649)
TOTAL EQUITY 48 3% (187,275,903)| (125,098,289)

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March
2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheng Ting Kong

BT

EEREN-T-=F=A=1—8

o AU TEERREE:

Yeung So Mui
BES

FENMEEEERAR

2022 74 253



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40. AQGZHBRREREEEHR (&)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AoBIZz#EEZBHK

Share-based

Shares  Contributed payments Other  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserves losses Total
(note 41(b)(i)  (note 41(h)iii) (note 41(b)(vi))
DRABBERR
R EE 0N HRRE At G fE
GG EZ{) (GELIE)
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
AL AL o Yo Yo B
At 1 January 2021 R-E--%-f-H 178,951,014 42,967,020 - 9,171,958 (335,745,197)  (104,655,205)
Loss for the year EREE - - - — (152839736  (152,839,736)
Capital contrbuion 3 115,932,951 - — 587,005 — 121,819,956
Share-based payments MR BEBE = = 7,466,336 = = 7,466,336
At 31 December 2021 RZE_-%+-A=t-H 294,883,965 42,967,020 7,466,336 15,058,963  (488,584,933)  (128,208,649)
At 1 January 2022 RZE_—F#-f-H
Loss for the year FRER = = = - (133,013,576)  (133,013,576)
Capital contribution jig ] = - - 14,760,876 - 14,760,876
Share-based payments AR {R BERM 3 - - 56,075,086 - = 56,075,086
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F+-fA=t-H 294,883,965 42,967,020 63,541,422 29,819,839 (621,598,509)  (190,386,263)
41. RESERVES 41. #1E
(@) Group (@) A=&KE
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements rEEzHEcELREEHHIIRN
therein are presented in the consolidated statement GEEakEMEzEKERAKLE
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and ERE=EHE -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) EEZMERAZRE
(i)  Share premium (i) RKREGEE
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman BRIERESEHS QARE  AAH
Islands, the share premium of the Company is O Rk = R 8 NI BE
available for paying distributions or dividends HAEBERRNERARNHETE -
to shareholders subject to the provisions of R A B BRAE 5 R 2K 5
its Memorandum and Articles of Association g B EARRTE B S IKK
and provided that immediately following the KA AR BRI AR E N1
distribution or dividend the Company is able HEXBBERINHAEMNZE
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary % o

course of business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

41. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company arose
as a result of the Corporate Reorganisation and
represents the excess of the then combined
net assets of the subsidiaries acquired, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange therefor.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share
capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value of the share capital and
share premium of its subsidiaries arising from
group reorganisation on 8 September 2005
(“Corporate Reorganisation”).

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 4(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

4. #EE)

(b) fEZHEERARGE

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

FENMEEEERAR

A & B

RRABOBABRBAEARAE
MEL SKRENBRARE
BHEHFEEBRBRETT
WERXBEBROMETHAR
B EERHE -

BB
EHRBER-_ZEZREFNA
NBETEEEA(AREA]D
HELNARBEETRAR
BEXBENE QR ZBRAR
B sEEEER -

S B S

SNEERE KRB BB EE I
XGMBERERMELENAA
SNEZERE - ZREBIIRER
RAMBWERM )2 E 5
BREEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

41.

RESERVES (Continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

v)

(vi)

256 Imperium Technology Group Limited

Capital reserve

This represents the transfer from retained
profits to capital reserve as a result of the
write off of certain trade payables by % )i
ZXEAMBRAAE JUF AC.R. Equipment
Supplies (Ningbo) Co., Ltd.) (“JF Ningbo”), a
subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) accounting
principles and financial regulations, any gains
arising from debt restructuring which represent
the difference between the final settlement
and the carrying value of the debt concerned
are directly reflected in capital reserve and
therefore not distributable. Accordingly, a
transfer has been made from retained profits to
capital reserve. The capital reserve can only be
used to increase capital of this subsidiary.

General reserve

The general reserve is set up by way of
appropriation from the profit after tax
in accordance with the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC. The rate of
appropriation to the general reserve is subject
to the decision of the board of directors of PRC
subsidiaries, but the minimum appropriation
rate is 10% of the profit after tax for each
year, until when the accumulated balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
subsidiaries. Pursuant to the relevant laws
and regulations of the PRC, if approvals
are obtained from the relevant government
authorities, the general reserve can be used in
setting off accumulated losses or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

41. RESERVES (Continued) 41. #EE)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (b) REEZHERARGE)

(Continued)

(vii) Other reserves (vii) Eftf#HE
The Group received loans from related parties. AEBBEBHHWEER-
These loans were unsecured, interest bearing ZEERRBERR RER
from 0% to 2% per annum and repayable 0% ZE2% T B R B E R
according to the terms of the loan agreements. BREE - ZZFERZAA
The fair value of these loans were estimated B R ERE R E RV ER
at the prevailing market interest rates for W2 IR1TTH % M KN F5% %
equivalent loans ranged from 5% to 5.625% on 5.625% 2 & &t °

initial recognition.

As one of the substantial shareholder of the EEUJL/\\Z]K HAR—ZXEZRRE
Company has beneficial interests in the related R 5% T EEmERD
parties, the difference between the principal %%E\,\,l XY IR Z A
amount and the fair value of the loans on ‘i@?ﬁz%ﬁﬁ EREBTEL
initial recognition were considered as capital REMZEEER o

contribution and recognised in the other
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are

42. AMBRARIZKRE
WBRARR-_E_—_F+_A=+—HHWF

as follows: BT
Place of Nominal value of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up ordinary
establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
gEMEL/ ERTRBREER/
£ BYREE L EihEs =ZMELAEE TEXH
Directly held
BEERE
Apex Empire International Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Investment holding
BHRERERAR RBEARES IREREEIEINEER REER
Profit Business Group Limited? British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Investment holding
BESBERRRA)N EEARRES REREEIETINERR REZR
Gigantic Ocean Investments Limited*  The Republic of 100% 1,000 ordinary share of US$1  Investment holding
Seychelles each
FRRERRDAN ERRANE 1,000 & R E E13% T i RERK
EREN
Imperium Cloud Computing Digital Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
Technology Company Limited each
(formerly known as JF Household
Furnishings Limited)
FEEFEEERNEERAR N0 IRERBEEIETNERR REER
(FEREXERRERAR)
JF Household Furnishings (Asia) Ltd.*  British Virgin Islands 100% 300 ordinary shares of US$1 Investment holding
each
RERERMEMNEBERAR EBEARES 0REBEREEIZTNERR REZRK
Ultra Power Ventures Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary shares of US$1 For payment of
each headquarter’s
expenses
BEEARARRA RBEARES IRERAEIEINEER INEXER
Golden Century Ventures Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary shares of US$1 For payment of
each headquarters’
expenses
SRR EBER AR EBEARKES REREEBIETINERR NEBER
Choice Corporation Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
each
BEERAA BiE IREREEEINEER REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

42. RMBRA 2R E (&)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERTRBREER
8 B REE Eh#Ez HAMEAEHE TEXH
Indirectly held
BERE
Digital King Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Investment holding
EBEARES REREEIEINEER REER
Hasssh Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each  Design, development and
operation of online
games
0 IREREBIATHERR R FAEREEREL
Seven Senses Game Company Hong Kong 100% 10,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 Design, development and
Limited each operation of online
games
t T EBERERAT B 10,000 & & H {2178 7T £9 Rit REREER L
ERE) g1
Tt RERBRAR Taiwan 100% 18,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ Design, development and
TWD1 each operation of online
games
=) 18,000,000k BRAEEIH K Rt BEREER L
hE B R g1
BEEMRERERAR * Taiwan 100% 3,000,000 ordinary share of Design, development and
TWD1 each operation of online
games
=) 3000 BREE AN  Rit REREERL
EREN i)
BEREAERRERAR PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
RMB5,000,000 operation of online
games
HE dfEARARES5000000 R AEREESE
HMNEBBBEREERAR PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
RMB30,000,000 operation of online
games
i A &R ARKS0,000000 it AEREERE
Triple S Global Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of US$1 each  Design, development and

REEARES

1R EREEIER T ERR

FENREEARAT

operation of online
games
Rit REREER L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE
42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

42. RMBRA 2R E (&)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERATRBESZER/
8 BRIREE 5 Eh#Ez HAMEAEHE TEXH
Indirectly held (Continued)
BERA(E)
Cubinet Interactive (MSC) Sdn. Bhd.*  Malaysia 100% 6,048,780 ordinary share of Investment holding
MYR1 each
SRAEDR 6,048,780 EREBIREN REZR
Rl
Cubinet Interactive Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100% 400,000 ordinary share of Design, development and
MYR6 each operation of online
games
SRAR 400000 BREE6SEHH  Rit REREERL
Cubinet Interactive Holdings Sdn. Malaysia 100% 200,000 ordinary share of Property investment
Bhd. MYRO0.7 each
SRE T 200,000 BREBO7LEN WERE
ERR
Cubinet Interactive Int'l Co,. Ltd* Malaysia-Labuan 100% 1 ordinary share of MYR4 Design, development and
each operation of online
games
SRAE — ME REREEISENERR R HEREERL
Cubizone Interactive (Thailand) Co.,  Thailand 48.994% 100,000 ordinary shares of Design, development and
Ltd* THB100 each operation of online
games
ZE 100,000l BIREEI00FR &K Rt HEREER L
R i
Cubizone Philippine Corporation® Philippines 39.98% 498 ordinary share of MYR7.4  Design, development and
each operation of online
games
FRE 48R EBREBIARER REt ABEREER L
Cubinet Interactive Philippines Philippines 49% 4,998 ordinary share of Design, development and
Corporation* MYRO.8 each operation of online
games
FRE 4,998 B REE08THK Ret REREERKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

42. RMBRA 2R E (&)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERATRBESZER/
8 BRIREE 5 Eh#Ez HAMEAEHE TEXH
Indirectly held (Continued)
BERA(E)
Cubinet Interactive Vietnam Co., Ltd*  Vietnam 49% 14,700 ordinary share of Design, development and
MYR3.4 each operation of online
games
B 14700k BREES4TEN  Rit REREER L
@R i
Golden Mark Technology Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HKD1 Design, development and
each operation of online
games
EEMRARLA B% IREREEIETNERR Rit REREERL
Seven Elements Interactive Digital Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary shares of HK$1  Cloud computing and
Technology Limited each data storage
tTEHYBEREERRA Bk 1,0008% & R E E17% 7T &) EHEREERE
@R
Seven Elements Interactive Limited Hong Kong 100% 1,000 ordinary share of HK$1  Cloud computing and
each data storage
tTEHAERRA B 1,000k & B EE17 T A Bt EREERRE
Rl
BREELTEHESRMAERAR* PRC 100%  Registered capital of Cloud computing and
RMB10,000,000 data storage
E AMERARE10,000,000T EBFREREEHEST
Qianmo Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each ~ Cloud computing and
data storage
FriagRAa" EEERRES IREREEIETHNE AR Bt EREERERE
Otey Gaming Pte Limited* Singapore 100% 2 ordinary share of SGD 2 Cloud computing and
each data storage
0% 2% 3 AR 7 {E 27 113K 7T &9 ENEREERE
Rl
Dragon Crest Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each  Cloud computing and
data storage
EBAIRERAT EBEARES RERAEIEINEER EHEREERRE
Prime Century Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each ~ Cloud computing and

REEARES

1REREEIERTHERR

FENREEARAT

data storage

EHERBBHT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z — T - &+ _-_A=+—RHItEE

42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 42. RHBERA2RE®)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERATRBESZER/
8 BRIREE 5 Eh#Ez HAMEAEHE TEXH
Indirectly held (Continued)
BERA(E)
Vantage Choice Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each  Cloud computing and
data storage
EBRARES IREREEIETNEER BEHEREERRE
Ultra Modern Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 1 ordinary share of USD1 each  Cloud computing and
data storage
BRABRAA EEAERRES REREEIETNERR EREREEHER
Hashera Pte Limited* Singapore 100% 2 ordinary share of SGD 2 Cloud computing and
each data storage
0% 2R B AR E 257 D3R 7T ) EEREEHRE
EREY
Otey Technology Pte Limited* Singapore 100% 2 ordinary share of SGD 2 Cloud computing and
each data storage
# 0 JRERAEEHMRTH  BHEREEEE
A S AL
ST
Nova eSports International Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 70 ordinary shares of US$1 Esports operation
each
EEARRES OREREEIZETHERR BFHREE
Deluxe Trading (HK) Limited Hong Kong 100% 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding
each
EXB5EB)ERAA BE 100RERAEIETOERR RERK
Hainan Wanhui Network Technology ~ PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Co., Ltd.* # = RMB20,000,000
BHEEBENRARRA HE HMBEARARE20,000000r EBEFHEEE
Wanhui (Suzhou) Digital Technology ~ PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Co., Ltd.f** = RMB20,000,000
EB(HMBBMRARRA - B A ERARK20,000000 BFHEKREE
Hainan Seven Elements Network PRC 100%  Registered capital of Design, development and
Technology Co., Ltd.# ** ** RMB1,000,000 operation of online
games
BETTEBERMRAERDA HE Zft EARARK1,000000T R REREER L
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Nominal value of issued
and paid-up ordinary

42. RMBRA 2R E (&)

establishment Attributable  shares /registered
Name and operation interest  capital Principal activities
EMEL/ ERATRBESZER/
8 BRIREE 5 Eh#Ez HAMEAEHE TEXH
Indirectly held (Continued)
BERA(E)
Hainan Yihuan Network Technology ~ PRC 100%  Registered capital of Esports operation
Co., Ltd.#** ** RMB10,000,000
BESOBERERAR HE #fft B4R AR#10,000,000T EFHEEE
Best Gold Corporation Limited Hong Kong 100% 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each  Money lending
SHEEERAA Bk IREREEETHE AR W&
Keylink Technology Limited* British Virgin Islands 100% 100 ordinary shares of US$1 Investment holding
each
KERBRBRRA EBEARKES 100k ERABMETNEER KREER
JF A.C.R. Equipment Supplies PRC 100%  Registered capital of Manufacturing and
(Ningbo) Co., Ltd."# US$7,000,000 sales of stainless
steel furnishings and
home products and
accessories
ERELXEARARAR"" HE 1t & 47,000,000 7T HEREETHMEE
x5 A m R B
Ningbo JF Metal Products Co., Ltd “* PRC 100%  Registered capital of Manufacturing and
US$140,000 processing of stainless
steel rods and other
accessories
ERRECBEMARRA FE T B A140,000% 7T HERMIAFHERE
it B 1
# Statutory financial statements not audited by Crowe (HK) CPA # EEVMBERRAKEEEE (BB M EH
Limited P 28 £
Wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the PRC * EFBKZHIEEE B

Limited companies established in the PRC with limited liability
e The English translated names are for identification purpose only

Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity
interest in Cubizone Interactive (Thailand) Co., Ltd, Cubizone
Philippine Corporation and Cubinet Interactive Philippines
Corporation, it is able to gain power over more than 50% of
the voting rights by virtue of agreements with other investors.
Consequently, the Group consolidates these entities.

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group.

o EPBERINBRAR
o KX ERTEHRER A S

® B KX & 7 Cubizone Interactive
(Thailand) Co., Ltd » Cubizone Philippine
Corporation &2 Cubinet Interactive Philippines

Corporation # B 2 & # 2 750% + B 1R &
HEMEEERIT YNGR AEBEGEE

550% A LM R - Bt A K E &

o g EE 4 A L
EERBLARTE -

FREEHAEENEE  BEXRER
REAFZENNBARFMAES -

FENREEARAT
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42. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table shows information on a subsidiary that

42. RHMBRTZRE(H)
TRETABUHAGEMEBER ZIFE
s (FEERESD B RAREH -
MEHFHEEREATRRH HAT <SR -

have non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group.
The summarised financial information represents amounts
before inter-company eliminations.

B (B MN)
FHERR
Name £ BRAF
2021
==
Principal place of business/country of TELEHY FRRIER
incorporation PRC/PRC
RE
% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI R ERIT R REER
RRAEZADL 30%/30%
HK$
78T
At 31 December: R+=—A=+—8:
Non-current assets FERBEE 14,230,169
Current assets MENE E 28,895,097
Non-current liabilities ERBEE =
Current liabilities mENEE (21,418,015)
Net assets BEFE 21,707,251
Accumulated NCI Rt EERER 7,036,670
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLEE:
Revenue W = 25,995,479
Loss &5 18 (1,170,762)
Total comprehensive income THW R B —
Loss allocated to NCI DETHERERZZER (351,228)
Dividends paid to NCI A P IR ER 2R R —
Net cash generated from KEEHELER S FHE
operating activities 15,092,980
Net cash used in investing activities BEGEDMAR ST (91,257)
Foreign exchange adjustment bE o & 170,613
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents HekBReESEMZEMFR 15,172,336
Note: B 2

The 30% equity interests in & ¥ (& M) &8 £ B R A" was acquired
during the year (see note 37).

B (& ) BB R KA BR A Al 230% IR AN 7 25 R F A
15 (R B 5£37) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 43. IAREE
During the year ended 31 December 2020, a subsidiary of RZEZZTF+_RA=+—H ARa—H
the Company in the manufacturing and sales of furnishing HBEREERBEEBZHNBRARAEBZ A
business has laid-off a number of skilled staff. The subsidiary AKET - ZMB AT EE =1 B 82K
has come into an agreement with a third party entity to hE EEREAMRET - ZF=-HEE
employ these skilled staff. This third party entity agreed AE ZWEBARZPEE@ELEEERE
that the obligation for the economic compensation payable i 2 4% 5 1/ {8 & 495,339,000/ T (=T ——
by the subsidiary in accordance with the relevant labour F 16,133,000 T) I L HER TZ 5% =
law of the PRC amounting to approximately HK$5,339,000 TER RUBHmEKAH ZEFRRTE
(2021: HK$6,133,000) would be transferred to the third party ML HEEEREE -
entity under the arrangement. At the date of these financial
statements, the directors are of the view that no material
liability will arise in respect of the arrangement.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 44, EXREIE
Significant capital commitments contracted for at the end of REBEHRRNBETNERAERBECE
the reporting period but not yet recognised as liabilities is as RNERFEEWNT
follows:
2022 2021
—E__F —_EF_—
HK$ HK$
& T B IT
Game intellectual properties and 47 Bk N 7 2= R I hi
licenses 2,192,150 4,836,750

FENMEEEERAR
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45. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

Operating leases relate to investment property owned by the
Group with lease terms of 1 to 3 years, with no extension.
The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property
at the expiry of the lease period.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

45.

KREHERH
AEEFEREHBEA

KeHERASBEEBA—E=6NE4F
BREME(TALEH) B - ABALEHE
ERERERGBEZYENREZE -

HENKEREBEERENT:

2022 2021
—E-= —E—%F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within year 1 —F K 534,630 954,111
In the second year E_F - 78,559
Total @5t 534,630 1,032,670
The following table presents the amounts reported in profit THREJIREZRABRNHEE
or loss:
2022 2021
—_E__ ==
HK$ HK$
BT B TT
Rental income on operating leases LEHENHEERA 1,332,351 1,401,422
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 i Z — T -~ +_A=+—H It FE

In addition to those related party transactions and (a)
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with its related parties during the year:

46. BABALR S

BARGREMBRREMBOMKE
MBEBA LR RERIN  REA -
AEBREBBALETUTIRS:

2022 2021
—E-= —E——
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest expense paid to RIATRAIZAH EHY
— Imperium Credit Limited - FEEEMBARLDA (2,364,184) (2,392,708)
— Sun International Group Limited - AGBEBREEER AR
(formerly known as Imperium Financial (FIEFEeRSE
Group Limited) BRADA) (5,912,049) (6,461,325)
— Imperium Group (Holdings) Limited - FEEEZER)BRAT (1,673,882) (737,202)
— Mr. Cheng Ting Kong BTHBELE (121,001) =
— Mr. Yeung Tong Seng Terry 15 R BX 7% (713,164) =
Rental income from REUTEAMEERA
— Best Master Limited — Best Master Limited Not applicable
TER 698,108
— Mr. Cheng Ting Kong —BTHEEAE 1,332,268 358,884
Mobile Game income from RE AT AR F# B A
— Imperium Interactive Entertainment Limited — HFRYELHERAA 311,643 794,863
License fee paid to R TARS T E
— Imperium Interactive Entertainment Limited - FEFEEHARDA (81,912) (222,521)
Service fee paid to MATAR SRS &
— BMERNMERERRERAA — BMER DMK A& B
BRAH - (2,869,337)
FRN AEEIHTFETEEEAENHS
During the year, the key management personnel BENEA SRR T12N TR E X
compensation paid by the Group including amounts FARATEE AR LS B 7S 5= K 511
paid to the Company’s director as disclosed in note N BEESNFETRESTMATHS
12 to the consolidated financial statements and £H o

certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Balance with related parties (b)

46. FBALX 5 (@)
ERRA R A LRV BR

RZE-_—_FR_ZFT-_—F+=A
=f+—H AEEEBEBALE T

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had the
following balances with related parties:

e
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
Note HK$ HK$
B 5% T 78T
Due (to)/from related companies JE (), 4% B8 B A R 30708

— Imperium Credit Limited — FEEEVBERAH (i) (50,210,837)| (49,088,355)

— Sun International Group Limited — K5 EREE AR A A

(formerly known as Imperium (TR EES
Financial Group Limited) PR AR (i) (120,436,686) | (125,367,864)

— Imperium Group (Holdings) — FEHEEER)ERA

Limited A) (i) (49,398,729) (20,070,535)
— Imperium Interactive — FREBEEHER AR
Entertainment Limited (i) 532,155 (179,626)

(219,514,097)

(194,706,380)

Due to directors FEN & = IR
— Cheng Ting Kong — BT BEA (i) (29,121,001) —
— Yeung Tong Seng Terry — BEKEE (i) (19,416,112) —
(48,537,113) =
(268,051,210) | (194,706,380)
Notes: B 7

(i) The amounts due to related parties of HK$(264,833,365) (i)
(2021: HK$194,526,754) was unsecured, interest bearing
from 0% to 2% per annum and repayable within two years.

% % J& < B Bk 05 51 7H (264,833,365) & T (=&
T F:194,526, 754 ) A EE AR REF
0% ZE2%+ ERBRMEREE -

(if) The amounts due to related companies was unsecured, not (if)
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

HEERNEBARNEARER RREE

47. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 47.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRROHLE

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March
2023.

BEEed N -_ZE-_=F=A=+—B#t &
MEBRETBERNGETE®RE -
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